

LUND UNIVERSITY

Fc-Engineered Antibodies Against SARS-CoV-2 and Streptococcus pyogenes: Therapeutic Potential via Enhanced Opsonization

Izadi, Arman

2025

Document Version: Förlagets slutgiltiga version

Link to publication

Citation for published version (APA):

Izadi, A. (2025). Fc-Engineered Antibodies Against SARS-CoV-2 and Streptococcus pyogenes: Therapeutic Potential via Enhanced Opsonization. [Doktorsavhandling (sammanläggning), Institutionen för kliniska vetenskaper, Lund]. Lund University, Faculty of Medicine.

Total number of authors: 1

Creative Commons License: CC BY-NC-ND

General rights

Unless other specific re-use rights are stated the following general rights apply:

Copyright and moral rights for the publications made accessible in the public portal are retained by the authors and/or other copyright owners and it is a condition of accessing publications that users recognise and abide by the legal requirements associated with these rights. • Users may download and print one copy of any publication from the public portal for the purpose of private study

or research.

- You may not further distribute the material or use it for any profit-making activity or commercial gain
 You may freely distribute the URL identifying the publication in the public portal

Read more about Creative commons licenses: https://creativecommons.org/licenses/

Take down policy

If you believe that this document breaches copyright please contact us providing details, and we will remove access to the work immediately and investigate your claim.

LUND UNIVERSITY

PO Box 117 221 00 Lund +46 46-222 00 00

Fc-Engineered Antibodies Against SARS-CoV-2 and *Streptococcus pyogenes*

Therapeutic Potential via Enhanced Opsonization

ARMAN IZADI | DEPARTMENT OF CLINICAL SCIENCES, LUND FACULTY OF MEDICINE | LUND UNIVERSITY

About the Author

Arman is a medical doctor with a strong interest in infectious diseases and immunology. He earned his MD from Lund University and is currently completing his clinical training at Karolinska University Hospital. He believes in the synergy between bedside clinical experience and wet-lab research as a powerful way to solve real-world medical problems. His research reflects a broader ambition to help patients through translational science, with a particular focus on



monoclonal antibodies as a promising approach for treating infectious diseases such as severe *Streptococcus pyogenes* infections.



FACULTY OF MEDICINE

Department of Clinical Sciences, Lund

Lund University, Faculty of Medicine Doctoral Dissertation Series 2025:70 ISBN 978-91-8021-723-1 ISSN 1652-8220



Fc-Engineered Antibodies Against SARS-CoV-2 and *Streptococcus pyogenes*

Therapeutic Potential via Enhanced Opsonization

Arman Izadi



DOCTORAL DISSERTATION

Doctoral dissertation for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy (PhD) at the Faculty of Medicine at Lund University to be publicly defended on 12th of June at 9.00 in Belfragesalen, Biomedical Center (BMC), Lund, Sweden

Faculty opponent Professor Michael Dustin University of Oxford, UK Organization: LUND UNIVERSITY

Document name: Doctoral Dissertation

Author(s): Arman Izadi

Date of issue: 2025-06-12 Sponsoring organization:

Title and subtitle:

Fc-Engineered Antibodies Against SARS-CoV-2 and *Streptococcus pyogenes: Therapeutic Potential via* Enhanced Opsonization

Abstract:

Monoclonal antibody (mAb) development has progressed in many fields, especially oncology, but remains limited in infectious diseases. Life-threatening infections like SARS-CoV-2 and invasive Streptococcus pyogenes (e.g., necrotizing soft tissue infections with over 20% mortality) could benefit from mAb therapy. Most SARS-CoV-2 antibodies are expressed as the IgG1 subclass, focusing on neutralizing the virus, with little focus on enhancing immune system interaction. Only one protective monoclonal antibody has been described for Streptococcus pyogenes (group A streptococcus, GAS). This thesis explores improving the therapeutic potential of mAbs against both types of pathogens through Fc-engineering. In Paper I, we found that non-neutralizing antibodies protect mice from a lethal infection with the original Wuhan strain of SARS-CoV-2. While neutralizing RBD antibodies have been shown to protect animals, this is the first report of a non-neutralizing RBD antibody providing protection. The mechanism was via Fc-mediated functions like phagocytosis, which we could enhance further by switching the constant domain from IgG1 to IgG3. A cocktail of IgG3 antibodies produced the strongest response. We also discovered that the constant domain affects antigen binding, challenging the belief that the variable and constant domains are independent. Due to mutations in the SARS-CoV-2 spike protein, most neutralizing antibodies become ineffective. In Paper III, we show that one of our non-neutralizing antibodies remains functional and binds after 4 years of mutations, making it potentially a more durable therapeutic option than neutralizing antibodies. The non-neutralizing antibody improved clinical symptoms in mice infected with the highly mutated JN.1 variant of SARS-CoV-2, which showed surprisingly low virulence in this model providing insight into the viral evolution. In Paper II, we generated all four human subclasses of the protective anti-M monoclonal antibody against Streptococcus pyogenes. We found that the IgG3 version had reduced binding to the antigen, but surprisingly exhibited much higher opsonophagocytic activity than IgG1. This was likely due to its longer hinge domain, which provided greater flexibility, as supported by molecular dynamics simulations. These simulations showed differences in hydrogen bond and salt-bridge interactions between the M protein and the IgG1 and IgG3 subclasses, potentially explaining the reduced binding of IgG3. We further demonstrated the importance of the hinge domain by creating IgG1-IgG3 hybrid subclasses. The IgGh47 version, with a 47 amino acid IgG3 hinge, showed an even stronger opsonic function than both IgG1 and IgG3. In a mouse model of severe GAS infection, only IgGh47 protected mice, while the natural subclasses did not. This enhanced function was transferable to different clinical isolates and even SARS-CoV-2 spike antibodies. In Paper IV, IgGh47 versions of anti-spike antibodies improved phagocytosis against mutated SARS-CoV-2 variants and other Betacoronaviruses, like SARS-CoV and MERS-CoV. These antibodies also showed unexpectedly high affinity for Fc receptors, unlike their IgG1 parents. Overall, this thesis shows that the IgGh47 subclass is a promising backbone for enhancing non-neutralizing protective functions against Streptococcus pvogenes. SARS-CoV-2, and potentially other Betacoronaviruses, Additionally, the altered antigen-binding observed in Papers I-II, along with the molecular dynamics simulations, challenges the traditional view of antibody variable and constant domain independence.

Key words: Monoclonal antibodies, IgG subclasses, Hinge, Fc-function, phagocytosis, SARS-CoV-2, Betacoronaviruses, *Streptococcus pyogenes*

Language: English

Number of pages: 161 (excluding papers)

ISSN and key title: 1652-8220

ISBN: 978-91-8021-723-1

Recipient's notes

Price

Security classification

I, the undersigned, being the copyright owner of the abstract of the above-mentioned dissertation, hereby grant to all reference sources permission to publish and disseminate the abstract of the above-mentioned dissertation.

Signature

Date 2025-04-21

Fc-Engineered Antibodies Against SARS-CoV-2 and *Streptococcus pyogenes*

Therapeutic Potential via Enhanced Opsonization

Arman Izadi



Arman Izadi

Department of Clinical Sciences, Lund Division of Infection Medicine Faculty of Medicine Lund University Biomedical Centre, D14 221 84 Lund, Sweden

Coverphoto by Arman Izadi

Copyright pp 1-161 Arman Izadi Paper 1 © The Authors Paper 2 © The Authors Paper 3 © The Journal of Immunology Paper 4 © by the Authors (Manuscript unpublished)

Faculty of Medicine Department of Clinical Sciences, Lund

ISSN 1652-8220 ISBN 978-91-8021-723-1 Lund University, Faculty of Medicine Doctoral Dissertation Series 2025:70

Printed in Sweden by Media-Tryck, Lund University, Lund 2025



Media-Tryck is a Nordic Swan Ecolabel certified provider of printed material. Read more about our environmental work at www.mediatryck.lu.se

MADE IN SWEDEN 📰

Dedicated to my family

"Let yourself be silently drawn by the strange pull of what you really love. It will not lead you astray" – Rumi, a 13th century Persian poet

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ABSTRACT	9
PREFACE	11
POPULÄRVETENSKAPLIG SAMMANFATTNING	13
ABBREVIATIONS	17
LIST OF PAPERS	19
CHAPTER I	•••
THE TWIGS AND BRANCHES OF THE IMMUNE SYSTEM	
THE INNATE IMMUNE SYSTEM	24
THE ADAPTIVE IMMUNE SYSTEM: LEARNING BY DOING	33
T-cells B-cells	34 38
CHAPTER II	
ANTIBODIES AND THEIR FC-RECEPTORS	49
A MODEL CHALLENGED- VARIABLE AND CONSTANT DOMAIN DEPENDENCE?	49
THE IMMUNOGLOBULIN G SUBCLASSES - AN OVERVIEW	50
Antbodies and their Fc-receptors- it takes two to dance	52
CHAPTER III DISCOVERY OF MONOCLONAL ANTIBODIES	\mathcal{O}
DISCOVERY OF MONOCLONAL ANTIBODIES	63
HYBRIDOMA ANTIBODY DISCOVERY- ANTIBODIES FOR EVERYONE	63
Humanization of hybridoma-generated murine mAbs	64
Recombinant monoclonal antibody production from human isolated B-cells	65
ANTIBODY DISCOVERY THROUGH ANTIGEN-SPECIFIC	65
B-CELL FACS SORTING AND R I-PCR.	65
ANTIBODY DISCOVERY THROUGH ANTIGEN-SPECIFIC	70
B-CELL FACS SORTING AND NEXT-GENERATION SEQUENCING	/0
CHAPTER IV	
ANTIBODY ENGINEERING FOR TAILORING THE IMMUNE RESPONSE.	73
VARIABLE DOMAIN MODIFICATIONS FOR INCREASED ANTIBODY FUNCTION	74
ANTIBODY FC-ENGINEERING STRATEGIES TO MODULATE ENGAGEMENT WITH FCRS	76
Glycoengineering	76
Class-switching	77
Amino acid mutations to modulate FcR affinity and Fc-function	78
Hinge-engineering to modulate antibody function	80
Antibody engineering for modulation of the complement cascade	82
ANTIBODY ENGINEERING FOR FAVORABLE PHARMACOKINETIC TRAITS	83

CHAPTER V <i>STREPTOCOCCUS PYOGENES-</i> A BACTERIA ADAPTED WITH COUNTERMEASURES AGAINST OUR IMMUNE DEFENSE	85	
COULTERVIEWS A CALLST TOUR INFIDINE DEFENSE.	05	
Negrotizing soft tissue infection from a clinical point of view	80 87	
VIRUE EACTORS IMPORTANT DURING ACUTE INFECTIONS FOLLOWING	07	
COLONIZATION	90	
Strentolysin O S and NADase	90	
Streptococcal pyrogenic exotoxins- SPE		
EndoS and IdeS- targeting the humoral immune response		
M PROTEIN - THE HOLY GRAIL OF <i>STREPTOCOCCUS PYOGENES</i> RESEARCH	94	
Structure & Function of the M protein	95	
Discovery of the first opsonic human monoclonal antibody against the M protei	n 97	
CHAPTER VI SARS-COV-2 - A CASE STUDY OF WHEN MODERN MEDICINE ROSE UP TO THE CHALLENGE	99	
OVID-19: FROM A CUNICIANS POINT OF VIEW	100	
The immune response- the body fights back	102	
Correlate of protection- importance of measuring the "protective function"	104	
The RBD is immunodominant for both neutralizing and non-neutralizing antibod	lies 104	
Protective Non-Neutralizing Fc Functions: The Overlooked Mechanism in SARS CoV-2 Immunity	- 106	
CHAPTER VII		
PRESENT INVESTIGATION	109	
AIM	109	
GENERAL METHODOLOGICAL CONSIDERATIONS	111	
Monoclonal antibody production	111	
Cloning methods	112	
THP1-cells and PAN-method to study phagocytosis	112	
Affinity measurements	113	
Animal models	113	
ETHICAL CONSIDERATIONS	115	
Results	116	
Paper I	116	
Paper II	119	
Paper III	122	
Paper IV	124	

DISCUSSION AND FUTURE PERSPECTIVE	126
Challenges in Developing Engineered Monoclonal Antibodies	126
Insights into Antibody Constant Domain Influence on antigen-binding proper Importance of non-neutralizing antibody function against disease-causing	ties. 127
Betacoronaviruses	128
A new treatment strategy for invasive Streptococcus pyogenes infections?	
Conclusion	132
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	
REFERENCES	
APPENDIX (PAPERS I-IV)	

ABSTRACT

Monoclonal antibody (mAb) development has progressed in many fields, especially oncology, but remains limited in infectious diseases. Life-threatening infections like SARS-CoV-2 and invasive Streptococcus pyogenes (e.g., necrotizing soft tissue infections with over 20% mortality) could benefit from mAb therapy. Most SARS-CoV-2 antibodies are expressed as the IgG1 subclass, focusing on neutralizing the virus, with little focus on enhancing immune system interaction. Only one protective monoclonal antibody has been described for Streptococcus pyogenes (group A streptococcus, GAS). This thesis explores improving the therapeutic potential of mAbs against both types of pathogens through Fc-engineering. In Paper I, we found that non-neutralizing antibodies protect mice from a lethal infection with the original Wuhan strain of SARS-CoV-2. While neutralizing RBD antibodies have been shown to protect animals, this is the first report of a non-neutralizing RBD antibody providing protection. The mechanism was via Fc-mediated functions like phagocytosis, which we could enhance further by switching the constant domain from IgG1 to IgG3. A cocktail of IgG3 antibodies produced the strongest response. We also discovered that the constant domain affects antigen binding, challenging the belief that the variable and constant domains are independent. Due to mutations in the SARS-CoV-2 spike protein, most neutralizing antibodies become ineffective. In Paper III, we show that one of our non-neutralizing antibodies remains functional and binds after 4 years of mutations, making it potentially a more durable therapeutic option than neutralizing antibodies. The non-neutralizing antibody improved clinical symptoms in mice infected with the highly mutated JN.1 variant of SARS-CoV-2, which showed surprisingly low virulence in this model providing insight into the viral evolution. In Paper II, we generated all four human subclasses of the protective anti-M monoclonal antibody against Streptococcus pyogenes. We found that the IgG3 version had reduced binding to the antigen, but surprisingly exhibited much higher opsonophagocytic activity than IgG1. This was likely due to its longer hinge domain, which provided greater flexibility, as supported by molecular dynamics simulations. These simulations showed differences in hydrogen bond and salt-bridge interactions between the M protein and the IgG1 and IgG3 subclasses, potentially explaining the reduced binding of IgG3. We further demonstrated the importance of the hinge domain by creating IgG1-IgG3 hybrid subclasses. The IgGh₄₇ version, with a 47 amino acid IgG3 hinge, showed an even stronger opsonic function than both IgG1 and IgG3. In a mouse model of severe GAS infection, only IgGh47 protected mice, while the natural subclasses did not. This enhanced function was transferable to different clinical

isolates and even SARS-CoV-2 spike antibodies. In **Paper IV**, IgGh₄₇ versions of anti-spike antibodies improved phagocytosis against mutated SARS-CoV-2 variants and other Betacoronaviruses, like SARS-CoV and MERS-CoV. These antibodies also showed unexpectedly high affinity for Fc receptors, unlike their IgG1 parents. Overall, this thesis shows that the IgGh₄₇ subclass is a promising backbone for enhancing non-neutralizing protective functions against *Streptococcus pyogenes*, SARS-CoV-2, and potentially other Betacoronaviruses. Additionally, the altered antigen-binding observed in **Papers I-II**, along with the molecular dynamics simulations, challenges the traditional view of antibody variable and constant domain independence.

PREFACE

There is a common saying that only two people read your thesis: your supervisor and your opponent. That is fine by me because I wrote this thesis as if I were handing it to my younger self, someone who enjoyed diving into extensive details to understand the big picture (often ending up with even more questions than before). Writing with this perspective made the process an excellent learning experience, allowing me to explore subjects beyond what I encountered during my MD and PhD studies. Balancing writing the thesis with my work-schedule as an MD was a true test of resilience and mental endurance. The PhD journey is a unique experience both challenging and rewarding and I hope that resilience is one of the most valuable skills I take away from it.

A few words on the structure of this thesis: It begins with an overview of the immune system (Chapter 1), progressively increasing in detail to provide context for the more specific research chapters that follow. My goal was to explore the immune system's intricacies, particularly the remarkable mechanisms that lead to the generation of specific and cross-reactive antibodies. Along the way, I highlight parallels between different immunological processes, such as TCR activation in the immunological synapse and Fc-receptor activation in the phagocytosis cleft. Understanding these fundamental mechanisms can offer insights applicable to other areas of immunology. Chapter 2 focuses on antibodies, emphasizing their dynamic nature and the complex interactions that mediate their function. This knowledge forms the foundation for the development of clinical therapeutics, which leads naturally into Chapters 3 and 4, covering the discovery and engineering of monoclonal antibodies. To determine which antibody modifications are beneficial and which antigens should be targeted, it is crucial to study host-pathogen interactions through both clinical/epidemiological and preclinical research. This rationale is reflected in Chapters 5 and 6, which explore Streptococcus pyogenes and SARS-CoV-2, respectively. Finally, the thesis culminates in Chapter 7, where these elements come together in the present investigation. Now that this journey is coming to an end, I find myself with even more questions about how antibodies mediate their effects. There is still so much to learn about harnessing the potential of monoclonal antibodies to treat infectious diseases. But as I look ahead to an uncertain future, I find excitement in the unknown something that reminds me of a quote from one of my favorite books (arguably one of the greatest literary works of all time):

"It's a dangerous business, Frodo, going out your door. You step onto the road, and if you don't keep your feet, there's no knowing where you might be swept off to."

- J.R.R. Tolkien

Author disclaimers: I the author take full-responsibility of the content in this thesis. The text, with the content solely produced by the author, has been analyzed by AI-tools to easier spot grammar issues and spelling errors, and when applicable edited for better using suggestions provided by said AI-tools. The cover-photo is generated by using a model template that was created initially to generate MD simulations from paper II (see figure 2G) and edited using adobe illustrator to then generate additional color with "cool" effect by the AI-tool Adobe Firefly for better graphical design. Some of the antibodies generated in this thesis by the author and others are potentially of interest for future development as therapeutics. Several patents are filed and a spin-off antibody company has been formed to potentially commercialize these antibodies when applicable, where the author is a co-founder and will take a potential active role.

POPULÄRVETENSKAPLIG SAMMANFATTNING

Den mänskliga kroppen är sammansatt av flera organsystem som arbetar tillsammans för att möjliggöra liv. Immunförsvaret är ett av dessa system och har som huvuduppgift att skydda oss mot infektioner som orsakas av bland annat virus och bakterier. Immunförsvaret består bland annat av celler som cirkulerar i kroppen och har förmågan att fagocytera, eller "äta upp", virus och bakterier (sjukdomsframkallande mikroorganismer som kallas patogener). Andra specialiserade celler kan döda de mänskliga celler som blivit infekterade av dessa patogener.

När en infektion inträffar tränas immunförsvaret, och det bildas celler som "minns" patogenerna. Detta gör att kroppen kan reagera snabbt och effektivt om samma patogen skulle infektera oss igen. En särskilt viktig del av detta försvar är B-cellerna, som producerar Y-formade proteiner, kallade antikroppar. Dessa antikroppar binder till patogeners yttre strukturer, vilket gör att de markeras för eliminering av immunsystemet. När antikropparna binder till en patogen, signalerar deras stam till immunceller att patogenen ska tas om hand genom fagocytos. Denna process, där antikropparna gör patogenerna "aptitretande" för fagocyter, kallas opsonisering, ett grekiskt ord som betyder "att göra aptitretande."

Antikroppar fungerar alltså som väldesignade målsökande proteiner som vägleder immunceller till att eliminera inkräktarna. De är centrala för den så kallade förvärvade immuniteten, vilket innebär att kroppen efter en första infektion lär sig att känna igen och hantera patogener. Immunförsvaret kan tränas genom exponering för ofarliga versioner av patogener, vilket är principen bakom vaccinering. Vacciner består ofta av döda eller försvagade virus, eller till och med bara delar av viruset, för att stimulera immunförsvaret att skapa ett skydd.

Genom att studera hur immunförsvaret designar antikroppar mot virus och bakterier kan vi utveckla läkemedel i form av monoklonala antikroppar som kan användas för behandling av svåra infektioner. Med dagens teknologi kan vi skapa och testa antikroppar i laboratorier för att utvärdera om de är effektiva, till exempel genom att få immunceller att fagocytera bakterier eller virus. En stor fråga inom forskningen är vad som gör en antikropp effektiv. Är det hur starkt den binder till patogenen, var på patogenen den binder, eller är det hur antikroppen interagerar med immunceller som spelar störst roll? Dessa frågor är fortfarande komplexa och kräver omfattande grundforskning för att förstå hur vi kan utveckla effektiva läkemedel.

Under COVID-19-pandemin fick antikroppsbehandlingar stor uppmärksamhet. Ett okänt virus från coronavirusfamiljen spred sig världen över och orsakat miljontals

dödsfall. Vårt immunförsvar producerar antikroppar mot virusets spike-protein, som viruset använder för att ta sig in i våra celler och föröka sig. Antikroppar som binder till spike-proteinet och blockerar virusets inträde kallas neutraliserande antikroppar. Dock utgör dessa en liten del av de antikroppar som riktar sig mot spike-proteinet, och det är oklart om antikroppar som binder till viruspartiklar och underlättar deras upptag och eliminering genom fagocytos också ger skydd. De flesta kommersiella antikroppsbehandlingar mot COVID-19 har fokuserat på att neutralisera viruset, utan att beakta den potentiella skyddande effekten av opsonisering. Ett av målen i denna avhandling har varit att undersöka om opsoniserande antikroppar som aktiverar immunceller för att underlätta fagocytos.

I denna avhandling visar vi att icke-neutraliserande antikroppar som kan aktivera immunceller att fagocytera viruspartiklar (som är märkta med spike-proteinet) skyddar möss mot en dödlig dos av det ursprungliga Wuhan-viruset. Denna skyddande effekt är jämförbar med neutraliserande antikroppars effekt i samma djurmodell. Dessa resultat stöds av andra forskargrupper som har visat att dessa icke-neutraliserande men opsoniserande antikroppar ger skydd både hos människor och i djurmodeller. Vi undersökte även hur antikropparnas struktur påverkar deras effektivitet och fann att en variant av antikropparna, där en del av deras struktur byttes ut, ledde till starkare aktivering av immunceller och en förbättrad bindning till spike-proteinet.

Vidare visade vi att dessa antikroppar behöll sin skyddande funktion även mot de muterade varianterna Omicron och JN.1, som har dominerat i spridningen av viruset och uppvisar lägre dödlighet än det ursprungliga Wuhan-viruset. Därmed visar denna avhandling att icke-neutraliserande antikroppar kan ge starkt skydd mot virus, även mot muterade varianter, och att deras funktion kan förbättras genom att justera deras struktur.

En annan infektion som blivit mer uppmärksammad efter pandemin är Grupp A streptokockinfektioner, som normalt orsakar halsfluss men som kan ge allvarliga sjukdomar som blodförgiftning och köttätarsjuka. Denna bakterie använder ett protein, M-proteinet, för att undvika immunförsvaret. Vår forskargrupp har utvecklat en antikropp, Ab25, mot detta protein som skyddar möss mot allvarlig sjukdom. Vi undersökte de olika IgG-klasserna av Ab25 och fann att IgG3-versionen av Ab25, trots att den band svagare till M-proteinet, var mycket mer effektiv på att aktivera immunceller att fagocytera bakterier.

Genom avancerad datasimulering kunde vi visa att IgG3-antikroppar rörde sig mer i det tredimensionella rummet relativt till bakterien, vilket underlättade för immunceller att hitta bakterien. Vi skapade även en hybridantikropp som kombinerade delar av både IgG1 och IgG3, och denna hybrid visade sig ha en överlägsen förmåga att aktivera immunceller och att skydda mot spridning av bakterier till andra organ i en djurmodell som simulerade allvarlig streptokockinfektion.

Den starka effekten hos denna nya klass sågs även mot andra grupp A streptokockstammar som infekterade patienter. Slutligen visade vi att denna nya antikroppsstruktur också förbättrade opsoniseringseffekten hos icke-neutraliserande antikroppar mot COVID-19. De förbättrade antikropparna visade ökad effektivitet även mot andra virusstammar inom coronavirusfamiljen. Denna generella effekt verkar bero på att stammen binder bättre till immuncellernas proteiner som känner igen antikroppar, vilket underlättar deras aktivering för att eliminera patogener.

Sammanfattningsvis visar denna avhandling att vi kan utveckla modifierade antikroppar för att bekämpa både streptokocker och coronavirus genom att öka immuncellernas förmåga att eliminera patogener. Den nya hybridklassen av antikroppar utgör en lovande strategi för framtida antikroppsbehandlingar och har potential för klinisk användning för att behandla infektioner från både bakterier och virus.

ABBREVIATIONS

mAb -	Monoclonal antibody
Fab	Fragment antigen-binding
Fc	Fragment crystallizable
FcR	Fc receptor
CD	Cluster of differentiation
Ab	Antibody
ADCC	Antibody-dependent cell-mediated cytotoxicity/antibody- dependent cellular cytotoxicity
ADCP	Antibody-dependent cellular phagocytosis
ICAM-1	Intercellular Adhesion Molecule 1
VCAM-1	Vascular Cell Adhesion Molecule 1
LFA-1	Lymphocyte function-associated antigen 1
CR3	Complement receptor 3
CR4	Complement receptor 4
AMP	Antimicrobial peptides
PRR	Pattern recognition receptor
IgG	Immunoglobulin G
MHC	Major Histocompatibility Complex
NK	Natural Killer
STSS	Streptococcal toxic shock syndrome
SAg	Superantigens
TCR	T-cell receptor
BCR	B-cell receptor

CDR	Complementarity determining region
SHM	Somatic hypermutation
CSR	Class-switch recombination
GC	Germinal center
SMAC	Supramolecular Activation Complex
PAMP-	Pathogen-associated molecular patterns
МОР	Multiplicity of prey
IC ₅₀	Concentration to reach 50% inhibition
KD	Dissociation constant
SPR	Surface plasmon resonance
MD	Molecular dynamics
SLO	Streptolysin O
SARS-COV-2	Severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus 2
COVID-19	Coronavirus disease 2019
NSTI	Necrotizing soft-tissue infection

LIST OF PAPERS

Publications and manuscript part of this thesis

Paper I

Izadi, A., Hailu, A., Godzwon, M., Wrighton, S., Olofsson, B., Schmidt, T., Söderlund Strand, A., Elder, E., Appelberg, S., Valsjö, M., Larsson, O., Wendel-Hansen, V., Ohlin, M., Bahnan, W., & Nordenfelt, P. (2023). Subclass-switched anti-Spike IgG3 oligoclonal cocktails strongly enhance Fc-mediated opsonization. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, *120*(15).

Paper II

Izadi, A., Karami, Y., Bratanis, E., Wrighton, S., Khakzad, H., Nyblom, M., Olofsson, B., Happonen, L., Tang, D., Sundwall, M., Godzwon, M., Chao, Y., Gomez Toledo, A., Schmidt, T., Ohlin, M., Nilges, M., Malmström, J., Bahnan, W., Shannon, O., Malmström L., & Nordenfelt, P. (2024). The hinge-engineered IgG1-IgG3 hybrid subclass IgGh47 potently enhances Fc-mediated function of anti-streptococcal and SARS-CoV-2 antibodies. *Nature Communications*, *15*, 1-22.

Paper III

Izadi, A., Godzwon, M., Söderlund Strand, A., Schmidt, T., Kumlien Georén, S., Drosten, C., Ohlin, M., & Nordenfelt, P. (2024). Protective Non-neutralizing anti-N-terminal Domain mAb Maintains Fc-mediated Function against SARS-COV-2 Variants up to BA.2.86-JN.1 with Superfluous in vivo Protection against JN.1 Due to Attenuated Virulence. *Journal of immunology*, *213*(5), 678-689.

Paper IV

Izadi, A. Godzwon, Yanartas, D. Hultqvist, A. Mats Ohlin, Pontus Nordenfelt. Hinge-engineered IgGh47 monoclonal antibodies exhibit ultrapotent Fc-mediated phagocytosis against SARS-CoV-2 and Betacoronaviruses through an unprecedented high-affinity binding to CD32 and CD16. *Manuscript (preliminary author list)*

Publications not part of this thesis

Review

Izadi, A., & Nordenfelt, P. (2024). Protective non-neutralizing SARS-CoV-2 monoclonal antibodies. *Trends in Immunology*, *45*(8), 609-624.

Letter to editor

Izadi, A., Bahnan, W., Ohlin, M., & Nordenfelt, P. (2023). Reply to Pandey: IgG3 allotypes, modulation of antigen binding by constant domain changes, and therapeutic applications of Fc engineering. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 120(22), 1

Published research articles

Gomez Toledo, A.; Chowdhury, S.; Hjortswang, E.; Sorrentino, J. T.; Lewis, N. E.; Bläckberg, A.; Ekström, S.; Kjellström, S; **Izadi, A**.; Olofsson, B.; Nordenfelt, P.; Malmström, L.; Rasmussen, M.; Malmström, J. (2024). Dissecting the Properties of Circulating IgG against Streptococcal pathogens through a combined systems antigenomics-serology workflow. *Nature communications*, 16, 1-16

A past reminder of future potential

"We can only support each other mutually, just as phagocytes and antitoxins do, since it can certainly be assumed that phagocytes receive major help from antitoxic activity, and that phagocytes, by capturing and destroying bacteria, provide major help for the host organism regarding its antitoxic defense"

- Elie Metchnikoff in a letter to Emil Behring $(1906)^{1}$

I choose to highlight the quote above because it is one of the crucial exchanges between the founders of Immunology as a field- Metchnikoff who discovered phagocytosis and Behring who discovered the presence of antitoxin in serum. What they discovered was that there exist unique and specialized components in the human body which eliminate invasive pathogens through distinct mechanisms. The human body and the intricate and sophisticated systems existing have been developed over millions of years of evolution. In the case of the immune system, it can generate an organized and specific response against invading intruders through complex biological mechanisms which are highly regulated. It is only in the last 150 years that we humans have discovered and keep discovering these mechanisms but also how to harness them in the form of medicine to combat these invading pathogens. The purpose of this thesis is to build on the foundations set by giants such as Emil Behring and Elie Metchnikoff and increase our understanding of how we can harness the immune system's most sophisticated arsenal against pathogens antibodies. This is highlighted by a 130 year old quote by Behring when he discovered that antitoxins (antibodies) in serum can be used as treatment against Diphtheria toxin:

"The possibility of cures for even highly acute diseases can thus no longer be ignored"-Emil Behring (1890)¹

CHAPTER I THE TWIGS AND BRANCHES OF THE IMMUNE SYSTEM

Before we delve deep into the fascinating world of antibodies and their use as monoclonal antibodies in the medical field, we will have a glance at the big tree of which they are an important branch. We will begin by starting with the major branch known as the *innate immune system*, responsible for 1) preventing infection and maintaining homeostasis 2) eliminate the invaders and 3) calling in the *adaptive immune system* consisting of the fascinating T-and B-cells. We will briefly discuss these two systems from the point of an infection (bacterial and viral infection, sorry parasites and fungus) as to set the stage for the work presented in this thesis. The chapter is structured to be more superficial in the beginning and subsequently more detailed as we progress.



Figure 1. Overview of the innate immune response and key players. A Bacterial invasion through a skin breach is detected by resident macrophages. **B** Macrophage receptors ingest bacteria via phagocytosis, releasing chemokines. **C** Neutrophil extravasation to the inflammation site, mediated by chemokines. **D** Neutrophil phagosome formation with antimicrobial substances from fused granules. Created with BioRender (**C** by Danielle Penk and Louis Ngai).

THE INNATE IMMUNE SYSTEM

YOU SHALL NOT PASS: THE IMPORTANCE OF A STRONG PHYSICAL BARRIER

By far the largest part of the innate immune system is the skin organ of humans, which constitutes both a physical and chemical barrier to invading pathogens². The skin is a barrier, which in the outermost epidermal layer, is made up of specialized epithelial cells, called keratinocytes, which are joined together through protein complexes called tight junctions, which is one reason why pathogens cannot easily slip past the epithelial cells. Similar defense mechanisms are found in other epithelial barriers, including those in the pharynx, nose, trachea, lungs, urogenital tract, and gut. The physical barrier is further strengthened by having a slippery watery substance, similar to egg white, called mucus which covers the epithelial cells³. The mucus is made up mainly of water and proteins called mucins, which give it viscosity and are produced by neighboring mucosal glands. The pathogens invading the trachea for instance would get stuck in the mucus and not be able to adhere to the epithelial barrier and disrupt the integrity of the barrier. Furthermore, the mucus and the trapped pathogens are removed by physical movement of cilia, in the trachea in this example.

The importance of these physical barriers or the physical removal of pathogens by mucus is highlighted in two distinct medical diseases called cystic fibrosis (CF)⁴ and atopic dermatitis (AD) ⁵. In CF, patients have a mutation in a protein responsible for transportation of water and ions to the outside of the epithelial cells leading to thickening of the mucus. This leads to impaired clearance of mucus by cilia organelles and build up of uncleared mucus which leads to chronic infection with fungal and bacterial pathogens (of which pseudomonas aeruginosa is one). In AD patients, amongst other things, have disrupted skin barrier which enables a common colonizer of our skin flora, Staphylococcus aureus, to cause skin infection in otherwise healthy individuals⁵.

WHEN PHYSICAL OBSTACLES ARE NOT ENOUGH FIGHT TO INTRUDERS WITH A HOSTILE ENVIRONMENT- THE CHEMICAL BARRIER

One aspect of the skin, lung and guts defenses against invading pathogens is the chemical component of the barriers. The chemical component is constituted by a broad range of diverse molecules, ranging from small proteins such as antimicrobial peptides such as beta-defensin² to acids in the gut such as hydrochloric acids⁶. Beta-defensins, produced by keratinocytes (among other cells), disrupt the integrity of bacterial membranes, leading to lysis/death. In addition beta-defensins can interact with the adaptive immune system by recruiting more specialized cells through

chemotaxis for instance². Helicobacter pylori is one bacterial pathogen which can colonize the human gut and escape elimination by acid; it does this by a surgicalpinpoint strike by neutralizing the acid by ammonia production thereby escaping the defense of this chemical barrier⁶. The host has developed these complex systems, and the pathogens have co-evolved countermeasures to escape them and thereby breach the first barriers. But luckily for us, this was just the first obstacle for the pathogens and the human body has many surveillance systems⁷ to find out when a breach has occurred which we will discuss shortly below.

SPOTTING INTRUDERS AND SOUNDING THE ALARM

Despite the everyday success of the chemical and physical barriers in keeping out invading pathogens and maintaining balance with the microbial flora, breaches leading to infections do unfortunately occur (**Figure 1A**). Therefore, a reliable detection system is crucial to signal when the body is under attack⁷. But to have a suitable detection system, the system needs to reliably distinguish between what is foreign and what belongs to the "self". Bacteria, viruses, parasites and fungal pathogens have unique molecules and structures which are not produced by human cells. These molecules are called pathogen-associated molecular patterns (PAMP) and they differ from pathogen to pathogen, but what is common for all of them is that they are distinct from molecules produced by the human host and that they can be recognized by our immune system's different detectors^{7–9}. Bacterial examples of these PAMP's are the peptidoglycan wall of gram positive bacteria or the lipopolysaccharide acid (LPS) of gram negative bacteria. These unique signatures are detected by specific tools developed by the human body.

The body has developed intricate detection tools which can recognize these various foreign PAMP's by so-called Pattern recognition receptors (PRR's) (**Figure 1B**)⁷. PRR's are localized on cell-membranes (on epithelial cells for instance) belonging to the toll-like receptor family (TLR's). Intracellularly they can exist in the cytosol in the form of retinoid acid-inducible gene I (RIG-I)-like receptors (RLRs) and nucleotide-binding oligomerization domain (NOD)- like receptors (NLR's). The different receptors recognize different PAMP's on different pathogens, thus complementing each other while some are more broad such as Toll-like receptor 2 can recognize both viral, bacterial, fungal and protozoan PAMPs^{7–9}. When PAMPs bind to PRRs, an intracellular alarm signal is activated. This signal triggers a cascade of intracellular molecules, leading to the synthesis of inflammatory proteins. One example of this is the detection of the envelope protein (E protein) of SARS-COV-2 virions by TLR2 which leads to a downstream production and secretion of interferon- γ cytokine ¹⁰. Interferon- γ has antiviral effects and enhances

antigen presentation by increasing the expression of Major Histocompatibility Complex (MHC) class II proteins¹¹. MHC class 2 proteins have a crucial role in displaying proteins of pathogens to specialized immune cells of the adaptive branch of the immune system. The cells that display the pathogen proteins as peptides on MHC class 2 molecules for the adaptive immune cells are called antigen-presenting cells and they will be discussed more later¹¹. One important effector function which is elicited by PRR stimulation by PAMP's is secretion and production of cytokines such as tumor necrosis factor α (TNF- α) and chemokines such as interleukin-8 (IL-8/CXCL8) which will attract the attention of the innate immune systems effector cells such as neutrophils and macrophages. These are the important foot-soldiers of the innate immune systems and will be further discussed.

TISSUE RESIDENT MACROPHAGES - SURVEILLING SENTINELS

Once a pathogen has breached the chemical and physical barrier, it will be recognized by the immune systems sentinels which are spread throughout the body¹². These are known as tissue resident macrophages (Figure 1B). In the lungs, in alveoli, they are called alveolar macrophages and are important for phagocytosis of pathogens in that niche in addition to specialized functions unique for the alveoli such as removing surfactant produced by its neighboring cells¹². Regardless of whether they are in the lungs or skin, these tissue resident macrophages recognize invading pathogens PAMP's through their PRRs such as toll-like receptors (TLR). Upon recognizing their ligands, such as TLR2 recognizing the envelope protein of SARS-COV-2 virus (for instance) ¹⁰, they engulf (phagocytose) the pathogen to clear the infection as damage control. Not only that, as discussed above, the activation of PRRs also lead to intracellular signaling which lead to production of cytokines (interferon- γ , TNF- α) and chemokines (IL-8) which attract other immune cells to help combat the pathogens and activate the cells to more efficiently eliminate the pathogens who have breached through the system. Macrophages in the tissue are also important for healing the wound and sealing the breach once the infection has been cleared. These cells develop in the bone marrow from immature monocytes, differentiating into macrophages with a pro-healing phenotype¹². The immune cells that are recruited by tissue resident macrophages are initially the patrolling foot-soldiers called neutrophils which are the most abundant white blood cells in blood¹³. Neutrophil mobilization to the inflamed/infected site by chemo-and cytokines are followed by a later-stage mobilization of immature monocytes from the bone-marrow which are differentiated into a pro-inflammatory macrophage (can also become an anti-inflammatory macrophage) which helps the neutrophils in eliminating the pathogen.

NEUTROPHILS: THE SELFLESS FOOT SOLDIERS OF THE IMMUNE SYSTEM

The importance of having functioning neutrophils is evident in immune-deficient patients lacking this cell-type, where they overwhelmingly acquire infections. Neutrophils are the most abundant white blood cells in the human body and are generated in the bone marrow. Neutrophils are classified as granulocytes (along with basophils and eosinophils) due to them containing preformed granules in their cytoplasm¹³.

Once released into the bloodstream, neutrophils can migrate to the site of injury through a process called extravasation. At the site of damage/breach/infection, endothelial cells (which make up the blood vessels) will express certain ligands (selectins) which neutrophils will bind to through its corresponding receptor (mucin-like molecules), this first step is known as tethering and leukocyte rolling¹⁴. The endothelial cells will express these ligands as a response to chemokines (TNF- α , IL-1 etc) released by cells such as tissue-resident macrophages (Figure 1C). Subsequently, a second activation, triggered by chemokine molecules (produced by the endothelial cells) binding to chemokine receptors present on neutrophils, will activate a family of proteins called integrins (such as LFA-1, MAC-1) on neutrophils. Then a second activation by the chemokine molecules (produced by the endothelial cells) to chemokine receptors present on neutrophils will activate a family of proteins called integrins (such as LFA-1, MAC-1) on neutrophils. Integrins which are present on the cell-membrane in a default low-affinity state (affinity state relative to its receptor) will change confirmation to a high affinitystate enabling strong binding to corresponding receptors (ICAM-1, also known as CD54) on endothelial cells, resulting in adherence¹⁴. Once adhered to the endothelial wall, the neutrophil will squeeze through the cellular-junctions through a process called diapedesis and will be guided to the presence of the pathogens by chemokines released by the sentinel immune cells in the local tissue¹³.

Neutrophils have three key functional features which distinguishes them from macrophages and other effector cells. First, although not unique in this ability, neutrophils are highly efficient phagocytes, capable of engulfing pathogens effectively¹³. The process of phagocytosis is initiated by the neutrophil once it recognizes the foreign pathogen. There are several unique receptors mediating this interaction. A notable example is the pattern recognition receptors (PRRs) which recognize specific motifs that are commonly expressed on pathogen proteins for instance. Other receptor types involved are complement receptors or Fc-receptors. These receptors recognize complement proteins and antibodies which are deposited on the pathogen, marking them for destruction and subsequent engulfment by neutrophils (more on this later). Once a pathogen is recognized by the neutrophils

receptor/receptors, the process of phagocytosis will take place where parts of the cellular membrane will engulf the pathogen, forming the phagocytic cup, and then being pinched off and form a membrane vesicle called phagosome¹⁵. The phagosome containing the pathogen will fuse with neutrophil granules which are loaded with proteins made specific to kill the pathogen (such as hydrolytic enzymes). Although other phagocytes such as macrophages engulf pathogens in a similar manner, there are important features in the neutrophil which differ once the phagosome enters the cytosol. Unlike macrophages, neutrophils have pre-made granules (or vesicles) containing different proteins which have specialized antimicrobial activity^{15–18}. The content of the granules are produced already when the neutrophil is differentiating in the bone marrow, so when it encounters the pathogen in the breached injury site (in the skin for instance) it has come prepared for the battle. There are four types of vesicles/granules: Azurophilic, specific, gelatinase and secretory granules. The azurophilic granules and specific granules both contain antimicrobial proteins while gelatinase vesicles have proteins which can remodel the extracellular matrix¹⁵⁻¹⁷. Finally the secretory vesicles contain mostly plasma proteins and membrane receptors which is important for phagocytosis for instance. Once a pathogen is engulfed by a neutrophil and isolated in a phagosome, the azurophilic and specific vesicles fuse with the phagosome to achieve antimicrobial killing by releasing their antimicrobial proteins (such as myeloperoxidase, elastase, cathepsin G and more). Due to the existence of these granules in large quantities and the faster formation of the mature neutrophil phagosome, neutrophils are viewed to have greater capacity of eliminating pathogens through phagocytosis than macrophages which lack these preloaded vesicles (Figure 1D)¹³.

The second feature, relating to phagosome killing, is that neutrophils have a high degree of expression of a protein complex called Nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide phosphate oxidase (NADPH oxidase, known as NOX2 in humans)¹⁹. Through the activity of this protein complex, radical oxygen species (ROS) can be produced inside the lumen of phagosomes. ROS are molecules containing an oxygen-component which interacts and disrupts pathogens proteins critical for survival which leads to the death of the invader. Neutrophils are not unique in their ability to produce ROS for antimicrobial activity, but they are known to be more potent producers of ROS than macrophages and monocytes. It is postulated that one reason for the higher pH in a mature phagosome of a neutrophil as compared to macrophages is due to much more potent ROS production by NADPH oxidase in neutrophils. Interestingly, proteins in azurophilic granules such as MPO can potentiate the effect of ROS produced by the NADPH oxidase (by catalyzing the

formation of hypochlorous acid, a powerful oxidant), thus having synergy in eliminating the $pathogen^{20}$.

While phagocytosis by neutrophils, along with the fusion of intracellular granules with the phagosome and ROS production by NADPH oxidase, is crucial for intracellular pathogen killing, neutrophils also possess a unique extracellular defense mechanism. Neutrophils can decondense their tightly packed DNA, combine it with granular proteins, and release this network extracellularly to trap and kill pathogens like bacteria and fungi²¹. These structures, known as Neutrophil Extracellular Traps (NETs), are a key component of the neutrophil's arsenal against foreign invaders. However, maintaining a balance between sufficient pathogen killing and minimizing collateral damage is critical; excessive release of NETs or ROS can harm host tissues and trigger excessive inflammation with detrimental clinical consequences^{22,23}. For example, in the case of SARS-CoV-2, excessive NET release by neutrophils in the lungs has been associated with severe disease outcome. Nevertheless, neutrophils play a critical role in locating infection sitesguided by signals from dendritic cells, tissue-resident macrophages, and other cells and clearing infections primarily through phagocytosis and NET release. If neutrophils are unable to clear an infection on their own, they can stall invaders long enough for reinforcements such as monocytes from the bone marrow to arrive.

MONOCYTES- THE SWISS ARMY KNIFE OF THE INNATE IMMUNE SYSTEM

While neutrophils are known to be the first responders at the site of inflammation and also the most abundant white blood cell in the bloodstream, they do not last long due to their short-lived nature¹³. While the neutrophils which have entered the inflammation site are occupied with phagocytosing the pathogen, monocytes are being produced at the bone marrow. Once released into the bloodstream, monocytes will be attracted to the inflamed site by the presence of chemokines and extravasate like neutrophils through integrin-based adhesion through the endothelium²⁴. Unlike neutrophils and tissue-resident macrophages, monocytes are comparatively immature and not as efficient in mediating phagocytosis compared to them. However, the plasticity of monocytes should not be underestimated, by being uncommitted, monocytes can differentiate into the type of cell needed for the task at hand. During homeostasis, monocytes can enter the liver, spleen, skin, testis and other organs to differentiate into macrophages with similar function as the local tissue-resident macrophages (which were engrafted during embryonic development and evidence shows that they have capacity for self-renewal)²⁵.

During inflammation and infection, monocytes can differentiate into what has been historically categorized as M1 or M2 macrophages, a process which is called polarization²⁶. This classification is based on the phenotype of having either a pro or anti-inflammatory function and the polarization to either of them is influenced by environmental cues such as cytokines produced at the site of inflammation. Monocytes differentiate into M1 macrophages through cytokines such as Interferon- γ produced by the sentinel cells such as tissue-resident macrophages (Figure 2A). Interestingly, pathogen associated structures such as lipopolysaccharide on bacteria can also differentiate monocytes into M1 macrophages through recognition by the Pathogen pattern receptor TLR4²⁷. The "classical" view is that during early stages of an infection, monocytes are differentiated into M1 phenotype to be able to recruit more immune cells through production and release of proinflammatory cytokines (such as tumor necrosis factor, interferon- α), phagocytose pathogens, produce ROS and nitric oxide (which is important for phagosomal killing) and coordinate with the adaptive immune cells (T-cells more specifically, more on this later)²⁴. However, once the fight is over it is crucial to heal the damaged tissue site to prevent another infection and regain function of the tissue. It is in this context where cytokines such as IL-4 will cause the monocytes to polarize to M2 phenotype, which will be important for wound-healing, through production of collagen for instance (an important part of the extracellular matrix)²⁴⁻²⁶. One important function the tissueresident macrophages have and the M1 macrophages, is that they can activate natural-killer cells (NK-cells) through interferon- α cytokine release²⁸. The importance of NK-cells will be discussed below.

NK-CELLS: THE MAIN EFFECTOR CELL FOR ANTIBODY DEPENDENT CELLULAR CYTOTOXICITY

While neutrophils and macrophages are potent phagocytes where they clear extracellular pathogens, natural killer (NK) cells play a crucial role in eliminating infected cells during the early immune response^{29,30}. Although it is widely considered to be important for antiviral defense, NK-cells also contribute significantly to the immune response against intracellular bacteria and tumors. Upon infection by a viral pathogen, host cells undergo changes that trigger NK cellmediated elimination. These changes include the release of cytokines (such as IL-2 and interferon- α), which activate NK cells, leading to proliferation, increased production of cytotoxic granules (vesicles containing proteins that induce cell death via apoptosis), and enhanced NK cell survival (Figure 2B)^{28,30}. In addition to production, infected host often downregulate cytokine cells maior histocompatibility complex class I (MHC-I) molecules, triggering NK cell-mediated killing through degranulation³¹. MHC-I molecules present self-antigens, signaling "self" to NK cells; downregulation of MHC-I prevents this recognition, allowing NK cells to identify and eliminate infected cells. Another key effector function mediated by NK-cells is antibody-dependent cellular cytotoxicity (ADCC) through CD16a/Fc γ 3A binding of Immunoglobulin constant domain (see **Chapter 2** for details)³². Macrophages activate NK cells through the release of interferon- α .³³ In turn, activated NK cells are major producers of interferon- γ , a cytokine that enhances macrophage polarization into the pro-inflammatory M1 phenotype, upregulates MHC-II expression for antigen presentation, and recruits additional immune cells to the site of infection³⁰. Thus, NK cells eliminate infected cells, promote a stronger inflammatory phenotype in neighboring cells, and help coordinate the innate immune system to activate antigen-presenting cells of the adaptive immune system. Recent research is showing that a subset of NK-cells can acquire memory-like functionality (see review by Cewanka and Lanier)³⁰. The most efficient antigen presenting cell, the dendritic cell, will be further explained below.



Figure 2. Overview of Macrophage Polarisation and NK-cell Killing of Infected Cell. A Polarization of macrophages to the M1 phenotype induced by cytokines and other environmental cues. B Illustration of NK cell-mediated killing of an infected cell. Created with BioRender.

DC-CELLS (DENDRITIC CELLS)

While macrophages and neutrophils work to eliminate foreign pathogens, these responses may be insufficient for complete clearance and long-term protection. The adaptive immune system, primarily mediated by T and B cells of the lymphocyte lineage, generates specialized immune responses targeting unique proteins and virulence factors of pathogens (molecules critical for host infection and pathogen survival). Furthermore, the adaptive immune system establishes immunological memory, enabling faster and more efficient pathogen clearance upon subsequent encounters - a phenomenon known as immunity. To be able to generate an adaptive immune response against a pathogen, the T and B cells need to recognize the foreign proteins and other structures of the pathogen. Dendritic cells (DCs) play a crucial role in presenting these antigens to naive T and B cells³⁴.

Upon encountering foreign bacteria in the skin (where they reside as tissue-resident DCs), dendritic cells recognize bacterial proteins and structures through pattern recognition receptors (PRRs), leading to phagocytosis and subsequent processing in the phagolysosome³⁴. Within the phagolysosome, bacteria are digested into smaller components³⁵. Concurrently, MHC-II molecules are produced in vesicles that fuse with the phagolysosome, enabling the capture of bacterial peptides (smaller protein segments). These peptide-MHC-II complexes are then transported to the dendritic cell's surface. Once captured, the MHC-2 molecules and the pathogens peptide will be taken to the cell-membrane of the dendritic cell³⁴. During this process, the dendritic cell migrates to lymph nodes to interact with T cells. The initial encounter with bacteria triggers these critical steps, where PRR engagement initiates not only phagocytosis but also intracellular signaling pathways (such as the NF-kB pathway). These activated signaling pathways increase the production of MHC-II proteins, enhance antigen processing in phagolysosomes (via proteases), produce T cellactivating co-stimulatory factors, and induce chemokine production, which guides dendritic cell migration to lymph nodes via lymphatic vessels (detailed further below).

How are Viruses or intracellular pathogens presented?

The preceding example illustrates how extracellular bacteria are presented to T cells via MHC-II molecules³⁶. However, how are viruses which infect host cells, including dendritic cells presented to T cells? As previously noted, MHC-I molecules present self-antigens. If a dendritic cell is infected by a viral pathogen and its protein machinery is co-opted to produce viral proteins, these viral proteins are also loaded onto MHC-I molecules and transported to the cell surface³⁶. This process is enhanced by cytokines such as interferon- γ produced by neighboring cells

(such as NK-cells) or upon recognition of viral motifs by intracellular PPRs. Nevertheless, once the infected cell displays the foreign peptide on MHC-1, the cytotoxic T-cells (CD8+ cells) can directly be activated without the engagement of helper T-cells (CD4+). Interestingly, dendritic cells can also phagocytose pathogens without its intracellular machinery being hijacked. By engulfing the pathogens through phagocytosis and degradation of proteins into peptides in the phagolysosome, the content can be loaded on MHC-1 molecules and be brought to the cell-membrane through this pathway³⁴. This alternative pathway is known as *cross-presentation* and can directly activate CD8+ T-cells without CD4+ mediation. In summary, dendritic cells are essential for initiating adaptive immune responses by presenting protein-derived peptides on MHC-I and MHC-II molecules following phagocytosis, thereby engaging CD4+ and CD8+ T cells (**Figure 3A**). The interaction between T cells and dendritic cells, known as the immunological synapse, will be examined further in the subsequent section on the adaptive immune system.

THE ADAPTIVE IMMUNE SYSTEM: LEARNING BY DOING

The innate immune system provides a rapid initial response to foreign pathogens, whereas the adaptive immune system orchestrates a targeted and coordinated attack involving both cellular and humoral components to eliminate infections. B-cells produce antibodies, Y-shaped proteins secreted into mucosal areas and the bloodstream, that bind to specific structures (antigens) on pathogens and mediate much of humoral immunity³⁷. T-cells are the primary mediators of cell-mediated immunity, recognizing antigens via their specific T-cell receptors (TCRs)³⁸. The specificity of antibodies and TCRs is due to a vast repertoire of genes that encode the antigen-binding regions of these receptors. This receptor diversity is further amplified by combinatorial rearrangement of the genes that encode the variable regions of TCRs and B-cell receptors (BCRs)³⁹. To fully appreciate the adaptability of B- and T-cells, we will now examine how these receptors are generated to recognize a broad range of pathogens and their antigens.


Figure 3. T Cell Activation by Dendritic Cells and Structure of TCRs. A Overview of dendritic cell-mediated T cell activation. B V(D)J recombination generating the variable domain of the TCR. C Simplified structural overview of the TCR complex, illustrating co-receptors. Created with BioRender.

T-CELLS

T-cells originate from the bone marrow, and their progenitors migrate to the thymus for maturation^{40,41}. These progenitors initially lack CD4 and CD8 co-receptors but acquire both during maturation (double positive progenitors) before differentiating into either helper (CD4+) or cytotoxic (CD8+) T-cells respectively. During T-cell maturation, the cell will acquire both receptors (double positive precursors) and later dedicate itself to become either a CD4+ T-cell or CD8+ T-cell. These co-receptors pair with the TCR, generated in the thymus where the T-cell receptor passes through a process called *T-cell receptor rearrangement*⁴².

T-CELL RECEPTOR STRUCTURE

The T cell receptor (TCR) consists of two heterodimeric chains: an α/β combination or a γ/δ heterodimer³⁸. Over 95% of T cells express an α/β TCR. The α and beta chains each have a variable domain and a constant domain. The variable domain is what defines the TCR's antigen specificity and is at the N-terminal domain of the receptor (facing outwards). The antigen specificity is determined by a predefined set of genes called V, D and J-genes. The extensive repertoire of VDJ-genes and random V(D)J recombination generates a potential repertoire of up to 10^{15} unique receptors (**Figure 3B-C**)⁴³! The beta-chain consists of VDJ-genes but the α chain only contains VJ-genes. This recombination process is mediated by the RAG1 and RAG2 enzymes which recognize a signaling element flanking the VDJ genes (recombination signaling segment, RSS), introducing double strand breaks which excise the other VDJ genes, leaving only one V, D and J gene respectively fused together^{44,45}. A constant domain downstream of the VDJ region (or VJ for the α chain) anchors the TCR to the cell membrane³⁸.

The antigen-binding site is formed by complementary determining regions (CDRs), short amino acid segments encoded by the V, D, and J genes. While non-CDR amino acids in these genes do not bind the antigen epitope directly, they are important for correct folding of the tertiary structure of the CDRs and the variable domain overall. Overall the CDR has much greater variability in their amino acid sequence, and are therefore referred to as hypervariable regions⁴⁶. There are three CDRs (CDR1-3) and of these CDR3 is the primary responsible for antigen-peptide recognition and is generated by both the V and J genes (for α chain) and D and J genes (for Beta chain). CDR1-2 are in turn encoded by the V gene and these regions recognize the MHC molecule itself⁴⁷. Since the CDR3 is crucial for antigen-binding, the genetic sequence differs greatly between T-cells from different clones and is used in research to classify T-cell clones using advanced sequencing techniques (next-generation sequencing for instance). This is important for vaccine research since the information provided by analyzing the CDR3 can help understand which epitopes generate a robust T-cell response and immune memory^{48,49}. Studying T cell responses to foreign antigens (e.g., the SARS-CoV-2 spike protein) may enable the design of vaccines containing peptides that induce a strong and protective immune response.

While the α and β chains of the TCR are sufficient for MHC-peptide binding, they cannot independently generate intracellular signaling to activate the T cell⁵⁰. The TCR associates with the CD3 co-receptor, a protein complex of four chains (γ , δ , ε , and ζ), which compensates for the TCR's lack of intracellular signaling domains. The CD3 complex compensates for the TCRs lack of intracellular signaling ability (**Figure 3C**). Once the TCR binds to its antigen-peptide complex on MHC, the CD4 or CD8 co-receptor activates the Lck kinase, which phosphorylates tyrosine residues within the immunoreceptor tyrosine-based activation motifs (ITAMs) present in the CD3 chains³⁸. Phosphorylation of these ITAMs enables ZAP-70 (ζ -chainassociated protein kinase 70) to further phosphorylate intracellular proteins, initiating a signaling cascade that activates the T cell to secrete cytokines, proliferate, differentiate, and survive⁵¹. However, despite the intricate process

described above leading to TCR signaling, antigen-presenting cells and T-cells need to be in close proximity physically to have a successful interaction. This interaction forms what is known as the immunological synapse⁵², a specialized junction that facilitates communication between T-cells and antigen-presenting cells.

THEE IMMUNOLOGICAL SYNAPSE

While the interaction between the T-cell receptor (TCR) complex and peptide-MHC complex is crucial for antigen-specific recognition and T-cell activation, it is insufficient to fully activate the T-cell. This limitation is attributed to several factors as elegantly discussed by Grakoui et al 53 and Professor Dustin 59. First, the T-cell is not a static cell and is moving around in the lymph node, for a proper interaction with the APC they both need to adhere to each other. Secondly, there exists several large glycoproteins which can physically block/impair the interaction between the TCR-MHC complexes. The affinity of TCRs for their peptide-MHC ligands is typically in the micromolar range (1-100 μ M), which is relatively low compared to the picomolar to nanomolar affinities of high-affinity antibodies^{53,54}. Unlike B cell receptors (BCRs), TCRs do not undergo somatic hypermutation (discussed later) which generates these high-affinity BCRs⁵⁵. The availability of MHC-peptide complexes on a single cell is limited, with estimates suggesting it can be as few as 100 peptide-MHC complexes per cell ⁵⁶. How can they overcome these obstacles? Firstly, similarly as the leukocytes bind to the endothelial cells using integrins to adhere to the endothelial wall, the T-cell utilizes the integrin LFA-1. This integrin consists of two subunits, an alpha (CD11a) and a beta subunit (CD18). LFA-1 exists in three conformational states low, intermediate, and high affinity which determine its binding affinity to ligands⁵⁷. These states can be induced by either ligand-binding (outside-in signaling) or by chemokine and TCR intracellular signaling (inside-out signaling)⁵⁸. In the context of T-cell-APC interaction, LFA-1 will undergo a conformational change from lowaffinity to temporary high-affinity stage through chemokine signaling (through Gprotein coupled receptors) and or TCR complex signaling. Subsequently, LFA-1 binds to ICAM-1/CD54 ligands on the APC, inducing a more stable high-affinity state⁵⁹. These transient interactions are referred to as 'kinapses' while the T-cell remains in motion⁶⁰. Once enough integrins are activated the T-cell will stably adhere to the APC. Moreover, the T-cell extends its cell-membrane in a ring-shape around the MHC-TCR complex. This change has the effect of removing the sterical obstacles of glycoproteins which disrupt the MHC-TCR interaction physically. Additionally, clustering of TCRs within this membrane ring increases the avidity of the interaction, thereby enhancing signaling despite the relatively low affinity of individual TCRs ⁶¹. This has been shown to be LFA-1-ICAM1 mediated⁶². The mature immunological synapse contains distinct clusters of receptors and molecules known as

supramolecular activation clusters (SMACs)⁵². These clusters include a central cluster containing TCR complexes with its co-stimulatory molecules such as CD28 (central supramolecular activation clusters, cSMAC)⁶³, a peripheral ring of LFA-1 enriched proteins (pSMAC) and a distal cluster containing CD43 and CD45 (dSMAC)⁶⁴. The segregation of the different molecules in the dSMAC and cSMAC is crucial. CD28 helps amplify and prolong T-cell activation, proliferation and survival (through costimulatory intracellular signals) in conjunction with TCR signaling. While CD45 is a phosphatase and its removal from the cSMAC shifts the dynamic towards kinase activity (allowing for phosphorylation of CD3)⁵⁹. Furthermore, in the dSMAC, CD45 activates Lck (a kinase) from its inactive state which can further enhance downstream TCR signaling. The composition and spatial position of the different SMACs are essential for allowing TCRs to activate the T-cell despite the relatively low-affinity nature of TCRs (compared to antigen-experienced BCRs). Taken together, the immunological synapse is a crucial structure for T-cell activation upon recognition of antigen-peptide complexes on MHC molecules. Protein-protein interactions, clustering effects to amplify intracellular signaling, and enhanced avidity are all essential, multi-step processes for robust immune activation. The concept of how clustering of receptors and their ligands in the immunological synapse leads to T-cell activation, will be important for future chapters (Chapter 2, 5 and Paper I-III particularly) when we discuss antibody function by activating effector cells.

T-CELL ACTIVATION AND FUNCTION

Traditionally the model for T-cell activation by APCs is described as needing two signals, one which is induced by the TCR-MHC complex interaction and the second signal is cumulative intracellular signaling by co-stimulatory receptors CD28, CD40L and LFA1 to their ligands on the APC (CD80/86, CD40 and ICAM-1 respectively)⁶⁵. The activation process varies depending on whether the T-cell expresses CD4 (naive CD4+ cells) or CD8 (naive CD8+ cells), since the double positive status of T lymphocytes is lost when encountering APCs in the secondary lymphoid organs. CD4+ T-cells are referred to as T helper cells (note:regulatory T-cells also express CD4), since they are responsible for activating the CD8+ Cytotoxic T-cells and B-cells later. Upon receiving signal 1 (from MHC-2) and 2 by APCs, the naive CD4+ cell which recognizes the foreign antigen of interest will survive, proliferate (clonal expansion) and differentiate (influenced by cytokines)⁶⁶. Similarly, once the CD8+ cell recognizes its MHC-peptide antigen complex, CD4+ T-cells will help activate them by producing cytokines vital for survival and proliferation⁶⁶.

Helper T-cells coordinate the immune response for more effective pathogen elimination, with distinct subsets arising upon differentiation⁶⁵. Th1 cells are potent

producers of interferon- γ , IL-2 and TNF- α which enhances macrophage phagocytosis, ROS production, MHC-2 expression and upregulation of costimulatory receptors thereby improving macrophages' antigen-presenting capabilities. All aforementioned enhanced functions by macrophages due to Th1 cytokine release enhances immune defense against viruses and bacteria (intra-and extracellular)⁶⁵. Th2 cells are classically deemed to be skewed in immune responses against helminth parasites and in allergy. A subset of T-cells expressing CD4 are known as Treg cells and they eliminate autoreactive T-cells which recognize selfantigen (which have escaped elimination in the negative selection process in the thymus) ⁶⁵. Finally, as we mentioned before, CD8+ cells are important for eliminating virus-infected cells which display foreign antigens on MHC-1. A subset of T cells (both CD4+ and CD8+) differentiate into long-lived memory cells that can rapidly expand upon re-infection with the same pathogen (or a pathogen with cross-reactive epitopes). Follicular helper T (TFH) cells are important for upregulating B cell antibody production and B cell activation, as discussed in the subsequent B cell section.

B-CELLS

Like T-cells, B-cells originate from a common lymphocyte progenitor in the bone marrow before immature B-cells migrate to secondary lymphoid organs such as lymph nodes and the spleen⁶⁷. Prior to engaging with antigens and follicular T-cells in these distant organs, immature B-cells undergo changes in their receptor expression. For a proper activation by T-cells, B-cells need to acquire its coreceptors such as CD20, CD21, and CD40 which all play an important role in intracellular signaling leading to survival, differentiation and clonal expansion (more on this later). Immature B-cells leaving the bone marrow will express a BCR which has undergone similar V(D)J recombination by RAG1/2 enzymes in a similar process leading to the generation of the TCR as we discussed before^{44,45}. Similarly as with the TCR, there exists an extensive repertoire of VDJ-genes, and the different combinations generated by the double strand DNA breaks by RAG1/2 can produce more than 10¹⁸ unique BCRs⁶⁸. The B-cell receptor (BCR) consists of four polypeptide chains: two identical heavy chains and two identical light chains. Both the light and heavy chains consist of a variable domain and a constant domain. The variable domain is made up of the V(D)J genes. There are several constant domain genes for the heavy chain, including IGHD, IGHM, IGHG, IGHE, and IGHA. In the immature B-cell and the first BCRs generated in the bone marrow, the maturing B-cell utilizes primarily the IGHM locus for its initial BCR³⁷. When the immature B-cell leaves the bone marrow, it co-expresses two receptors, one containing the IGHD gene in the heavy chains and one in the IGHM gene. On the light chain side, the variable domain will be attached with either a kappa or lambda constant domain. The naive B-cell will thus express a fully assembled BCR utilizing the IGHD and IGHM gene locus when encountering the APC and follicular T-cells in the secondary lymphoid organs, and upon antigen recognition will survive, proliferate and expand. Before exiting the bone marrow, BCRs undergo testing for self-antigen recognition through positive and negative selection processes, and the BCRs that fail to pass these tests will be eliminated by cell apoptosis^{69,70}. Alternatively, if a BCR fails these tests, it can undergo receptor editing through reactivation of RAG1/2 enzymes. This is a crucial step since self-reaction can lead to autoimmune disease with detrimental host-effects, such as multiple sclerosis where antibodies bind to myelin on neurons which is thought to occur due to Epstein-barr virus infection, a process called molecular mimicry (when foreign substance share similarity with host leading to cross-reactivity)^{71,72}.



Figure 4. Fate of B-cells in the germinal centers A Illustration of the structure of the germinal center, in a light zone, dark zone and mantle zone. B-cell activation occurs in the light zone by Follicular dendritic cells (FDCs) and T follicular helper cells (TFH), and affinity maturation occurs in the dark zone. B-cells can re-enter the dark zone for further rounds of mutations (called cyclic reentry). In figure **B** shows how successful B-cells can either become memory-B cells or plasma cells. These cells have different roles for long term immunity and reside in different immune compartments. Made using biorender.com. Note only "surviving" B-cell clones are depicted, a majority of clones do not proliferate and differentiate.

B-CELL ACTIVATION

Naive B-cells upregulate chemokine receptors and migrate via chemotaxis to the lymph nodes and enter the B-cell follicles, where the B-cells will later expand upon antigen-encounter and specialized structures called germinal centers (GCs)³⁹. The germinal center is organized into two distinct zones: a light zone and a dark zone, where the former houses both follicular helper T-cells (T_{FH}) and APCs (follicular dendritic cells, FDCs) (Figure 4A)^{73,74}. FDCs attract naive B-cells through the secretion of the chemokine CXCL13. FDCs lack the ability to phagocytose the antigen immune complex, the antigen is therefore unprocessed and not presented as digested peptides to B-cells (as in the case of T-cells)⁷⁵. The antigens will be displayed as immune complexes, by being bound by "natural opsonins" such as antibodies and complement protein (C3). The antibody-antigen complex will bind to CD32b (which is a low-affinity Fc-receptor for the IgG class of antibodies, Fc-) on FDCs73 . Furthermore, the complement-deposited antigen complex will be bound by complement receptor 1 and 2 (CR1-2), CD21 and CD35 respectively. The FDCs can store these antigens without processing them for a long time in endosomal compartments, with great importance for increasing antibody affinity (as we will discuss later)⁷⁶. When encountering the FDCs antigen-complex, the corresponding BCR will initiate binding to the antigen. Currently, there is no consensus on a unifying model for how BCRs are triggered; three different models have been proposed (see Degn & Tolar review)⁷⁷. Irrespective of the exact process of how BCRs are triggered, the defining interaction is that of the antigen displayed on APCs with the BCR. Moreover, the B-cell receptor complex contains two co-receptors in addition to the BCR, CD79 α and CD79 β , which play a similar role as CD3 for TCRs where they enable phosphorylation of their ITAM motifs by intracellular kinases. Phosphorylation of ITAM motifs triggers an intracellular signaling cascade that facilitates APC-B-cell adhesion. The adhesion process is mediated through LFA-1 interaction with ICAM-1 on APC but also VLA4(CD49d/CD29) to VCAM-1 (CD106), cytoskeleton rearrangement allowing formation of the immunological synapse and activation of transcription factors important for survival and proliferation⁷⁸. CD19 and 21 are two co-receptors with the important function of enhancing the BCRs signaling through inhibiting degradation of the receptor, enabling prolonged signaling⁷⁹. BCRs can recognize soluble antigens; however, this interaction typically results in weaker B-cell activation compared to interactions involving clustered antigens in the cSMAC. The clustering of BCRs and antigens increases the avidity and allows even low-affinity interactions to generate a B-cell activation. This highlights the significance of the immunological synapse in enhancing antigen recognition through avidity increases by clustering of BCRantigen complexes in the cSMAC (believed to be through cytoskeleton

rearrangement similarly as with T-cells)⁸⁰. Increasing avidity through clustering allows for greater antigen recognition through BCR signaling of even lower-affinity interactions (reportedly in the microM affinity range)⁸¹. The low affinity of the BCR to the antigen can be further improved during *somatic hypermutation* (which can enhance affinities several orders) which occurs after B-cell survival and during proliferation in the dark zone of the germinal centers (more on this later).

While TCR activation leads to proliferation and survival, the BCR signaling has a dual-role where it also needs to extract the antigen physically from the APC to later display it to the follicular helper cells on MHC-II complexes ^{82,83}. BCR signaling facilitates colocalization of the actin cytoskeleton with cSMAC BCR-antigen clusters and by the help of myosin contract so the antigen is pinched off from the APC⁸⁴. Different APCs exhibit varying membrane stiffness; for example, FDCs have a higher threshold for antigen release compared to DCs⁸². Thus the bar for how low affinity the BCR can have to its antigen is raised since a weaker affinity-antigen interaction would not be able to withstand too much mechanical force (thus removing the BCRs with weak affinity). The BCR-antigen complex will subsequently be internalized in the cell in the form of an endosome. Thereafter, the endosome will be fused with a lysosome which will degrade the antigen to peptide segments that will be reallocated to the cell membrane on MHC-1 molecules. Follicular T-cells with TCRs specific for this antigen will recognize it presented on MHC class II molecules. Furthermore, the CD40 ligand (CD40L) on the T_{FH} in addition to cytokines and CD28 (binding to B7 on B-cells) will promote survival (through upregulation of anti-apoptotic transcription factors such as BCL-2), proliferation and differentiation by the now naive turned activated B-cell⁵⁴. The activated B-cell will then mature and proceed to either 3 different fates: become a short-lived plasma cell which secretes antibodies (the BCR), become a memory Bcell (independent of GC maturation) or enter the GC dark zone and undergo somatic hypermutation to alter affinity of the BCR to the antigen and then engage again with the FDCs for another cycle (cyclic reentry) of BCR-testing (a process called affinity maturation) (Figure 4A-B). In addition to these fates, activated B-cells can differentiate into plasmablasts, which are rapidly dividing antibody-secreting cells⁵⁴. These cells serve to produce the initial wave of antibody production which combats the infection in an early stage of the adaptive response. A subpopulation of these plasmablasts can further differentiate into long-lived plasma cells. Plasmablasts can be viewed as an intermediate step between these long-lived plasma cells and the activated B-cell. These cells migrate to the bone marrow (but can also migrate to the spleen and mucosal tissue) and continue to secrete high-affinity antibodies for extended periods, contributing to long-term humoral immunity (hence their name) (Figure 4B). The T-cells are heavily involved in determining which pathway the activated B-cell undergoes, where for instance the transcription factor MYC, induced by T_{FH} , is tied to differentiation into plasma cells and not memory B-cells⁸⁶.

It is worth noting that BCRs can be activated independent of T_{FH} and FDCs by directly engaging with the pathogen through PPRs, this will not lead to T_{FH} engagement since the BCR will not internalize the antigen. The T-cell independent activation by these B-cells allow for a fast and innate-immune-like initial response. These B1 B-cells differentiate into short-lived plasma cells that secrete IgM antibodies, which are crucial for immediate defense against pathogens but typically lack the affinity maturation seen in conventional B2 cells. These antibodies, due to the lack of SHM, can have lower affinity to their antigens³⁷. However it is entirely possible that germline antibodies (without SHM which have only undergone VDJ-recombination) can have nanomolar affinity to epitopes⁸⁷.

CLASS-SWITCH RECOMBINATION

While the variable domain of the B-cell receptor (BCR) is crucial for receptor activation, the constant domain significantly influences the effector functions of antibodies. After BCR activation, B-cells undergo class-switch recombination (CSR) where the constant domain of the receptor can be switched from IGHD and IGHM to IGHG, IGHA or IGHE⁸⁸. Immunoglobulins consist of several classes and subclasses, each determined by the constant domain of the heavy chain. It was previously believed that CSR occurred in the dark zone; however, recent findings indicate that CSR takes place in the light zone following BCR activation⁸⁸. The CSR process is heavily influenced by T-cell signaling through CD40 ligand (CD40L). In previous work various cytokines have been implicated in modulating the expression of different classes of antibodies. In humans for instance, IL-4 secretion by Th2 cells induces a switch to IgG4 and IgE antibodies, while IgG3 and IgG1 can be induced by IL-10 by Th1 cells and IL-21 from $T_{\rm FH}$ cells⁸⁹.

The process of CSR depends on an enzyme called Activation-induced Cytidine Deaminase (AID) which initiates the excision of the exons proceeding the gene of interest⁹⁰. AID expression is upregulated by cytokines such as IL-21 and by B and T-cell interaction (through CD40-CD40L)⁹¹. BCR-antigen engagement also increases AID expression. AID induces both single and double-strand breaks for this to occur in the conserved region upstream of the immunoglobulin constant domain genes. Immunoglobulin constant domain genes are organized downstream of the variable gene segments and follow a specific order: IgM, IgD, IgG (IgG3, IgG1, IgG2 and IgG4), IgA (IgA1-2) and IgE. For example, if a BCR switches to

an IgG3 constant domain, the upstream IgM and IgD exons will be excised through AID activity. This excision results in double-strand breaks that allow downstream variable genes to be joined with the IgG3 constant domain gene through non-homologous end joining. Important to note, once a constant domain locus has been excised the B-cell cannot express that particular class or subclass of antibody anymore. The B-cell which has undergone CSR will either become a GC-independent memory B-cell, a short-lived plasma cell which secretes this new IgG3 antibody (in our example) or enter the dark zone for further BCR editing via somatic hypermutation, an important process for affinity maturation; these cells are typically referred to as GC-dependent B-cells)³⁷.



Figure 5. Somatic hypermutation in the germinal center A Illustrates the CDR domains in the VDJ, where the CDR3 is more diverse, being composed of the V, D and J- gene respectively. Somatic hypermutation is induced by AID enzyme activity which induces a mutation by changing Cytosine to Uracil which triggers repair mechanisms which are more error-prone than in other cell-lines leading to permanent mutations as illustrated in B-C. Made using biorender.com.

Somatic hypermutation

While GC-independent B-cells possess antigen specificity, their BCRs typically exhibit weaker affinities compared to those selected by follicular dendritic cells (FDCs) after undergoing somatic hypermutation (SHM) in the dark zone⁵⁵. In one

study, focusing on BCRs against a known HIV antigen, the authors showed that the BCR affinity towards the HIV antigen of interest was in the micromolar range⁷⁸. Contrary to those B-cells, the memory B-cells which have undergone SHM had affinity of up to 100-fold, enhancing their ability to activate the B-cell and internalize the antigen. The process of SHM has been shown to be dependent on the enzyme AID (Figure 5A). Due to the increased mutational rate in the variable genes (up to 10⁶ times compared to other genes) it is vital that only these genes are targeted by the AID enzyme to avoid inducing B-cell malignancies⁹². It has been shown that there exists a hot-spot for mutational frequencies in the variable genes, particularly around 150 base-pairs downstream of the transcriptional promoter of the variable genes to 1-2 thousand base pairs. The constant domain of the BCR is not affected by SHM. It is not entirely established how AID induces mutations, but a model which has been proposed is that during transcription, the double stranded DNA will be unwinded to single-stranded DNA, which will enable binding of a transcription factor called Replication Protein A (RPA)⁹³. RPA binds to single-stranded DNA and facilitates AID's deamination of cytosine into uracil (Figure 5B). From there, the U-G mismatch will activate several enzyme systems such as DNA polymerase (which will convert the U-G to a T-A instead). Base-excision repair enzymes remove uracil from U-G mismatches, while mismatch repair enzymes (MMR) may introduce additional mutations or insert A-T nucleotide pairs (Figure 5C). In summary, the SHM process is unique to the BCR, with variable domain genes serving as hotspots for AID activity, leading to mutations that may enhance affinity. The variable domain genes are a hotspot for the activity of AID to insert mutations which due to the activity of more error-prone repair enzymes creates new sequences with potentially stronger affinities (a clear majority of mutations are not affinityenhancing). After undergoing SHM in the dark zone, these BCRs re-engage with FDCs in the light zone to test their new affinities; this feedback mechanism is commonly referred to as affinity maturation.

AFFINITY MATURATION

After exiting the dark zone, activated germinal center (GC)-dependent B-cell clones undergo proliferation and diversification into subclones, with varying BCRs as a result of SHM (which occurred in the DZ)⁹⁴. Through the process of cyclic reentry they will migrate towards the light zone and engage the FDCs with their BCRs. The GC B-cell differs in several important aspects compared to the naive B-cell. Firstly, it has been suggested that the naive B-cell is less dependent on T_{FH} cells for survival due to tonic signaling of the BCRs which promotes survival. For GC B-cells, they are more dependent on CD40-CD40L and paracrine cytokine release by T_{FH} cells to survive and further differentiate ⁹⁵. Secondly, the affinity of the BCR to the

displayed antigen differs from the naive B-cells due to SHM. While the FDCs have higher stiffness and require stronger mechanical pull (ability to internalize antigens displayed by FDCs) than other antigen-presenting cells, as discussed previously, evidence suggests that the GC B-cell exerts a stronger mechanical pull than the naive B-cell once bound to the antigen^{80,82}. In addition, while the BCR-antigen complex is centralized in the immunological synapse by the naive B-cell, the GC Bcell has been shown to push the antigen into peripheral clusters of the immunological synapse. These factors generate an even greater constraint on the BCR-antigen binding strength and thus select for higher-affinity BCRs (which successfully internalize more antigen)³⁹. It has been theorized that the BCR affinity to antigen correlates with the amount internalized and later displayed to the TCRs on MHC-complexes⁹⁶. The overall strength of the engagement by T_{FH} and GC Bcells influences diverse transcription factors which determine the GC B-cells fate. It has been suggested that high-affinity BCRs will promote stronger T_{FH} help (cytokine secretion), and push cell-fate towards becoming high-affinity antibody producing long-lived plasma cells^{37,54,94}. While intermediate T_{FH} engagement will promote cells to become GC B-cells which stay in the germinal centers and low engagers will drive the cell to become a lower affinity memory B-cell. Furthermore, a GC B-cell can reenter the dark zone for further rounds of SHM as part of the cyclic reentry. Of course many B-cells have been producing defective BCRs and not highaffinity ones, and they are eliminated through apoptosis. The interaction with T_{FH} is dependent on several variables such as BCR affinity to antigen, TCR affinity to antigen, density of antigens presented by the FDCs and cytokine expression by the T-cells (IL-21 for instance which induces AID expression leading to more SHM). Taken together while much is unknown regarding the processes occurring in the GCs, more evidence has emerged showing that the affinities of the BCRs correlate with their differentiation into becoming high-affinity long-lived plasma cells or memory B-cells (independent and dependent of the T-cell help respectively) with lower affinities.

DEPTH AND BREADTH, GENERATING A SPECIFIC IMMUNE RESPONSE BUT ALLOWING FLEXIBILITY FOR FUTURE ADVERSARIES

Recent technological advances in single-cell sequencing have enabled scientists to study the B cell receptor (BCR) repertoire following infection and vaccination. What has been shown is that, generally, B-cells which become long-lived plasma cells (through strong T_{FH} help) have increased affinity for its epitope compared corresponding memory B-cells^{37,54}. These cells are responsible for antibody production and secretion, thus providing a strong presence of anti-pathogen antibodies in blood and mucosal areas. The high-affinity binding of these antibodies

to their antigens (reflecting the BCR-affinity as discussed above) is a precise attack at the pathogen, where a future encounter will enable swift elimination (generally). However, what if a pathogen undergoes mutational changes in the epitopes targeted by long-lived plasma cells? Or what if an emerging pathogen, belonging to the same family as a previous one, presents differences in the antigen of interest (such as SARS-CoV-2 variants)? In these scenarios, the lower-affinity BCRs of memory B cells become valuable. It is in this context where the loweraffinity BCRs of the memory cells are put to good use. Their less stringent specificity allows for broader epitope recognition. The memory B-cells will be recalled and re-enter the lymph nodes where they will recognize the mutated pathogens protein (or new pathogen with similar protein) on the FDCs. These memory B-cells who recognize the foreign antigen can be selected to undergo SHM and CSR and become long-lived plasma cells capable of producing high-affinity antibodies specific for the new threat. Of course, naive B cells can also mount a novel response against this new threat. Therefore, low-affinity antibodies shouldn't be discounted, as they provide versatility in recognizing emerging pathogens or mutated variants, allowing time for a new, adapted immune response to develop. The existence of plasma cells and memory B cells thus provides both depth and breadth in the humoral immune response. The next section will explore the biology of antibodies in greater detail.

Author comment on the chapter:

Having discussed the key players in the immune response to bacterial and viral pathogens, the next chapter will focus on the biology of antibodies. However, it is worth noting that, despite belonging to different subfields of Immunology, there are notable similarities in how T-cells function and are activated by dendritic cells, and how antibodies activate effector cells (such as the formation of the phagocytosis *cup*). In the immunological synapse, avidity interactions (the clustering of receptors with ligands) and biophysical factors, such as the segregation of inhibitory proteins, are essential for efficient activation. Similarly, the binding of a single antibody to its antigen does not trigger sufficient activation or response. As we will explore, antibodies are highly dynamic proteins that require cooperation to fully activate Fc-mediated effector functions, such as phagocytosis, complement activation, and antibody-dependent cellular cytotoxicity. However, theory does not always align with real-world experimental data, so it is crucial to maintain an open mind, because sometimes the theory needs revision. As we will discuss in the opening section of the next chapter, the classical dogma that antibody variable and constant domains are independent and do not influence each other has faced a lot of challenges, of which findings in Paper 1 and 2 also contributed. As Einstein once said, 'The more I learn, the more I realize how much I don't know.'"

CHAPTER II ANTIBODIES AND THEIR FC-RECEPTORS

A MODEL CHALLENGED- VARIABLE AND CONSTANT DOMAIN DEPENDENCE?

Human antibodies are Y-shaped proteins which consist of two identical heavy and light chains. The variable domain is unique to each antibody, generated via random V(D)J recombination and further diversified by somatic hypermutation (SHM)⁹⁷. The variable domain contains complementarity-determining regions (CDRs) that determine antigen specificity. In contrast, the constant domain is encoded by a fixed set of genes, which are neither randomly combined nor mutated during SHM. There are five families of genes encoding the constant domain: IgD, IgM, IgG, IgA, and IgE, with IgG and IgA containing four and two genes, respectively. The constant domain is divided into subdomains: CH1 (present in the Fab domain, adjacent to the variable domain), CH2, and CH3 (constituting the Fc domain). The Fab domain (fragment antigen-binding) is formed by the entire light chain (variable and constant domains) and parts of the heavy chain (variable domain and CH1). The Fab and Fc domains are linked by a hinge region, encoded by the constant domain (**Figure 6A**).

Although the structure of antibodies is well-characterized, recent research challenges the traditional view of independent variable and constant domain function. Historically, it was believed that the constant domain did not affect the variable domain's antigen-binding, and conversely, the variable domain did not influence FcR interactions or other Fc-mediated activities⁹⁸. In other words, the constant domain was thought to have no effect on the variable domain's binding to its antigen, nor did the variable domain influence Fc-FcR interactions or other Fcmediated activities. This view has been challenged by both older and more recent observations, revealing a more nuanced picture where the constant domain influences the binding-properties of the variable domain, and the variable domain influences the constant domain's ability to interact with FcR⁹⁹. Research has shown that changes in the constant domain can enhance or reduce the affinity of the variable domain for its antigen¹⁰⁰⁻¹⁰², indicating a more integrated mechanism of action than previously thought. When studying the importance of constant domain for antibody function, researchers have engineered monoclonal antibodies to express different constant domains (while not altering the variable domain). These studies showed that antigen-binding affinity was increased or decreased, suggesting

that the constant domain can indeed influence how the variable domain engages the antigen^{100–102}. In summary, antibodies are highly dynamic proteins, and a revised model is needed to understand their function, accounting for the interplay between variable and constant domains. Class-switch recombination adds further diversity to both the functional and binding properties of antibodies, and future research should investigate these mechanisms. This thesis will address this issue in greater detail, particularly in the discussion of papers 1 and 2.



Figure 6. Schematic overview of the different domains of IgG antibodies. A Illustration depicting the Fab and Fc domains, highlighting the respective subdomains within. The Fab domain consists of the entire light chain (variable and constant domains), the variable domain of the heavy chain, and the constant domain 1 of the heavy chain. The Fab domain is linked to the Fc domain by the hinge region. The Fc domain consists of constant domains 2 and 3. Note: Figure **B** illustrates the differences in hinge length and the number of disulfide bonds in the hinge for the four IgG subclasses. For IgG3, one common allotype with a 62-amino acid hinge is depicted. Created with BioRender.

THE IMMUNOGLOBULIN G SUBCLASSES - AN OVERVIEW

While IgD and IgM are present initially in the infection, upon naive B cell activation in the GC, B cells can undergo CSR to encode a BCR with an IgG constant domain. The IgG family consists of four subclasses encoded by separate genes: IgG1, IgG2, IgG3, and IgG4⁹⁷. These genes encode three subdomains, designated constant domains 1, 2, and 3 (as discussed previously). The Fab and Fc domains are linked

by a hinge region, also encoded by the constant domain exon, spanning from the end of CH1 to the beginning of CH2 (Figure 6A-B).

Of particular interest to this thesis, the hinge region of IgG3 is longer than those of IgG1, IgG2, and IgG4. IgG1 has a hinge region 15 amino acids long, while IgG2 and IgG4 each have a 12-amino acid hinge region. Several different allotypes of IgG3 exist, but the minimum number of amino acids in the IgG3 hinge is 32, and the maximum and most common is 62 amino acids ⁹⁷. Hinge length is known to influence IgG antibody flexibility. Additionally, inter-hinge disulfide bridges are associated with rigidity/flexibility, with the IgG2 subclass containing up to 4 interchain disulfide bridges, making it more rigid than IgG1 and IgG4 (which have two). IgG3, depending on its allotype, has between 11 and 15 disulfide bridges in its hinge region. Hinge length significantly influences antibody flexibility, with the order being IgG3 > IgG1 > IgG4 > IgG2. The evidence for this order of flexibility originates from a well-cited study in the late 1990s by Roux and colleagues¹⁰³. This study used electron microscopy to examine the flexibility of different IgG subclasses in solution. They defined flexibility by both the angle between the Fab arms (Fab-Fab angle) and the angle between the Fab and Fc domains (Fab-Fc angle). The authors reported differences, measured as the standard deviation of the angle, in the order of a few degrees: IgG3 $(\pm 36^{\circ}) >$ IgG2 $(\pm 32^{\circ}) =$ /> IgG1 $(\pm 30^{\circ}) >$ IgG4 (±25°). These numbers reflect only the calculated smallest Fab-Fc angles, since there are two Fabs, and a large Fab-Fc angle for one Fab arm correlates with a smaller Fab-Fc angle in the other arm. Therefore, studying the overall Fab-Fc angle might lead to angles that cancel each other out when averaging. Similarly, flexibility measured as a Fab-Fab angle was consistent with the order of flexibility: IgG3 $(\pm 52^\circ) > IgG1 \ (\pm 43^\circ) > IgG4 \ (\pm 39^\circ) > IgG2 \ (\pm 32^\circ)$. When discussing antibody flexibility, it is important to specify the type of flexibility: that of the Fab arms relative to each other, or that of the Fab arms relative to the Fc domain. This distinction has important implications, as increased Fab-Fab flexibility might facilitate cross-linking of antigens while altered Fab-Fc flexibility might modulate interactions with FcRs for efficient clustering. Additionally, non-Fc functions such as neutralization can be modulated by manipulating the upper hinge region connecting both Fabs¹⁰⁴. As shown in Paper II of this thesis, this is a complex issue, and nuance is critical when discussing antibody flexibility.

Significant functional differences exist between the IgG subclasses. Specifically, IgG1 and IgG3 are classically described as being more pro-inflammatory because they have higher affinity for the Fc- γ receptors (CD64, CD32, and CD16) ⁹⁷. Additionally, they activate the classical complement pathway much more efficiently than IgG2, while IgG4 cannot activate it at all. These functional differences are

attributed to amino acids in constant domain 2, the subdomain that engages with FcRs and the complement protein C1q (which assembles the C1 complex, initiating the classical complement pathway) 97 .

Furthermore, a glycosylation site within the CH2 domain is heavily involved in FcR engagement, making glycoengineering (altering glycans in the antibody) a popular approach to modulate monoclonal antibody function (discussed further in the next chapter) ⁹⁷. Lower in the CH3 domain, amino acid motifs bind to the human neonatal Fc receptor (FcRn), which recycles human IgG upon internalization in the cell, influencing IgG half-life in blood.Human IgG3 contains an arginine instead of a histidine at residue 435, which shortens its half-life to 7 days compared to 21 days for IgG1, IgG2, and IgG4. Interestingly, allotypes of IgG3 exist with the H435 variant, and these antibodies have half-lives like those of the other subclasses¹⁰⁵. For more details on IgG subclasses, please find the excellent review by Vidarsson et al ⁹⁷. Understanding these subclasses is crucial for natural immunity and post-vaccination responses against various pathogens. In subsequent sections, we will explore the affinities of these subclasses for human Fc- γ receptors.

ANTBODIES AND THEIR FC-RECEPTORS- IT TAKES TWO TO DANCE

As described previously, the molecular affinities of human $Fc-\gamma$ receptors vary depending on the IgG subclass and the specific receptor. IgG1 and IgG3 have higher affinity for CD64, CD32, and CD16 compared to IgG2 and IgG4 (the latter cannot bind to CD64, has moderate affinity for CD32, and only weakly binds to CD16)^{106,107}. Affinity is quantified by the dissociation constant (KD), an equilibrium constant that reflects the ratio of bound (antibody-antigen complex) to unbound antibody and antigen. Therefore, a high concentration of unbound antibody and antigen indicates a high KD, reflecting lower affinity (as the antibody-antigen complex dissociates rapidly). KD is typically expressed in molar units¹⁰⁸. A lower K_D for an antibody to a FcR is therefore a high-affinity binding, where nanomolar K_D values are classified as high and micromolar (10⁻⁶M) is classified as low-affinity binding. However, only CD64 can be efficiently activated by monomeric IgG, i.e., without forming an immune complex with the antigen. CD64 is therefore commonly referred to as the high-affinity Fc- γ receptor, with K_D value in the 10⁻⁸ to 10⁻¹⁰ molar (M) for IgG1 and IgG3. IgG1 and IgG3 exhibit micromolar affinities to CD16 and 32 (10⁻⁶M) ^{97 109}.

In addition to subclass differences, allelic variants of human Fc receptors can also influence binding affinities. It is worth noting that there are allelic variants of human FcR which have slightly higher or lower affinities for the human IgG subclasses, such as the H131 variant of CD32 (a histidine in the place of an arginine) which binds better to IgG2 for instance¹¹⁰. Similarly, another example is CD16a which has an allelic variant V158 which has been shown to be a high-affinity receptor to IgG3 since it can be activated by monomeric IgG3. Furthermore, allotypes of human IgG subclasses can also influence the affinities for Fc-receptors, which is particularly true for human IgG3 which has more allotypes than the rest combined ⁹⁷.

There are three subfamilies of CD32 (CD32a, CD32b, CD32c) and two subtypes of CD16 (CD16a, CD16b) ⁹⁷. Among these, CD32b serves as an inhibitory receptor, while CD32a promotes immune activation. CD16a/b are activating receptors that mediate effector functions such as ADCC. Differential expression of these receptors on immune cells modulates their responses; for example, myeloid phagocytes express high levels of CD64, whereas NK cells predominantly express CD16a. These cells also express CD32a/b and CD16a (and some have CD16b)¹¹¹. While neutrophils only express small amounts of CD64 (but can be upregulated by interferon- γ release) but mainly CD16a/b and CD32a which allows the cells to exert ADCC and ADCP. NK-cells only express CD16a and some CD32c and mediate only ADCC ¹¹¹.

The pre-existing affinities of different IgG subclasses for their respective receptors significantly influence their ability to induce effector functions in these cells ¹¹¹. For example, IgG1 and IgG3 are more potent inducers of ADCC and ADCP because they have higher affinities for CD16a/b compared to IgG2 and IgG4. However, it has been shown that the affinity of antibodies to Fc-receptors is also modulated by the formation of an immune complex, the valency of the immune complex (the number of antibody molecules bound to an antigen) has been linked to increased binding and activation¹¹². Efficient activation and binding of lower-affinity FcRs depend significantly on the size and valency of the immune complex ¹¹². This is because the high concentration of IgG in the blood necessitates a high activation threshold, which minimizes unwanted immune activation that could be detrimental to the host ¹¹². However, a key question is what determines the differences in affinity among these FcRs? This question will be addressed in the section below, focusing on the molecular mechanisms which have implications for Paper II and IV in this thesis.



Figure 7. IgG and Fc-receptor binding of CD16. A Depicts CD16 binding to the D1 and D2 domains located in the upper part of the CH2 domain, specifically in the lower hinge region. The glycans in the CH2 domain of the IgG-Fc are illustrated protruding into the horse-shaped cavity "stabilizing" the interaction. **B** illustrates the crystal structure (PDB: 57CF)¹¹³ of IgG-Fc bound to CD16, which is represented in a simplified form in **A** In purple is the D1 and D2 domain of CD16 while the green and red colors illustrate the two respective heavy chains of the IgG molecule and the glycans are illustrated as well. Made using biorender.com.

FC-Γ RECEPTORS ENGAGE HUMAN IGG PREDOMINANTLY THROUGH THEIR LOWER HINGE REGION

In the early 2000s significant advances were made in understanding how antibodies exert their effects¹¹⁴. Crystallization studies of antibodies with various Fc- γ receptors revealed that IgG antibodies bind towards the N-terminal domain of the respective receptors in the start of the protein), referred to as immunoglobulin-like domains 1 and 2 (**Figure 7A-B**)¹¹⁵. CD64 has an additional third domain unlike the low-affinity CD16 and CD32, and it has been shown to indirectly be involved by stabilizing the interaction of D1-D2 with the Fc of IgGs¹¹⁵. The primary engagement occurs between these domains and the lower hinge region at the start of the CH2 domain of IgG antibodies (specifically residues cysteine 228 to proline 238). The interaction is dependent on salt-bridges and hydrogen bond formation predominantly in the lower hinge region for all three Fc-receptors (although interreceptor differences are prominent)¹¹⁵.

In addition to structural interactions, glycosylation of IgG antibodies is crucial for enhancing Fc-receptor binding¹¹⁶. They stabilize the interaction by filling in the

cavity created between the two CH2 domains. This is theorized to stabilize the mobile lower hinge regions into a confirmation which is preferable for efficient Fc-receptor engagement ¹¹⁶. Nevertheless, through manipulation of the lower hinge region and other engagement sites with receptors, one can enhance or decrease the activities of these receptors. Interestingly, *Streptococcus pyogenes* utilizes the dependency of lower-hinge interaction with FcR action by directly cleaving the lower hinge of antibodies by an enzyme called IdeS, thereby potentially evading the humoral adaptive response^{117,118}. Thus these conserved binding patterns of human IgG to their Fc-receptors can be taken advantage of by pathogens to evade adaptive immune response. This will be discussed further in **Chapter 5**. How then do the binding of FcR to the IgG-opsonized complex lead to antibody effector function? This is an intriguing subject, which we will dive deeper into in the context of antibody dependent phagocytosis in the following section.

CLUSTERING AND CROSS-LINKING OF FC RECEPTORS ARE ESSENTIAL FOR PHAGOCYTOSIS

Phagocyte engagement with an invading pathogen during phagocytosis shares similarities with the immunological synapse¹¹⁹. For a phagocytic cup to be formed (see **Chapter 1** for details on phagocytosis) there needs to be intracellular signaling which coordinates the actin cytoskeleton to form a pseudopod which surrounds the target. Unlike other receptors, CD32a contains an ITAM motif in its intracellular domain and undergoes phosphorylation upon ligand binding. However, CD16 and CD64 require an adaptor protein, known as Fc- γ subunit to achieve this ¹¹⁹. The initial phosphorylation is done by the Src Kinase family which leads to an intracellular signaling cascade. These signals lead to the rearrangement of the cytoskeleton leading to the formation of the phagocytic cup and internalization of the phagocyte ¹¹⁹. It is worth noting that not all Fc-receptors that bind IgGs lead to function, since activation is a multi-step process involving several other players and distinct mechanisms. Furthermore, the presence of CD32b on the effector cell would also influence the amount of cell activation given its role as an inhibitory receptor ¹¹⁹.

What is then required for efficient activation of the Fc-receptors? Similarities exist with the immunological synapse, where clustering of T-cell receptors (TCRs) in the central supramolecular activation cluster (cSMAC) is a strategy to co-localize signals and physically remove phosphatases such as CD45⁵⁹. It has been shown that in the phagocytic synapse, Fc-receptors need to be clustered and phosphorylated for efficient phagocytosis which happens through several interacting mechanisms. One, is that multiple IgG's need to be present closely on an immune complex¹²⁰ which enables binding of multiple receptors at the same time, known as cross-linking¹²¹.

Cross-linking has been proposed to be enhanced when Fc-receptors are mobile in the membrane ¹²², which can be modulated by previous IgG-FcR activation¹²³. However, generally the FcRs are much less mobile and fluid in the cell-membrane than the TCRs and cannot concentrate into the same high concentrations as TCRs in the cSMACs¹²⁴. This can be compensated however through integrin activation by complement receptor 3 and 4 (CR3 and CR4). Integrins promote CD45 removal from microclusters¹²⁵. CD45 is a phosphatase that inhibits Fc-receptor signaling through dephosphorylation. Integrins are activated by Fc-y receptor signaling (inside-out signaling)¹²⁶ which subsequently can lead to both pathogen binding (some integrins such as CR3 and CR4 exhibit a promiscuous binding profile to diverse proteins and structures) but also removal of CD45 away from the Fcreceptor microcluster ¹²⁵. The former increases the total avidity of the phagocytetarget interaction (similarly as with T-cells and DCs) which is important given that Fc-receptors are contained in sparse numbers in distant microclusters and thus serving as a bridge between them. The extent of the FcR mobility¹²⁷ in cell membranes, and its significance for ADCP, is being investigated and it is not fully understood how much mobility they do exhibit. For instance, it has recently been suggested that prior IgG priming on macrophages can increase ADCP in subsequent encounters (after 1 hour) through increased FcR mobility ¹²³.

Several of the above mentioned mechanisms are independent of antibodies. However, the intrinsic nature of the antibody constant domain and its epitope are crucial factors for initial antibody-FcR engagement, cross-linking and function. While we have discussed molecular affinities to FcR and how subclass differences exist, other important aspects warrants attention. Of note, it has been shown that the distance of the epitope to the cell-surface of the phagocyte directly influences the phagocytosis efficiency. Bakalar et al elegantly demonstrated that antigen heights above 10 nanometer from the cell-surface impairs ADCP¹²⁸. A mechanism behind this decrease ADCP is the removal of CD45. CD45 has a large extracellular domain and is sterically removed when the opsonized target is closer to the phagocyte surface similarly as with the immunological synapse between T-cells and DCs (where it is removed to the distal SMAC)¹²⁹. Having discussed in detail about how antibodies activate their receptors, and the importance of clustering and formation of phagocytic synapse for efficient phagocytosis, we can now end the chapter by an overview of other antibody Fab and Fc-mediated functions.



Figure 8. Overview on antibody effector functions. Figure 8 illustrates various Fab and Fc-mediated functions of antibodies. In **A** is an example of neutralization of SARS-CoV-2 virus where the spike protein cannot interact with human ACE2-receptor for viral entry due to blocking by a neutralizing antibody. **B** illustrates a diverse set of functions mediated by the Fc domain of the antibody, with examples in a SARS-CoV-2 setting. Image is taken from review Trends In immunology by Izadi and Nordenfelt¹³⁰.

ANTIBODY DEPENDENT CELLULAR CYTOTOXICITY

ADCC can be mediated by macrophages, neutrophils and NK-cells. NK cells are believed to mediate a significant portion of ADCC due to the absence of the inhibitory CD32b Fc receptor and the presence of activating receptors¹³¹. The ADCC activity in turn is mediated by antibody binding to CD16a present on NK-cells (**Figure 8**). Several crucial steps must occur for antibody-mediated killing of infected or tumor cells. Firstly, the NK-cell needs to anchor itself to the target cell which has antibodies bound to it. As with the T-cell immunological synapse, the NK-cell needs to form stable interactions with the target cell, which is thought to be mediated by integrins such as LFA-1¹³². Subsequently, the NK-cells will then receive an input of signals through various receptors to perceive if the cell is a friend or a target needed to be eliminated. In the example of viral infections, MHC-1 molecules of infected cells are often downregulated²⁸. This has the effect of NK-cells not recognizing the infected host-cell as a friend and proceeds with elimination through lytic content that induce apoptosis. There are other activating receptors

which the NK-cell expresses which can recognize detrimental changes in host cells (such as when a host-cell has become a cancer-cell). Similarly, the NK-cells can recognize opsonized foreign antigens on the surface of infected cells through their CD16a receptor. Subclass is a crucial factor for ADCC, where IgG1 and IgG3 have been shown to be stronger inducers of ADCC than IgG2 and IgG4 through increased affinity for CD16¹³³. Similarly, glycosylation of IgGs also strongly influences affinity to CD16 (one prime example is afucosylation of the CH2 domain)¹³⁴. However as discussed before, the interactions with CD16 is primarily thought to be mediated by formation of localized and clustered immune complexes on the target cell. This process leads to efficient clustering and phosphorylation of receptors, analogous to what occurs in the phagocytic synapse and other immune synapses, resulting in cell activation¹³⁵. Through antibody ligation of NK-cells to target-cell viral and bacterial (for intracellular bacteria) can be cleared with the release of cytotoxic granules (containing perforins and granzymes) by the cell.

COMPLEMENT ACTIVATION - THE CLASSICAL WAY

While the subject of ADCP and ADCC has been already covered, we have not mentioned other important downstream functions of antibody binding to antigen. One important function is the activation of the classical complement pathway, which occurs through the binding of C1q to the CH2 domain (Figure 8)⁹⁷. IgG4 has a very low capacity of activating this cascade, and IgG2 does so much less potently than IgG1 and IgG3¹³⁶. IgG3 has extensive allotypes, more than 13 known ones, and it could be that some allotypes are more potent inducers of C1q activation than others¹³⁷. While both IgG1 and IgG3 are more pro-inflammatory than IgG2 and IgG4⁹⁷, determining which of these two subclasses is the superior activator of this pathway requires further research. Of note, for efficient C1g binding, avidity plays a large role, where many IgG Fcs are needed to activate C1q^{138,139}. This is because Clq has approximately 10⁻⁴ Molar in affinity to IgG Fc, and upon antibody clustering on antigens the avidity is strong enough for binding, where hexamer formation (ratio of six antibodies per C1q) has been shown to be the crucial. Recent evidence has shown that IgG3, due to its extended hinge region, can better initiate hexamer-formation and activation of C1q suggesting that it in fact is better than IgG1 in this regard¹⁴⁰. Albeit more extensive work is needed.

Several downstream effects occur upon C1q binding to the antibody. The generation of C3a and C5a is important for recruiting leukocytes to the site of infection through chemotaxis, enhancing their pro-inflammatory activity (e.g., increased ROS production and cytokine production by macrophages, and more efficient phagocytosis)^{141,142}. Furthermore an important function of the classical complement

pathway is also opsonization. The cascade generates C4b and C3b, which are deposited on pathogens bound by IgGs. These complement proteins, particularly C3b, promote phagocytosis by platelets, neutrophils, and macrophages through complement receptors on these cells. CD35 (CR1) is one high-affinity receptor for these proteins, and is expressed on all peripheral blood cells. It is highly expressed by FDCs and consequently binds the immune complex for antigen display during BCR selection and activation as discussed in **Chapter 1**. Furthermore, CD21 (CR2) is another receptor which promotes phagocytosis, but it only recognizes subproducts of C3b which have been cleaved by Factor I (iC3bC3d/C3dg)¹⁴³. Integrins are also involved in opsonization where the integrins complement receptor 3 (CR3) and 4 (CR4) recognize C3b and promote phagocytosis. CR3 and CR4 are involved in the immunological synapse and leukocyte migration, playing a multifunctional role in the innate and adaptive immune responses.

Finally, the complement cascade culminates in the formation of the membrane attack complex (MAC) with a multitude of complement proteins which create a pore in the lipid membrane of the pathogen leading to termination by lysis ^{141,142}. Taken together, upon binding of an IgG antibody to a pathogen can lead to a synergistic elimination of the invader by opsonization (through Fc-receptors and complement receptors 1-4) and enhanced pro-inflammatory activity of leukocytes. Thus it is not surprising that the weaker activation or non-existing activation of the classical complement pathway by IgG2 and IgG4 respectively makes these two subclasses less inflammatory. However, aberrant activation of the classical complement pathway and other proinflammatory systems can lead to detrimental effects on the host. This will be highlighted in **Chapter 5-6** when we discuss hyperinflammation in Streptococcal and COVID-19 patients. It is also noteworthy that certain pathogens (specifically Streptococcus pyogenes) have evolved virulence proteins capable of counteracting IgG-induced activation of the complement pathway and IgG-independent complement pathway¹⁴⁴, underscoring their significance in eliminating these pathogens.

INTRACELLULAR ANTIBODY DEPENDENT NEUTRALIZATION

One quite recently discovered immune mechanism by antibodies is the intracellular defense against non-enveloped viruses and intracellular bacteria through the intracellular receptor TRIM21 by engagement of antibody Fc (**Figure 8**)¹⁴⁵. TRIM21 preferentially binds IgG at the CH2-3 interface (with subnanomolar affinity)¹⁴⁶, its binding to but IgA and IgM is less well-documented¹⁴⁷. Interestingly, TRIM21 ubiquitinates viral virions, targeting them for proteasomal degradation. This process prevents viral replication and aids in clearing infected cells. In addition

to facilitating degradation, TRIM21 also activates signaling pathways that lead to pro-inflammatory responses. TRIM21 induces NF-κB, AP-1 and IRF signaling pathway which leads to production of pro-inflammatory cytokines, upregulation of intracellular and extracellular receptors important for immune defense (such as MHC molecules)¹⁴⁷. Through virion degradation, TRIM21 exposes viral nucleic acids to intracellular pattern recognition receptors, triggering additional antiviral mechanisms (discussed in **Chapter 1**). The effects by antibodies through TRIM21 have been called intracellular antibody dependent neutralization or degradation, and the excellent review by Rhodes and Isenberg can be read for more information¹⁴⁵.

NETOSIS

Neutrophils have the unique ability to expel their DNA as chromatin structures called neutrophil extracellular traps (NETs), resembling nets cast by a fisherman (as discussed in **Chapter 1**)¹⁴⁸. NETs can have antimicrobial effects on the pathogen but also detrimental effects to the host^{21,149}. The fate of neutrophils during NETosis varies; while it often results in cell death, some studies suggest that neutrophils may survive for several hours under certain conditions. While NETs have antimicrobial effects, excessive NETosis has been implicated in inflammatory diseases. In COVID-19 patients, excessive NETosis in lungs was linked to severe acute respiratory syndrome and detrimental clinical outcome¹⁵⁰. Immune complexes formed by IgG and antigens can induce NET formation via CD16b engagement on neutrophils (**Figure 8**). Interestingly, polyclonal IgA has been shown to be a more potent inducer of NETosis than polyclonal IgGs through Fc-alpha receptor I¹⁵¹. These processes highlight the multifaceted roles of antibodies in immune defense mechanisms.

AGGLUTINATION - FACILITATES BACTERIAL AGGREGATION FOR ENHANCED PHAGOCYTOSIS

Apart from cross-linking Fc-receptors, antibodies can cross-link bacteria into larger clumps through binding of antigens¹⁵². This is an important process for prevention of adhesion to host-surfaces and colonization. While IgA is primarily responsible for mucosal immunity, circulating IgG and IgM play significant roles during systemic infections. In mucosal areas, IgA is initially present at high concentrations and plays a key role in preventing bacterial colonization ¹⁵². While IgA dominates mucosal immunity, systemic infections recruit circulating IgG and IgM which can disseminate into inflamed mucosal areas and aggregate invading bacterial pathogens and reduce colonization (albeit less efficient than when having prophylactic protection by preexisting IgA). Furthermore, it has been shown that aggregated

bacteria can be more readily phagocytosed by immune cells ¹⁵³, through complement and Fc-mediated uptake¹⁵⁴ processes primarily driven by IgG and IgM. Beyond facilitating aggregation and phagocytosis antibodies also directly neutralize pathogens by blocking their ability to infect host cells.

NEUTRALIZATION

While we have discussed the Fc-mediated function of antibodies, antigen-binding per se can lead to protective immune functions. These mechanisms include neutralization of toxins, enzymes and inhibiting effects of membrane bound proteins. Neutralization in this context means that the antibody inhibits/nullifies the effects of the protein it binds to¹⁵⁵. Classically, neutralization has been centered around toxin inhibition, where antibody binding can through various mechanisms such as direct blocking of the toxin and its substrate or inducing a conformational change leading to loss of functional activity. The neutralizing effects of antibodies were first demonstrated by Emil von Behring and colleagues, who used immunized horse serum to treat diphtheria¹⁵⁶. Thus one of the major important functions of antibodies is to inhibit pathogens virulence factors and protect the host subsequently.

In the context of viral infections however, focus lies on blocking viral entry into the host T-cells by HIV or ACE2-receptor expressing cells by SARS-CoV-2. The COVID-19 pandemic generated extensive research into neutralizing antibodies against SARS-CoV-2, leading to many important discoveries¹⁵⁵. It has been shown that antibodies can block viral entry and stop the viral replication cycle (and thus lower infectious titers) through several distinct mechanisms¹⁵⁷. Given this thesis focus on SARS-CoV-2 this pathogen is a suitable example to discuss regarding neutralization. SARS-CoV-2 utilizes the trimeric glycoprotein spike which contains a receptor-binding domain to interact with human ACE2-receptors highly expressed on epithelial cells in the upper and lower respiratory airways¹⁵⁸. This binding of RBD to ACE2R induces a conformational change in the spike glycoprotein where one part (the S1 subunit) dissociates and the second part (S2 subunit) is inserted into the host-membrane like a spike (hence its name). The insertion of the S2-subunit promotes membrane fusion of the viral virion with the host cell subsequently leading to viral replication. This process can be neutralized by antibodies through several distinct mechanisms. To mention a few, antibodies can bind to the RBD domain which engages the ACE2-receptors and directly block the interaction¹⁵⁹. Antibodies can also bind to other sites of the spike protein, such as the N-terminal domain, and sterically (using the Fc tail) block the engagement of RBD-hACE2. Anti-spike antibodies can bind the S1/S2 junction, inhibiting S1 subunit dissociation- a step

critical for S2 conformational changes required for membrane fusion. Finally, antispike antibodies can block viral entry into the host cells by binding to the S2 domain, and preventing membrane-fusion after the S2 domain has been inserted in the host membrane. These different mechanisms have their pros and cons, where mutational susceptibility, concentration needed for 50% blocking (commonly used metric is IC50) and cross-reactivity (for instance recognizing other viral pathogens such as SARS-CoV-1) are some worth mentioning. The takeaway from these examples is that the host immune response can generate both opsonic antibodies (antibodies which induce ADCC, ADCP etc) but also antibodies which can exert direct inhibition or blocking of the pathogens virulence through several overlapping and distinct mechanisms¹⁵⁹. Interestingly, antibodies can have both opsonic and neutralizing function, which depends on their epitope specificity and constant domain class. These diverse neutralization strategies highlight how antibodies directly inhibit viral replication while complementing other immune defense mechanisms. In summary, neutralizing antibodies play a crucial role in blocking pathogen virulence factors such as interfering with toxin activity or viral entry mechanisms.

Authors comment on the Chapter

Hopefully, it has now become clear that antibodies exert their function in a highly regulated manner, where the activation of effector cells is balanced by activating and inhibitory signals, governed by molecular affinity for various receptors, as well as avidity effects. Avidity effects are influenced by inherent constraints in the antibody, such as hinge flexibility, and are also affected by antigen density, epitope distance, and the valency of the immune complex. Understanding this, we can design novel therapeutics that leverage these complex biological mechanisms to benefit the patient. To test antibody function, we first need to obtain the genetic sequence to express these antibodies recombinantly in the lab. The next chapter will introduce the antibody discovery process, highlighting the contributions of historic giants such as Cesar Milstein. As we will see, the process was long and complicated, but as a famous physicist once said:

"In the middle of difficulty lies opportunity." – Albert Einstein

CHAPTER III DISCOVERY OF MONOCLONAL ANTIBODIES

Introduction to the chapter

Having discussed how the process by which antibodies are made in vivo and their diverse functions in humans, this chapter delves into harnessing these proteins for therapeutic applications. Discovering a clinically viable monoclonal antibody requires meeting several critical criteria. First, antigen specificity is crucial; the antibody should not exhibit promiscuous or nonspecific binding to other targets or cross-react with human tissues¹⁶⁰. Moreover, if derived from non-human sources, the antibody must be engineered to minimize immunogenicity. Secondly, the antibody of interest needs to be able to be produced in large quantities efficiently in commonly used cell-lines (such as Chinese hamster ovary cells, CHOcells)¹⁶⁰. Finally, the antibody must possess favorable pharmacokinetic (e.g., halflife) and pharmacodynamic (e.g., target engagement) properties within the human body. Several strategies exist to address these challenges, such as through careful selection of antibody discovery technologies and engineering strategies. The issue of immunogenicity can be addressed by isolating reactive B-cell clones from human donors to remove steps of needing to humanize the antibody to avoid immunogenicity to the animal IgG backbone¹⁶⁰. Alternatively, precise mutations in the IgG Fc region can modulate effector functions, such as reducing inflammatory potential by decreasing affinity for Fc receptors. These examples serve to highlight to you the reader the importance of antibody discovery technique, the screening method for determining what antibody clone is of interest and how engineering of antibodies can modulate monoclonal antibodies to be even more efficacious. This chapter will start by describing a historical achievement, the first instance of how antigen-specific monoclonal antibodies could be widely produced for therapeutic development- the hybridoma technology!

HYBRIDOMA ANTIBODY DISCOVERY-ANTIBODIES FOR EVERYONE

The wide-spread use of specific antibodies derived from one clone of B-cell, a socalled monoclonal antibody (mAb), was enabled through the groundbreaking work of pioneers César Milstein and Georges Köhler. In their first study, published in 1975, they developed a protocol in which mice were immunized with an antigen (sheep red blood cells), and B cells were subsequently harvested from the spleen¹⁶¹. They then immortalized the B-cells by fusing them (using polyethylene glycol) with cancerous myeloma cells, allowing this new cell (called hybridoma) to survive and secrete antibodies (the antigen specific BCR of the original B-cell).

To selectively culture hybridomas, the authors used HAT medium (hypoxanthine, aminopterin, thymidine)¹⁶¹. Myeloma cells lack the necessary enzyme to survive in HAT medium, while B-cells lack longevity and die in this medium, thus only hybridoma cells can be continuously cultured in this medium. The authors then screened the hybridomas for functional activity through plaque assay (antibody induced complement-mediated hemolysis of sheep red blood cells in agar plates). Specific hybridoma clones with functional activity could then be isolated and produce vast amounts of monoclonal antibodies with known functional specificity. While Milstein and Köhler revolutionized antibody research, other researchers like Brigitte Askonas also contributed significantly by isolating plasma B cells with known antigen specificities¹⁶². However, the Nobel Prize-winning discovery (1984, shared by Milstein, Köhler, and Niels Kaj Jerne) of the hybridoma technique was truly novel was that it allows production of specific monoclonal antibodies in large quantities in a reliable manner, whereas existing methods produced either nonspecific antibodies or insufficient quantities. The first monoclonal antibody which was approved by the FDA (in 1986) used the hybridoma technique, muromonab-CD3, targeting CD3 on T cells to prevent rejection in kidney transplant recipients¹⁶³.

HUMANIZATION OF HYBRIDOMA-GENERATED MURINE MABS

It is worth noting that muromonab-CD3 is of murine nature, that is, both the constant and variable domain are from mouse¹⁶³. This has implications for both immunogenicity (human immune system can react to the murine antibodies as foreign substance and mount an adaptive immune response against it)¹⁶⁰ and pharmacokinetic (murine Fc can interact with human Fc-receptors)¹⁶⁴. The process of humanization was thus a natural progression in the monoclonal antibody field. The first step was done by Gregory Winters team where they cloned the variable domain of the murine antibody into a plasmid framework containing human constant domains¹⁶⁵. This hybrid of murine-human antibody was called chimera, and the first FDA approved chimeric antibody was done in 1994 (abciximab).

Today, newer techniques such as antibody discovery through B-cell isolation from human donors (more on this in the next section) removes the need for humanization since both the Fab and Fc are fully human. In the next section we will discuss the B-cell isolation technique employed for discovery of the monoclonal antibodies used in this thesis in addition to which cell-line used for production and how these antibodies were purified. Finally, we end the chapter with discussing different monoclonal antibody engineering strategies (particularly Fc-engineering) and their current application in the field.

RECOMBINANT MONOCLONAL ANTIBODY PRODUCTION FROM HUMAN ISOLATED B-CELLS

Over time, new technologies emerged that complement or replace the hybridoma technique for antibody discovery. These include immortalization with EBV-virus, phage display and isolation of B-cells using fluorescence-activated cell sorting. These techniques have various advantages and disadvantages (see review by A. Pedrioli & A. Oxenius)¹⁶⁶. In this thesis, monoclonal antibodies were used that were discovered by isolating antigen-specific human B-cells from convalescent patients (patients who after initial infection donated their blood 6 weeks post-infection) using FACS. For the antibody discovery process against Streptococcal M protein, VDJ sequences were obtained via molecular cloning. For anti-SARS-CoV-2 antibodies against the spike protein, next-generation sequencing was used to acquire the VDJ. These different techniques and how they were employed will be discussed below.

ANTIBODY DISCOVERY THROUGH ANTIGEN-SPECIFIC B-CELL FACS SORTING AND RT-PCR

To isolate antigen-specific B cells, the method must incorporate the antigen, either through prior immunization or by screening B cells using fluorescently labeled purified antigen or antigen-coupled beads¹⁶⁶. Wrammert et al. isolated antibody-secreting plasma cells (ASCs) producing high-affinity anti-influenza antibodies 7 days post-vaccination¹⁶⁷. The authors chose this time frame due to the fact that ACSs peaks in concentration before they migrate to the bone marrow, where isolation from human subjects presents logistical and ethical challenges. The authors then enriched B cells via negative selection using RosetteSep, which cross-links all other blood cell types (except B cells) to erythrocytes, facilitating efficient B-cell isolation ¹⁶⁷. Thereafter, the B-cells in their entirety are analyzed in a flow-cytometer using antibodies against different CD-markers (these anti-CD antibodies are fluorescent) (**Figure 9A-B**). A flow cytometer is a device used to analyze physical characteristics of cells, such as size and granularity (See **Figure 9C**). Using anti-CD antibodies, cells can be classified based on CD phenotype expression (immunophenotyping).

For instance by using CD3 and CD19 markers we can efficiently divide up an unspecified lymphocyte population in a sample tube by CD3+/CD19- (T-cell) or CD3-/CD19+ (B-cell) (**Figure 9C**). The flow-cytometer can do this by aligning cells individually in a microfluidic channel¹⁶⁸. Each cell will be subjected to being lasered, where several different lasers can be used in the device with different light spectrums. The flow-cytometer contains detectors which allows analysis of fluorescence, size, granularity and other features. In our example with the B and T-cells, fluorescent antibodies against CD19 and CD3 respectively will bind to the respective cells and emit fluorescence when excited by a laser of appropriate wavelength. Based on size and granularity, the cells can be divided into populations, thereafter using the fluorescent markers, the populations can be further classified. This population selection process is known as gating. Flow-cytometers can also have a sorter, which means that when the gate is set for the population of interest (B-cells for instance) these cells can be sorted into single wells one by one allowing for analysis such as VDJ cloning or sequencing.



Figure 9. Overview of using FACS for sorting immune cells of interest. Figures **A** and **B** depict the analysis of whole blood in a FACS machine, where lasers illuminate different cell types, represented by various colors. Based on cell granularity, size, and the presence of fluorescently labeled anti-CD markers, a wealth of information can be acquired¹⁶⁸. This is illustrated in **C** where the bigger cells are selected by drawing a gate separating the two distinct populations (FSC indicating cell size). Using fluorescent anti-CD19 and anti-CD3 markers, cell types can be distinguished based on their emitted fluorescence upon excitation. In the example above, lymphocytes are divided up by CD3 or CD19 expression, into B and T-cells respectively. These can then in turn be sorted/isolated using FACS, allowing for isolation of specific immunological cell types. Made using biorender.com.

As discussed in **Chapter 1**, B-cells express CD19 and CD20, while T-cells express CD3. Thus, by using these initial markers to separate lymphocytes, we can further enrich the B-cell population, even if some T cells or other cell types remain after negative selection with RosetteSep. An initial gate in the flow-cytometer is drawn by using CD3- and CD19+/20+ cells. To study and sort memory B cells, CD27 can be used as a marker, as these cells express low levels of CD38¹⁶⁷. If ASCs are of interest, their expression of both CD27 and CD38 allows for their separation from CD27+/CD38- memory B cells. To acquire an even better sorting strategy, the authors screened this CD27+/CD38+ population for IgG CSR by using markers for IgD, IgM and IgG respectively (IgD-/IgM-/IgG+). Using a fluorescence-activated cell sorter, the fluorescently tagged B-cell population (labeled via anti-CD markers and BCR constant domain class markers) can be sorted into individual wells or in bulk. In this case, Wrammert et als protocol sorted cells into individual wells. The subsequent step involves obtaining the VDJ sequence of the antibody of interest from these isolated reactive B cells.

After sorting, the B-cells VDJ are cloned into a plasmid vector through multiple PCR steps (Figure 10A). Firstly, cDNA of the antibodies is generated from RNA by using a reverse transcriptase and primers specific to a conserved sequence of the antibody gene¹⁶⁷. A primer is a short segment (15-25 usually) of nucleotides designed to be complementary to sequences one wishes to amplify. After generation of cDNA, further amplification of the VDJ genes is needed. A cocktail of several primers, each specific to different V-gene families (as multiple V-genes exist), is used alongside reverse transcriptase (Figure 10B). This enables the amplification of the B-cell VDJ gene mRNA into cDNA during the first RT-PCR step. To further amplify the V-gene, nested PCR is performed with more specific primers, now that the V-gene family of the amplicon is known (Figure 10C). Nested PCR is a twostep process where one primer pair amplifies the RT-PCR amplicon, and the second primer pair amplifies the resulting product. The amplified VDJ gene segments are then available in large quantities and sent for sequencing to generate specific information. The nested PCR uses primers that generate sequences upstream and downstream of the VDJ genes, which can be used to insert the gene fragments into a plasmid vector using restriction-digestion enzymes. The final step of the protocol results in generation of either one plasmid containing both the heavy and light chain of the antibody (variable and constant domain) or a two-plasmid system where you have the light chain in one plasmid and the heavy chain in the other (Figure 10D). These plasmids are then transfected to a suitable cell-line which can produce our monoclonals. Wammert et al used human embryonic kidney cells (HEK293) to produce these antibodies. Plasmids are transferred to the HEK293 cytosol by transfection using Polyethylenimine (PEI) which gives the plasmids a positive

charge enabling endocytosis leading to transcription in the nucleus and subsequently translation of the antibody (**Figure 10D**)¹⁶⁹.



Figure. 10 Antibody production by PCR technology of BCR sequence. Figure A depicts a B cell expressing B-cell receptors (BCRs). Within the cell, mRNA molecules encode the variable (and constant) domains of the antibody to be produced during protein translation. Figure B describes the conversion of mRNA into cDNA using reverse transcriptase and primers specific to conserved regions of the antibody variable domain. Figure C shows nested PCR using specific primers to amplify variable domain sequences from the cDNA generated in Figure B. The final PCR reaction leaves the amplified sequence with a restriction digestion sequence, shown in dark green, which allows insertion into a vector plasmid containing the constant domain gene (and other necessary genetic sequences for successful translation, such as promoter). D Shows how the complete heavy chain plasmid and light chain plasmid are added to adherent HEK293T cells which produce the monoclonal antibody. The antibodies are secreted into the supernatant, ready to be purified and collected, using methods such as protein G beads which specifically bind to the Fc region of IgGs.

This method offers several advantages over the traditional hybridoma technique. Firstly, these are human antibodies, and thus there is no need for humanization. Secondly, this method is faster and can be done in 28 days only, while traditionally hybridoma takes longer. Thirdly, this method captures the immune response by natural infection in humans, which can guide vaccine design (that is allow us to understand which antigens and epitopes generate an antibody response). Furthermore the technology allows efficient studying of different B-cell populations and the response to specific antigens. However, this method can be technically difficult, requires access to human or animal blood, and presents challenges when scaling up, particularly during the transfection and PCR steps. Nevertheless, the technique of FACS sorting reactive B-cells has led to great discoveries, of which one was the discovery of the first human monoclonal antibody against the M protein of *Streptococcus pyogenes* by Bahnan et al (relevant for Paper II of this thesis)¹⁷⁰.

Using the technique established by Wrammert et al and others, FACS sorting is followed by PCR-based VDJ gene isolation and amplification, Bahnan et al isolated reactive B-cells from a patient who had a Streptococcal pharyngitis infection¹⁷⁰. The aim was to generate antibodies specific to the M-protein of the bacteria, which is a critical virulence factor allowing immune evasion and invasion of the host (amongst other things). The authors produced the antigen bait of interest, the M-protein (of M1-serotype), by recombinantly producing this antigen and fluorescently tagging it. They isolated B-cells as done by Wrammert et al, but the gating strategy differed. Here Bahnan et al, used first a live-dead stain to remove unwanted celldebris. Then they used a CD19 and CD3 marker to exclude T-cells and include only B-cells. Unlike Wrammert et al, Bahnan et al did not utilize a CD27 nor CD38 marker to further subdivide the B-cell response to the M-protein. Instead the authors assessed the CD19+/CD3- population reactivity to purified M1-protein and the +population which also expressed IgG+ BCRs were isolated by FACS into single wells. The VDJs of these M-protein positive B-cells were then cloned into the twoplasmid vectors allowing for antibody production in HEK293T cells using the PEI transfection method. Interestingly, 10 antibodies were produced, where 3 exhibited nanomolar affinity to the M-protein. Of these, only one was shown to mediate ADCP. This particular antibody, called Ab25, will be discussed in more detail in Chapter 5 and Paper II of this thesis.


Figure 11. B-cell sorting through FACS antigen-baiting and NGS sequencing. A Whole blood is collected from donors, and B-cells are enriched using a kit called RosetteSep, which cross-links all other cells to red blood cells, leaving the B-cells untouched. Fluorescent antibody markers, each with a different color and specific for IgG, CD3, and CD19, are then added to the cells, along with the spike trimer (the antigen of interest). Class-switched B-cells (IgG+) which are reactive to the spike antigen will be identifiable using these markers, resulting in a CD3-/CD19+/IgG+/Spike+ as seen in C. The final gate for this population is set, and the B-cells are sorted in bulk (or individually) into plates, as shown in **D**. The B-cells on the plates are then sent for next-generation sequencing to obtain the VDJ sequence information for both heavy and light chains. The VDJ sequence is then inserted into empty vector plasmids and transfected into appropriate cell lines for antibody expression. Made using biorender.com, the illustration depicts the strategy used for B-cell isolation from Bahnan et al ¹⁷¹.

ANTIBODY DISCOVERY THROUGH ANTIGEN-SPECIFIC B-CELL FACS SORTING AND NEXT-GENERATION SEQUENCING

As high-throughput sequencing advanced, the antibody discovery pipeline evolved. Next-generation sequencing became a valuable tool for methods such as phage display and B-cell sorting by FACS, providing extensive information on the antibody repertoire post-infection or for mAb development¹⁶⁶. While the PCR protocol is cheaper in terms of reagents, NGS sequencing of B-cells (via the FACS method) can be more cost-effective when factoring in labor costs. Additionally, the NGS method generates vast amounts of data on BCR sequences, allowing for bioinformatics analysis and modeling of the antibody sequence prior to production.

This is particularly useful for acquiring highly mutated CDR3H and L antibodies, as NGS provides data from bulk sequencing of thousands of cells ¹⁶⁶. Performing thousands of PCRs can be labor-intensive, even if it provides sequence information. During the COVID-19 pandemic, this method of acquiring monoclonal antibodies was widely adopted by various labs. Similarly, the lab of Pontus Nordenfelt generated 10 monoclonal antibodies with nanomolar affinity for the spike protein of SARS-CoV-2.

In this project by Bahnan et al, the authors acquired convalescent blood 6 weeks post hospital discharge from 7 severe COVID-19 patients (defined as needing highflow oxygen non-invasive oxygen therapy)¹⁷¹. This was in March 2020 when the original Europe B1 strain was circulating in Sweden. The patients' B-cells were isolated in the same manner as in the M1-project described above, with one important distinction. In this project, the authors pooled all the isolated and enriched B-cells (post-RosetteSep), and the spike trimer-reactive B-cells (CD19+/CD3-/IgG+) were sorted together, rather than into individual wells (Figure 11A-D). Subsequently their VDJ were sequenced by next-generation sequencing (10X genomics). From a total of 7,000 cells, approximately 600 full antibody sequences were generated, including paired heavy and light chains, along with information on the VDJ family germline genes. The authors then performed bioinformatic analysis to select 96 antibodies based on phylogenetic distribution, and used a service from Twist Bioscience to clone the VDJ into an IgG1 plasmid vector for heavy and light chains. Of these 96 antibodies, 10 exhibited strong reactivity to spike protein trimer and one was a potent neutralizer, and all 10 promoted ADCP when tested. These are just two examples of many projects aimed at generating monoclonal antibodies for therapeutic development, studying the adaptive immune response, or for vaccine design.

Author comment on the chapter:

Having mastered the art of antibody discovery using various techniques, along with emerging technologies such as direct discovery by analyzing antibodies in serum at the protein-level or using AI to generate de novo antibody designs, researchers have begun to investigate what makes an antibody effective. By understanding how monoclonal antibodies exert their effects, researchers can modulate these effects through antibody engineering. Advancements in antibody discovery have propelled antibody engineering, which will be discussed in the next chapter. None of this would have been possible without pioneers like Milstein and Köhler, who paved the way years ago.

CHAPTER IV ANTIBODY ENGINEERING FOR TAILORING THE IMMUNE RESPONSE

Introduction

The field of antibody engineering began with the humanization of monoclonal antibodies (mAbs), where mAbs derived from murine hybridomas were initially generated as human-mouse chimeras (featuring a human Fc backbone and murine variable domain)¹⁶⁵. Subsequent advancements shifted the focus toward generating either pro-inflammatory immune responses to eliminate tumors³² or reducing inflammatory responses when only blocking/neutralization was desired. The chosen antibody engineering strategy depends on the intended interactions of the mAb. For instance, if increased antibody-dependent cellular cytotoxicity (ADCC) is desired for an anti-tumor mAb, then increasing affinity for CD16a (expressed on NK cells) is a suitable approach ³². Conversely, to avoid inflammatory reactions and solely block the activity of inhibitory molecules on tumors (such as with anti-PD-1 antibodies), reducing affinity for FcRs and C1q is a viable strategy (example)¹⁷². Along these lines, this chapter is divided into three subchapters illustrating creative approaches to generate promising therapeutic mAbs.



Figure 12. Antibody engineering strategies. The figure illustrates the diverse antibody engineering strategies that can be considered. From top left in clock-wise manner: decreasing affinity can increase antibody agonism when targeting activating receptors such as CD40. Other strategies revolve around changing class for enhancing avidity, such as into IgM pentamers or IgA dimers for enhanced neutralization. Hinge-engineering can be employed to increase antibody flexibility. Point mutations can be induced to change antibody affinity to various receptors, such as the neonatal FcR which influences antibody half-life *in vivo*. Point mutations can be inserted to also increase antibody hexamer formation for efficient C1q activation (dark-blue in the middle). Removal or addition of glycans in the glycan tree at the CH2 domain can abrogate, decrease or enhance FcR affinity profiles.

VARIABLE DOMAIN MODIFICATIONS FOR INCREASED ANTIBODY FUNCTION

As discussed in **Chapter 2**, Fc-clustering is important for efficient activation of effector cells, leading to ADCC and antibody-dependent cellular phagocytosis (ADCP). To achieve this *in vitro* and, to some extent, *in vivo*, strategies have been employed to increase the proximity of IgGs to each other once bound to the target¹¹². This can be achieved by designing bi- or multi-specific antibodies, which contain two or more variable domains specific to different epitopes on the same or different antigens displayed, for instance, by a cancer cell¹⁷³. Several different techniques exist to generate bi- or multi-specific antibodies (please see review ¹⁷³), an approach gaining popularity in cancer therapeutics. Bi- and multi-specific

antibodies also gained prominence in the field of infectious diseases during the COVID-19 pandemic, where in vitro neutralization of SARS-CoV-2 was more potently demonstrated when mAbs could bind to non-overlapping receptor-binding domain (RBD) domains¹⁷⁴. Similar results have been shown with HIV in macaque animal models¹⁷⁵. Regarding Fc-dependent functions, designing multi-epitope specific mAbs has been shown to increase complement activation and ADCC/ADCP through increased Fc-receptor clustering (since more antibodies will be present on the target surface without competing to the same extent as the same amount of mono-specific mAbs)¹⁷³. Other innovative uses of bi-specific monoclonal antibodies are the so-called T-cell engagers. By having specificity to CD3 and the other fab specificity directed towards the tumor cell (or target cell), the bispecific mAb can increase the killing of the targeted cell of interest by bridging CD8+ Tcells with the target¹⁷⁶. In these mAbs an Fc-silent mAb is desirable, to not induce killing of the T-cells themselves through ADCC¹⁷⁷. These T-cell engagers have been developed for Acute lymphatic leukemia (ALL), where the Bispecific mAb binds to CD3 and CD19¹⁷⁶. Given the importance of NK-cells for in vivo ADCC, NK-cell engagers are being developed in a similar fashion as the T-cell engagers (but instead of CD3 the specificity to NK-cells is acquired by targeting CD16)¹⁷⁸.

There are other Fab-based engineering strategies which deserve attention. A less intuitive approach involves reducing affinity for the antigen target via mutations in the VDJ-region/CDRs, as demonstrated by Yu et al¹⁷⁹. The authors decreased affinity of agonistic antibodies targeting CD40 (the binding to CD40 by anti-CD40 mAbs induces intracellular signaling). They observed that antibodies with lower KDs, due to faster dissociation from the ligand, increased CD40 receptor clustering, allowing for stronger intracellular activation and increased survival in murine models challenged with murine lymphoma cells (Figure 12). However, in the same study, this approach led to worse ADCC and ADCP by another set of monoclonal antibodies targeting a tumor necrosis factor receptor (4-1BB). Thus, careful selection of function needs to be considered before engaging this strategy, where low-affinity antibodies might promote agonistic receptor activation of the ligand but induce weaker Fc-functions by FcRs. The above examples illustrate the creativity of engineering the variable domains to target multiple epitopes to increase Fcclustering or by increasing neutralization. Now we will discuss some engineering strategies targeting the Fc specifically.

ANTIBODY FC-ENGINEERING STRATEGIES TO MODULATE ENGAGEMENT WITH FCRS

GLYCOENGINEERING

One popular strategy to increase antibody Fc-effector function is the alteration of the glycan composition at the CH2 domain (which interacts with the Fc-receptors as discussed in **Chapter 2**). In 2004, two crucial studies significantly advanced this subfield. Firstly, the study by Okazaki et al¹⁸⁰ showed that the removal of fucose from an IgG1 mAb enhanced affinity for CD16a more than 20-30 fold, which was attributed to increased binding to the ligand rather than decreased dissociation. This increased CD16a affinity correlated with increased ADCC function, showing that glycan modification (glycoengineering of the Fc) is a viable approach to enhance ADCC of mAbs (**Figure 12**). Similarly, the study by Niwa et al¹⁸¹ in the same year showed that afucosylated rituximAb (an anti-CD20 mAb which depletes CD20+ B-cells) elicited greater ADCC (10-100 fold) by PMBCs from 20 donors compared to the wild-type rituximAb which contained more fucose. The increased effect by the PBMCs was attributed to N-cell activity, which is the main mediator of ADCC *in vivo* as discussed in **Chapter 1**.

Concerning ADCP, macrophage phagocytosis can be enhanced by afucosylated IgG mAbs due to increased CD16a affinity. Unsurprisingly, given that CD16b shares 97% homology with CD16a, afucosylation also increases affinity to this receptor^{182,183}. CD16b is a crucial receptor for ADCP by neutrophils. Thus, removal of focuse can both increase ADCC by NK cells and increase phagocytosis by macrophages and neutrophils through enhanced CD16a and CD16b affinity, respectively. A promising example of the use of afocusylation is illustrated by Mogamulizumab (KW-0761), an antibody which targets Chemokine receptor 4 (CCR4) expressed by T-cells, used for T-cell lymphomas¹⁸⁴. Another interesting case is that of avelumab, an anti- PD-L1 mAb, where the authors showed that in a Fc-receptor humanized murine model, afucosylated PD-L1 mAb reduced tumor load compared to wild-type and Fc-null versions¹⁸⁵. Thus, even though the mechanism of action was by blocking inhibitors of the immune response, that is by being a so-called checkpoint inhibitor, enhancing Fc-function by glycoengineering was shown to be beneficial for the overall anti-tumour response. Removal of the glycans completely can abrogate binding to FcRs as shown by Walker and Colleagues in the late 1980s¹⁸⁶, which is suitable for mAbs where pro-inflammatory effects are not suitable (for instance in rheumatoid disease). Mutation of the N297 residue can completely abrogate the glycosylation of the CH2 domain, resulting in loss of FcR and C1q binding¹⁸⁷. This strategy has garnered attention in mAb clinical trials, but it remains to be determined the feasibility and success of such a strategy.

Many bacteria produce enzymes which can remove the glycans on antibodies. One notable example (relevant for this thesis) is the enzyme EndoS which is produced by *Streptococcus pyogenes*¹⁸⁸. The existence of enzymes which can remove Fc-glycans of mAbs to dampen inflammatory response has not been used. However, a clinical indication is their use to dampen the inflammatory activity of patients' own polyclonal antibody response in autoimmune disease. Recently a novel endoglycosidase was discovered which is produced by *Corynebacterium*¹⁸⁹, called CU43, and it was shown by Sastre and colleagues to have promising preclinical effect on several types of IgG-mediated pathologies such as autoimmune hemolysis and antibody-dependent enhancement of dengue infection (in murine models). Apart from glycoengineering, most engineering efforts revolve around inserting mutations in the Fc constant domain, manipulating the hinge domain or altering the constant domain entirely (class-switching artificially). These engineering strategies will be discussed in the next section.

CLASS-SWITCHING

Typically after a hybridoma mAb has been generated it is commonly inserted into a murine IgG backbone or a human IgG1. With improvements in cloning techniques using restriction-digestion enzymes, antibody plasmids which contain the heavy chain constant domain could easily be altered to express other classes and subclasses (Figure 12)¹⁹⁰. In the infectious disease field, subclass-switching from IgG1 to IgG3 has been done by several different groups for anti-HIV antibodies^{191,192}. They showed that ADCC, ADCP and complement deposition could be potentiated (in human in vitro and ex vivo settings) by altering subclass from IgG1 to IgG3. However, improvements in vivo were not demonstrated, which can be due to difficulties in comparing cross-species (human antibodies in a murine immune system for instance) ^{191,192}. Interestingly, Stapelton et al¹⁰⁵ altered the subclass of IgG1 to IgG3 for an antipneumococcal mAb, which showed greater efficiency, by lowering bacterial load in blood, in vivo compared to IgG1 (in a murine model of disseminated pneumonia) when the half-life of the IgG3 mAb was increased to that of IgG1. However, a halflife enhanced IgG3 construct was shown to be inferior to the original IgG1 mAb when used in a murine melanoma in vivo model¹⁹³ (it was also inferior in promoting ADCP), highlighting that this approach is perhaps more context dependent. IgG1 comparisons have also been made with that of IgM where promising results have been observed in animal models in the context of E.coli and Group B Streptococcus bacteria¹⁹⁴. In the

study by Raff et al, the authors demonstrated that IgM potently protected rats against both pathogens when the IgG1 versions were not ¹⁹⁴. Another study which demonstrates the importance of not preemptively ruling out less-inflammatory mAbs is a study on *Neisseria meningitidis*¹⁹⁵. Here the authors demonstrated that IgG1 mAbs against an antigen (porA) which is displayed on the surface of the bacteria at high density where more bactericidal than the IgG3 versions, and the opposite was observed for an antigen (factor H binding protein) which are more sparsely present ¹⁹⁵. This study by Giuntini et al highlights the importance of studying each antigenantibody context independently of previous findings and not extrapolating too much from other contexts.

Although switching from IgG1 to IgG3 constant domain has been a popular approach in the context of Fc-mediated function, altering the constant domain to IgA and IgM has also been widely employed when enhancing neutralization has been the aim. This is particularly true in the context of SARS-CoV-2, where dimeric IgA (two identical IgA mAbs linked together with a linker called the J-chain) and pentameric IgM (five IgM molecules linked together by the J-chain) where much more potent in neutralizing SARS-CoV-2 virus compared to IgG1 versions^{196,197}. The increased neutralization potency was in the order of 10-100 fold in these studies, and in the case of IgA dimers, where shown to be protective in murine models of authentic infection (however IgG1 was not compared, regrettably, in this study)¹⁹⁶. Interestingly the enhanced neutralization potency was also observed by other research groups when engineering SARS-CoV-2 mAbs from IgG1 to IgG3, with a 50-fold increase in neutralization¹⁹⁸. Even more surprisingly, despite that the IgG1 mAbs lost neutralization function and binding against Omicron mutated variants, changing subclass to IgG3 restored both binding and neutralization function¹⁰⁴. Similar results were observed with Dimeric IgA against these mutated variants¹⁹⁹. These studies not only highlight creative strategies to increase neutralization function, they also shed light into how the constant domain influences antibody binding (challenging dogma), as discussed in the opening section of Chapter 2.

Amino acid mutations to modulate FcR affinity and FC-function

Given the importance of the amino acids in the lower hinge for binding to FcR, a natural step was to alter the residues engaging the FcRs to modulate affinity²⁰⁰. There are countless mutations at various residues which have been studied, and the combination of these leave open many different possible affinity profiles. One of the most used combinations of mutations in preclinical research are the "GASDALIE" mutations: G239A/S332D/A330L/I332E (**Figure 12**)²⁰¹. These

mutations on an IgG1 backbone have been shown to increase the affinity to CD16a and CD32a 10-20 fold, with estimates varying between different studies and mAbs²⁰². For the inhibitory CD32b, GASDALIE mutations have been shown to also increase the affinity to this receptor up to 2-fold. In a well-designed study by Bournazos et al, the authors engineered a set of broadly neutralizing anti-HIV mAbs to have the GASDALIE mutations²⁰³. This engineered variant significantly reduced viral load in mice which were infected with the virus, highlighting the utility of this approach. These findings inspired the use of these mutations later during the COVID-19 pandemic.

In vivo work with SARS-CoV-2 has displayed the utility of using mutations to both study the importance of Fc-function in *in vivo* protection, but also how to enhance protective mAb function by Fc-engineering. There are different combinations that can be used of the G239A/S332D/A330L/I332E, one which has garnered attention is the G239A/A330L/I332E combination, named GAALIE²⁰⁴. Using GAALIE mutations the increased affinity to CD32b observed in the GASDALIE variant can be reduced compared to WT IgG1, while maintaining an increase to CD16a/b and CD32. In a well-cited study by Yami et al¹⁵⁷, the authors showed that, when a FDAapproved cocktail of neutralizing mAbs (REGN-cocktail) were given in a therapeutic infection model (infection first, antibody treatment 1 day after), the unaltered WT mAb (the approved version) did not protect mice (mice humanized to express human Fc-receptors) compared to negative control PBS. They then inserted mutations into the IgG1 backbone and observed the change in affinity profile to the Fc-gamma receptors. The REGN GAALIE variants displayed a 9-fold enhanced affinity to CD16a/b compared to WT IgG1, 3.6-fold towards CD32a and a decreased affinity to the inhibitory CD32b (0.3-fold compared to IgG1) and slightly lower to CD64 (0.8-fold). The GA variant had much lower affinity to CD64 (10% of WT) while having 6-fold enhancement to CD32a (with a modest 1.2 and 1.3 fold increase for CD32b and CD16a/b respectively). The ALIE variant, in turn, had enhanced CD64 binding (8-fold), 12-fold increase to CD16a/b and 20% lower to that of CD32a and 20% higher to CD32b. Interestingly, when the GA (G239A) and the ALIE (A330L/I332E) mutant REGN were used in the therapeutic in vivo model experiment, they offered slightly greater protection (around 75% survival) than the WT REGN and negative control (40-45% survival) but inferior to the GAALIE variant (100% survival). In a similar study by the same research group, Bournazos et al engineered a GAALIE mutant of an anti-influenza mAb was shown to be fully protective in the FcR-humanized mice challenge model, while the ALIE variant was only slightly more protective than WT IgG1²⁰⁵. Interestingly, with this pathogen, the GA mutant mAb was comparable to the GAALIE variant. These results suggested that careful balance needs to be taken into consideration when balancing the different FcRs, where in the case a reduced affinity to CD32b in combination with more moderate increases to the activating receptors provided best therapeutic outcome. These results also showed that non-neutralizing Fc-function is important for protection against SARS-CoV-2 in mice, and by extrapolating, potentially in humans.

While in the context of SARS-CoV-2, increasing affinity to activating FcRs has been shown to have promising effects in animal models, there are other cases when decreasing or abolishing Fc-function completely is desirable. These instances occur when the purpose of the therapy is to reduce inflammation, such as by targeting inflammatory cytokines in rheumatoid disease. Numerus antibodies have entered clinical trials that express mutations which diminish affinity to human Fc-gamma receptors²⁰⁶. Of these mutations, the "LALA" mutations, L234A/L235A, are one variant²⁰⁷. Interestingly, in the study by Yamin et al, the authors introduce a set of mutations to create a "Fc-null" REGN variant (abolished FcR affinity)¹⁵⁷. The mutations are G236R/L328R, named GRLR, and the REGN GRLR mutant was shown to be inferior to the REGN WT, further shedding light on the importance of Fc-function in a SARS-CoV-2 setting. For more information on mutations to modulate FcR affinity please see the excellent review by Saunders²⁰⁷.

HINGE-ENGINEERING TO MODULATE ANTIBODY FUNCTION

While the initial studies on IgG3 revealed enhanced function, deep mechanistic studies were not pursued²⁰⁸. However it was postulated that the extended hinge region allows greater flexibility, enhancing Fc-FcR clustering as discussed in Chapter 2. Considering this rationale, studies were undertaken to investigate the effects of hingeregion modifications on antibody Fc-function. One of the first studies on this subject was done by Giuntini et al.¹⁹⁵, which we discussed above. The authors noted that shortening the IgG3 hinge region from 62 amino acids to 17 and 15 amino acids, respectively, significantly enhanced bacterial killing with this truncated version of IgG3 (believed to be due to enhanced complement activation) compared to the WT IgG3. These results were consistent with the results in the same study which compared IgG1 and IgG3, where the longer IgG3 exhibited lower bactericidal killing than the IgG1 version (15 aa). Contrary findings were highlighted by Chu et al in the context of broadly neutralizing anti-HIV mAbs²⁰⁹. Here, the authors showed that hinge-length directly correlated with increased ADCP for these mAbs, while ADCC and complement deposition were not affected by hinge length. In another study, hinge length negatively correlated with increased ADCC by IgG3 mAbs¹³³. These three studies highlight that different Fc-functions are possibly differently modulated by

hinge-length, where ADCP seems to positively be correlated with hinge length for IgG1 and IgG3, while the opposite seems to be true for ADCC and complement activation does not seem to be influenced based on these three studies. On another note, Trim21-mediated killing of intracellular adenovirus has been shown to be enhanced once IgG3 hinge length modifications where implemented (*in vitro* study)²¹⁰. It is worth noting that none of these studies investigated if these findings were transferable to an *in vivo* model, such as a humanized Fc-R murine model as with the GASDALIE studies mentioned above.

Interestingly, modifications to antibody hinge length have been shown to enhance Fab-mediated neutralization of viral pathogens, particularly in the context of HIV^{191,192}. Two separate studies demonstrated that increasing the hinge length from IgG1's 15 amino acid hinge to the longer IgG3 hinge correlated with increased neutralization potency for several monoclonal antibodies (mAbs) in pseudovirus assays. One study focused, by Richardson et al, on mAbs targeting the variable loop domain 2 (V2) of the gp120 antigen¹⁹², while another by Moyo-Gwete et al ¹⁹¹ examined mAbs targeting the V4 region of gp120, both part of the HIV envelope protein responsible for binding to CD4 on T-cells. The authors speculated that the greater flexibility in the Fab-Fab angle provided by the IgG3 hinge, as observed by Roux et al.¹⁰³, was responsible for this enhanced neutralization effect. However, these findings contrast with another study by Chu et al.²⁰⁹, which did not observe a hinge-length dependent effect on HIV pseudovirus neutralization when focusing on mAbs targeting the V3 loop of gp120. These studies, taken together, highlight an important point: the epitope of the target antigen significantly influences the effects of hinge-engineering on neutralization. The studies showing enhanced neutralization focused on broadly neutralizing antibodies against specific regions of the envelope protein (V2 and V4 antigens), while Chu et al.'s study targeted a different region (V3 loop of gp120). These findings underscore the complexity of antibody engineering and the importance of considering epitope specificity when designing therapeutic antibodies, as the impact of hinge-length modifications on neutralization potency appears to be highly dependent on the specific antigenantibody interaction being studied.

A recent study by Schriek et al compared different engineering strategies on broadly neutralizing HIV mAbs, where GASDALIE mutations and IgG3 hinge-modification and afucosylation was compared for various assays including, FcR binding, ADCP and ADCC²¹¹. Interestingly, they observed that IgG3 hinge modification potently enhanced ADCP compared to WT IgG1 (while afucosylation and GASDALIE mutations did not). This was attributed to a 1.1-2-fold enhanced binding to CD32a compared to WT IgG1. In this study, ADCC did not increase when IgG3 subclass-

switching or hinge-engineering was done. Interestingly similar binding profiles were observed to CD16a with 1.2 to 2.3-fold increase, which did not translate to an increase in ADCC. Instead, GASDALIE mutations and afucosylation, and both together, was shown to be a robust strategy to kill HIV-infected cells by ADCC. It is worth considering which cell-lines are employed and which receptors these express, for instance the THP1-cell line (used by many to measure ADCP and Shriek et al) express low levels of CD32b which influences the interpretation of the results (for instance when assessing GASDALIE vs GAALIE mutations). Thus these studies further highlight the context-dependent effect on these engineering modifications and the importance of careful characterization using several assays to determine which should be employed in the therapeutic candidate.

ANTIBODY ENGINEERING FOR MODULATION OF THE COMPLEMENT CASCADE

As discussed in **Chapter 2**, the classical complement pathway is initiated by C1q binding to the IgG-Fc domain. This interaction is of low affinity, and successful activation relies on avidity interactions where multiple Fc regions on the opsonized pathogen engage C1q simultaneously, a process called oligomerization¹³⁹. It has been established that six IgG antibodies are typically needed to efficiently activate C1q, a phenomenon referred to as hexamer formation (ordered ring-like structures deposited on the antigen)¹³⁸. Many complement-engineering strategies revolve around increasing the IgG's ability to oligomerize to achieve this effect (**Figure 12**). Notably, some FcR-enhancing mutations, such as GASDALIE, can impair the ability to activate C1q¹⁵⁷.

To promote hexamer formation, several mutations can be introduced. One notable combination is the "RGY" mutations (E345R, E430G, and S440Y)²¹². These RGY mutations enhance hexamer formation by increasing binding between the CH3 domains of adjacent IgG molecules, enabling the formation of the ring-like structure necessary for efficient C1q activation. This approach, named Hexabody technology, has been widely adopted, with several mAbs in clinical trials incorporating this strategy to enhance complement activation²¹³. While the RGY approach enhances the avidity of the interaction, other mutations can increase affinity to C1q. These have been shown to result in a 7-fold increase in complement-dependent cytotoxicity (CDC) for engineered Rituximab (anti-CD20 mAb). However, the C1q-affinity mutations also decreased antibody-dependent cell-mediated cytotoxicity (ADCC) for the same mAb, necessitating the introduction of additional mutations to compensate for this effect ²¹³. Other strategies involve class and subclass-

switching. For instance, IgM, which naturally forms pentamers, provides an inherent avidity-based strategy for efficient complement activation²¹⁴.

ANTIBODY ENGINEERING FOR FAVORABLE PHARMACOKINETIC TRAITS

Apart from engineering strategies to increase antibody function *in vivo*, pharmacodynamic traits, and other considerations such as half-life, aggregation tendency and susceptibility to proteolysis must be made²¹⁵. These stability issues are important during large-scale production where antibody purification steps involve exposure to low pH, a factor which influences antibody aggregation, during protein G or A purification from supernatant. Similarly thermal stability is also a crucial factor to consider, which can predict tendency to aggregate *in vivo* and once formulated in higher concentrations²¹⁶. This can be especially important to consider when employing IgG3 as a backbone, given its tendency to form aggregates during large scale production. Saito and colleagues²¹⁷ addressed this issue by inserting mutations in the CH3 domain, N392K and M397V, of the backbone, the IgG3 Fc was comparably stable as the commonly used IgG1 backbone.

In the context of half-life, common mutations that increase half-life, by increasing affinity to neonatal fc-receptor (FcRn), are the YTE mutations²¹⁸ or the LS²¹⁹ (M428L/N434S) mutations²²⁰ (**Figure 12**). Both of these two mutations reduce affinity to human Fc-gamma receptors, but increase affinity for the neonatal Fc receptor. The increase in half-life differs depending on the mAb used, with reports ranging from 2- to 11-fold²²¹. For the anti-RSV mAb Clesrovimab, which contains the YTE mutations, the reported half-life in infants was 44 days in a phase 1b/2a trial²²², and around 80 days for adults²²³. For context, the estimated half-life of wild-type IgG1 antibodies in the human body is around 21 days⁹⁷. Interestingly, several FDA-approved monoclonal antibodies for SARS-CoV-2 included either the YTE or LS mutations to increase half-life. For VIR-7832, the reduced CD16a affinity caused by LS mutations was compensated by GAALIE mutations, which enhanced ADCC against infected cells²²⁴. Thus, engineering strategies can be combined in various ways but this meticulous testing and careful analysis and clear intention on what the treatment is intended to do.

Author comment on the chapter:

Extensive research conducted in the 21st century has generated vast knowledge on how we can modulate antibody function in vitro and, by extension, in vivo. Different engineering strategies allow for the development of custom-tailored products. However, how can we determine which attributes of a mAb are desirable, and how can we extrapolate this to achieve successful outcomes in clinical trials? What is important is studying the disease of interest in a clinical setting, understanding the host-pathogen dynamics to identify the key virulence factors. By combining this with epidemiological studies, such as identifying virulent strains or those more likely to cause disease, we can aim to create mAbs targeting recurring problems, such as the spike protein of SARS-CoV-2. Next, it is crucial to understand what defines protective immunity, such as in the context of anti-spike antibodies, and how we can custom-tailor an anti-spike mAb to achieve the desired effect. These topics will be discussed in the following chapters, focusing on Streptococcus pyogenes and SARS-CoV-2, respectively.

As Sun Tzu wisely said, 'Know thy enemy and know yourself; in a hundred battles, you will never be defeated.

CHAPTER V Streptococcus pyogenes- a bacteria adapted with countermeasures against our Immune defense

Introduction to the chapter

Streptococcus pyogenes, also known as Group A streptococcus (GAS), is a humanspecific bacterial pathogen. The term Group A is derived from pioneering work by Rebecka Lancefield, where she classified streptococci based on the carbohydrate composition on the bacterial surface and can be used as an antigen test to detect this pathogen²²⁵. GAS is classified as a gram-positive bacteria, meaning that it has a thick peptidoglycan wall which is stained by a dye called (gram-staining, Figure 13A). It also grows in chains, and the shape of the individual bacterium is spherical (Figure 13A). Due to production of toxins, it completely hemolysis whole blood (beta-hemolytic) when plated on blood-agar plates. It is responsible for an estimated 750 million infections and over 500,000 deaths annually worldwide²²⁶. While many infections are mild, S. pyogenes is also responsible for severe invasive diseases like necrotizing soft tissue infections (NSTI)²²⁷. NSTI caused by S. pyogenes is a rapidly progressing infection characterized, as the name suggests, by necrosis of underlying tissue due to expression of toxins and uncontrolled bacterial growth. While most infections are non-severe and treatable with antibiotics like penicillin, severe cases can have mortality rates as high as 20-41.4% even with appropriate antibiotic treatment. The clinical spectrum of S. pyogenes infections ranges from common, self-limiting conditions like pharyngitis²²⁸ and impetigo to life-threatening invasive diseases such as necrotizing fasciitis and streptococcal toxic shock syndrome ²²⁷. Rheumatic heart disease, a post-infectious sequel, causes the greatest burden among S. pyogenes-associated illnesses, accounting for 233,000 deaths annually ²²⁶.

There is an urgent need for new therapeutics to address acute severe S. pyogenes infections. Challenges in treating severe *S. pyogenes* infections, particularly NSTI, include:

- 1. Upregulation of virulence factors: S. pyogenes possesses numerous virulence factors that contribute to its pathogenicity^{229,230}.
- 2. Serotype diversity: Multiple serotypes exist, complicating treatment approaches.

3. Narrow treatment window: The rapid progression of severe infections limits the time for effective intervention²³¹.

Recent research has focused on targeting specific virulence factors, such as the M protein, which plays a crucial role in the pathogen's ability to evade host immune responses^{232,233}. The development of protective monoclonal antibodies against the M protein represents a promising avenue for future therapeutics, which we will discuss at the end of this chapter, which also involves the present investigation (Paper II).

GAS INFECTIONS IN A CLINICAL SETTING

Studies suggest that approximately 3% and 8% of adults and children, respectively, are asymptomatic carriers of GAS in the pharynx²³⁴. Other studies suggest it can be up to 20% for children²³⁵. Thus, GAS can be spread through human contact by healthy individuals without symptoms. From a clinical perspective, GAS is an interesting pathogen because it causes both self-limiting pharyngitis ("strep-throat"), which rarely requires antibiotics, and invasive skin disease with a mortality rate over 20% and a high risk of amputation (around 18%). Antibiotics for strep-throat are usually administered to reduce the risk of complications such as acute glomerulonephritis and rheumatic heart valve disease (RHD), in addition to lower contagiousness²³⁶. The impact of RHD should not be underestimated, given that approximately 233.000 lives are lost yearly due to this condition²²⁶. Although invasive GAS disease has a very high mortality and is a major risk of amputation, the incidence rate is low, around 2/100.000 people per year in the US, and globally around 33 million cases²³⁰. It is not understood why some patients are asymptomatic, while others develop disease.

However, a recent study, by Movert et al²³⁷, shed some interesting light onto this subject. The authors looked at clinical outcomes of patients who had severe cases of invasive skin disease, compared to the more superficial ones, and observed that there was a clear genetic factor in the detrimental cases. Firstly, type 1 interferon response has been linked to immune defense against Streptococcal infection (in mice)²³⁸. The authors observed that the virulence of the GAS isolates were linked to increased activation of NADase, an enzyme which deprives the host-cell of ATP leading to cell-death adding necrosis and promoting excessive inflammation. Secondly, the authors noted that, of these patients who had a detrimental outcome, they had a distinct allele of a gene encoding an important intracellular PRR. This allelic variant was shown experimentally to be a less potent inducer of the protective type 1 interferon response. Interestingly, another virulence factor was upregulated

in the invasive bacterial isolates, namely the toxin streptolysin O. This protein creates pores in human cells, leading to lysis, and interestingly, allows NADase entry into the host-cells²³⁹. Furthermore, adhesion of bacteria to the host-cells is mediated by the critical virulence factor the M protein²⁴⁰ which is required for SLO and NADase to be close to the target cell. Hence Movert and colleagues elegantly highlighted the complexity of host-pathogen interactions, the synergistic activity of virulence factors and taken together shed light into why certain individuals are perhaps more susceptible and predisposed for severe infection²³⁷. Similarly, the example study strongly demonstrates the synergy of the critical GAS virulence factors for invasive infection and induction of hyperinflammation. This is an intriguing subject, which Victor Nizet and Helena Bergsten wrote an excellent review about²³⁰. Vaccine research emphasizes on prevention of infection or reduction of severe cases through immunity against virulence factors, passive monoclonal antibody therapy would be more suitable for therapeutic indication once severe infection has occurred. Thus, in the next section, we will briefly discuss the clinical features of NSTI and then focus on important virulence factors for this clinical context and finally discuss recent findings on new therapeutic avenues against this pathogen.

Author note: It is worth noting that GAS can cause different clinical manifestations of severe infection (such as pneumonia), given paper II focus on NSTI (or using an NSTI-like animal model for GAS virulence) caused by GAS the main focus of this Cappa is on this clinical condition.

NECROTIZING SOFT-TISSUE INFECTION- FROM A CLINICAL POINT OF VIEW

Necrotizing soft-tissue infections (NSTI) can be caused by polymicrobial infections involving gram-negative bacteria or monomicrobial infections involving gram-positive bacteria. In the former case, patients are typically immunocompromised and the area of infection is usually involving the anogenital-area and head-neck area²⁴¹. In contrast, NSTI caused by GAS typically involves the extremities and thorax-abdomen, often in patients with few comorbidities who are immunocompetent^{241,242}. While *Streptococcus pyogenes* can cause superficial infections such as cellulitis and erysipelas, which involve the subcutaneous fat, epidermis, and dermis, NSTI involves deeper infection in the fascia and underlying muscle. The clinical picture can be complex, but common "*red flags*" are:

1. Pain out of proportion, a pain which is disproportionate to the apparent severity of the infection and extends beyond the visible borders of the skin change (site of infection)²⁴³.

- 2. Crepitations under the skin, suggesting presence of gas in the subcutaneous layer (emphysema), which would normally not exist there ²⁴³.
- 3. Elevated levels of inflammatory markers such as C-reactive protein (CRP), lactate (suggesting tissue hypoxia), and procalcitonin ²⁴³.
- 4. Compromised vital signs, including low systolic blood pressure (less than 100 mmHg), elevated heart rate (over 100 bpm), low blood oxygen saturation, and fever ²⁴³.

If NSTI is suspected, a sample should be taken from the affected tissue for a rapid antigen test (strep-A test) to detect carbohydrate A antigen, which provides an immediate diagnosis if positive²⁴⁴. The time to diagnosis is critical, since NSTI caused by *S.pyogenes* can have a rapid response with patients entering septic-shock if the bacterial load and toxins produced damage the tissue²⁴¹. Superantigens and necrotic debris exacerbate the host's inflammatory response, potentially leading to multi-organ failure ²⁴¹. Currently, sepsis is defined as a life-threatening organdysfunction caused by a detrimental response by the host to an infection, and septic shock is defined as a more severe form of sepsis where mortality rate is much higher. Monitoring a patient's vital signs is one method for assessing the severity of sepsis²⁴¹. For example, a patient with normal blood pressure and heart rate without intravenous fluid support is at lower risk of sepsis. However, if the same patient, with the same skin infection, would have had elevated heart rate in combination with a low blood pressure the vital signs would indicate a more severe case ²⁴¹. A septic patient may present with elevated heart rate and low blood pressure, but may respond to intravenous fluid resuscitation. In contrast, patients in septic shock do not respond to fluid resuscitation and may require norepinephrine infusion (to elevate blood pressure through systemic vasoconstriction)²⁴¹. Lung function can be monitored by assessing respiratory rate, blood oxygen saturation, and oxygen requirements. Kidney function can be monitored by measuring urine output per hour and serum creatinine levels. While no single test accurately diagnoses sepsis, blood tests revealing elevated CRP, lactate, decreased blood pH (suggestive of tissue hypoxia), and elevated organ-specific markers (such as ALT for liver or creatinine for kidney) can indicate a worsening clinical condition ²⁴¹. The problem of NSTI and subsequently the sepsis or septic shock that can happen, is the presence of high bacterial load which produces toxins that destroys the tissue and damages organs. The toxin activity, super-antigen release (more on this) combined with inflammatory debris from dead cells generates a strong immune response with excessive cytokine release resulting in sepsis and septic chock²⁴⁵. The cytokines, as we discussed in Chapter 1, can dilate the blood vessels which lowers blood pressure and the hypotension can induce damage to organ systems which are deprived of blood, and the negative spiral that happens can lead to the death of the patient.

Therefore, the goals of treatment are to reduce inflammation and eliminate the bacteria in addition to supportive assistance of the failing organs such as respirator care. Immediate surgical debridement is crucial; orthopedic surgeons remove infected tissue, sometimes requiring amputation, to prevent bacterial dissemination and reduce inflammatory debris. Early surgical intervention is essential to limit the inflammatory response and reduce bacterial burden ²⁴⁵. Multiple debridement's are often necessary to achieve source control (reducing bacterial burden to a level where antibiotics can effectively eliminate the remaining bacteria).

The current standard of care in Sweden and most countries, in addition to surgery, involves adjunctive intravenous penicillin and clindamycin²⁴⁶. The penicillin is used to directly kill the Streptococcal bacteria while Clindamycin targets the ribosomal production of proteins, which is aimed at reducing the toxins which lead to necrosis of host-tissue (it also kills bacteria) ^{247,248}. Although not universally standard, intravenous immunoglobulin (IVIG) is used in the treatment of NSTI^{247,249}. IVIG is a product of highly concentrated antibodies from more than 10.000 healthy donors, and in theory, would contain antibodies against toxins and other virulence factors expressed by the virulent GAS/strep and also be antiinflammatory. However, clinical trials have been inconclusive on the benefit of IVIG treatment for NSTI²⁵⁰. In early 2011, CDC reported that 8% of invasive Streptococcal pyogenes isolates exhibit resistance to clindamycin, quite alarmingly, this figure has now increased to 30% in the span of 10 years²⁵¹. Even when resistance is not an issue, the mortality rate remains high; in a recent study the 1-year mortality rate was 20%²⁴². Therefore, there is a significant need for additional therapeutic agents that can improve bacterial clearance, reduce the host's inflammatory response, and prevent tissue destruction and organ damage. In this context, we will discuss the importance of Streptococcal virulence factors in NSTI and severe disease, as well as the potential of monoclonal antibodies as adjunctive therapy (with relevance to Paper II).



Figure. 13. Virulence factors of Group A streptococcus (GAS) / Streptococcus pyogenes.A Illustration of Gram staining, where streptococci appear Gram-positive (stained purple). The image on the right shows how GAS grows in chains. B Streptolysin O forms pores in host cell membranes, leading to cell lysis. C Superantigens crosslink T-cell receptors (TCR) with MHC class II molecules, resulting in aberrant T-cell activation and proliferation. D GAS secretes multiple IgG-modifying enzymes: IdeS cleaves IgG at the hinge region, inhibiting IgG-Fc receptor (FcR) recognition by removing the Fc domain, while EndoS removes IgG glycans, which are crucial for high-affinity interaction with FcRs. E The M1 protein is targeted by antibodies at both its hypervariable domain and a more conserved domain closer to the bacterial surface. The former leads to type-specific immunity, while the latter induces cross-reactive immunity. M1 protein also binds to host proteins such as fibrinogen and albumin shown to inhibit IgG opsonization, theorised to be due to sterically blocking opsonic epitopes. Created using BioRender.

VIRULENCE FACTORS IMPORTANT DURING ACUTE INFECTIONS FOLLOWING COLONIZATION

While *S. pyogenes* has many virulence factors crucial for establishing infection and evading pre-existing immune responses, several key factors are noteworthy when discussing acute NSTI, sepsis, and toxic shock syndrome. As discussed above, in NSTI, the bacterium produces toxins that destroy surrounding tissues, including skin layers, fascia, and muscles²³⁰. These toxins can eliminate macrophages, red blood cells, and other immune components. This is important for several reasons. Firstly, breaching the skin and deeper layers allows for wider and even systemic

spread of the infection Secondly, by directly eliminating effector cells of the innate and adaptive immune responses, bacterial growth is less hindered²³⁰. Additionally, it is worth noting that these toxins are more concentrated at the infection site. Thirdly, the release of cellular content from necrotic tissue promotes a strong inflammatory response, which may lead to sepsis, characterized by hypotension and organ failure, further weakening the host^{242,243,247}. Thus, toxin production by GAS plays a critical role in disease progression, and we will discuss some noteworthy toxins below.

STREPTOLYSIN O, S AND NADASE

Streptolysin O is a 60-kilodalton protein that binds to cholesterol-enriched cellular membranes. Monomeric SLO clusters together and oligomerize and form a ringshaped structure²³⁰. This structure, undergoing a conformational change, will then insert itself into the membrane and form a pore. Unfortunately for the host, SLO preferentially forms pores in neutrophils and macrophages but also affects other cell types such as erythrocytes (Figure 13B)²³⁰. Pore formation leads to cell death via unregulated ion influx, causing cellular swelling and lysis. The destruction of immune cells allows for evasion of phagocytosis (increased bacterial load) and allows for systemic spread (infection is not contained at the local site)²⁵². Similarly, destruction of epithelial and endothelial cells by SLO reduces tissue integrity and further allows bacterial dissemination in the bloodstream. Interestingly, poreformation facilitates bacterial invasion into non-phagocytic cells, creating a protective niche where the neutrophils and other phagocytes cannot reach the invader. Furthermore, SLO is known to synergize with other bacterial toxins such as NADase²⁵³. NADase, which exerts its cytotoxic effects intracellularly, can enter through the SLO-pores or via SLO-mediated translocation in a pore-independent manner²⁵⁴. Once inside the cell, NADase hydrolyzes NAD+, depleting ATP, leading to cellular death. Additionally, NADase prevents acidification of the phagolysosome in macrophages which allows intracellular survival in these cells by the bacterium²³⁹. Another noteworthy consequence of SLO is that its proinflammatory effects lead to microvascular thrombosis (in studies with rats), leading to further ischemia of the tissue which causes necrosis²⁵⁵. In a recent study by Tang et al. SLO was noted to facilitate the conversion of plasminogen to the active form plasmin, which lyze blood clots, potentially allowing systemic bacterial dissemination²⁵⁶. Overall, SLO and NADase play a critical role in GAS pathogenesis by promoting immune evasion, tissue destruction, and possibly enabling. systemic bacterial spread. Their synergistic effects and the clinical impact

they potentially have underscore the aggressive nature of invasive GAS infections such as NSTI and TSS.

Another streptolysin toxin, streptolysin S (SLS), is thought to contribute to the classical symptom of "pain out of proportion". It has been shown to directly activate pain-receptors in neurons (TRPV1+ noiceceptor neurons) which generates an unproportionate pain sensation in the patient²⁵⁷. The reason for this specific binding is believed to be that neutrophil recruitment is impaired by the release of a neuropeptide by the TRPV1+ neurons. In addition, SLS preferentially binds to erythrocytes (red blood cells) and keratinocytes, inducing osmotic changes leading to lysis²³⁰. Thus *Streptococcus pyogenes* can produce several toxins with varying specificities, complementing and enhancing each other.

STREPTOCOCCAL PYROGENIC EXOTOXINS- SPE

While NSTI is characterized by tissue necrosis caused by NADase, SLS, and SLO (among other virulence factors), a subset of patients exhibit an aberrant hyperactive T-cell response marked by excessive cytokine release. This condition, known as streptococcal toxic shock syndrome (STSS), is mediated by T-cell activation via streptococcal superantigens known as streptococcal pyrogenic exotoxins (SPEs)^{258,259}. These interactions occur at the immunological synapse, where MHC molecules engage T-cell receptors (TCRs), as discussed in **Chapter 1 (Figure 13C)**.

To date, 13 superantigens produced by Streptococcus pyogenes have been identified, and among these²⁶⁰ SpeA is considered a key mediator of streptococcal toxic shock syndrome and commonly associated with NSTI. These superantigens are small proteins, roughly between 22-28 kilodaltons in size. Interestingly, multiple superantigens are often produced simultaneously, with 3 to 6 different toxins typically expressed by a single bacterial isolate during infection. This phenomenon is believed to be due to the varying affinities that different toxins have to the numerous T-cell receptors (TCRs)²⁶¹. SPEs possess the remarkable ability to crosslink MHC class II molecules with TCRs by binding to a conserved site on MHC class II and variable regions on the beta chain of TCRs. TCR binding generally occurs outside the peptide-recognition site and is independent of antigen processing²⁶². Thus the binding of SPEs to MHC and TCR can directly activate CD4+ and CD8+ T-cells while also inducing cytokine release from the APCs. Furthermore, because numerous genes encode TCR variable domains, and VJ recombination generates diversity, it is not unsurprising that multiple toxins are produced to expand the range of targetable TCRs²⁶³. Similarly, variation in MHC class II alleles influence exotoxin binding. Additionally, different alleles of speA

significantly affect their binding affinity for MHC class II, with SpeA3 exhibiting the highest affinity in experimental studies. *In vivo*, T-cell activation induces proinflammatory cytokine production followed by initial T-cell proliferation and subsequent depletion²⁶⁴; this depletion is hypothesized to impair Immunoglobulin responses due to reduced CD4+ help²⁵⁸. Clinically, disease severity depends heavily on both the patient's genetic background and the combined phenotype of exotoxins produced. This variability makes it challenging to predict which patients will experience mild disease versus those requiring intensive care. Ultimately, streptococcal exotoxins drive T-cell activation by hijacking APC-T-cell interactions at the immunological synapse. This process induces a hyperinflammatory state that can result in sepsis and an inadequate immune response. The importance of SpeA activity has been demonstrated in murine models where pre-existing immunity induced through vaccination with a SpeA-mutant toxoid was shown to abolish infection²⁵⁹.

ENDOS AND IDES- TARGETING THE HUMORAL IMMUNE RESPONSE

While SLO and SLS directly target the phagocytes by lysing them, other virulence factors that can interfere with the extracellular elimination of the pathogen by inhibiting IgG and complement opsonins. As discussed briefly in Chapter 2, the bacterium produces two enzymes called EndoS and IdeS which have highspecificity to human IgG^{117,188}. EndoS, a bacterial glycan hydrolase, is a secreted enzyme that removes the glycans at the CH2 domain of human IgG's. As discussed in Chapter 2, the CH2-glycans are crucial for stable interaction between the IgG and its FcRs. Thus this glycan removal by EndoS reduces the affinity of the polyclonal IgG to their Fc-gamma receptors. In this manner, EndoS contributes to immune evasion by reducing Fc-mediated phagocytosis by neutrophils and macrophages. Similarly, IdeS enhances bacterial survival by escaping phagocytosis through cleavage of human IgG at the lower hinge domain, thereby abolishing interactions between the Fc and FcR (Figure 13D)^{117,118,265}. It is worth noting that few studies have looked at in vivo activity of IdeS and EndoS from clinical settings in causes such as NSTI. However, Naegeli et al²⁶⁶. analyzed the polyclonal IgG in GAS-infected patients using mass spectrometry and observed IgG glycan hydrolysis at the local infection sites attributed to EndoS activity. The authors demonstrated EndoS activity in vivo using a murine model with a GAS mutant lacking EndoS and compared its outcomes to those of a wild-type (WT) isolate. Mice challenged with the WT GAS isolate exhibited significantly higher bacterial loads in various organs (e.g., spleen and skin), suggesting systemic spread compared to those infected with the EndoS mutant. However, it is worth keeping in mind that the design of these

animal experiments have great influence on the outcome measured. Toledo and Bratanis et al²⁶⁷. demonstrated that EndoS and IdeS activity varies greatly depending on the route of bacterial administration (e.g., subcutaneous or intraperitoneal injection). Thus, replicating what occurs in a heterogeneous patient population with diverse clinical isolates is highly challenging; experimental findings may lack direct relevance to clinical settings. This challenge is highlighted by a study analyzing neutralizing antibody titers against IdeS from patients with severe or mild GAS disease. Although the polyclonal mix of antibodies could effectively neutralize IdeS activity in vitro, the presence of neutralizing antibody titers did not influence the severity of disease- raising questions about this virulence factor for acute disease²⁶⁵. In another study, Karlsson et al²⁶⁸. analyzed IgG peptides from tonsillar swabs (tonsillitis) and skin samples (NSTI patients) from GAS infected patients to detect IgG cleavage by IdeS using mass spectrometry. They also analyzed IgG-rich environments such as tissue fluids and serum. The authors noted that in IgG-low environments (swab-material), IgG was efficiently cleaved by IdeS, while IgG-rich environments were not affected. IdeS is suggested to exhibit in vivo activity locally at sites with high bacterial loads and low IgG levels rather than within systemic circulation ²⁶⁸. Taken together, GAS produces several virulence factors that specifically target human IgG to evade adaptive immune responses - highlighting their importance for anti-pathogen defense mechanisms.

M PROTEIN - THE HOLY GRAIL OF *Streptococcus pyogenes* research

The M protein is a dimeric helical protein that forms a coiled-coil structure, protrudes from the bacterial surface, and is covalently linked to the peptidoglycan wall^{233,269}. Electron microscopy images of GAS bacteria show that the M protein is predominantly expressed and covers nearly the entire bacterial surface. M protein has several critical functions for bacterial virulence, the most clinically relevant of which is inhibiting phagocytosis by neutrophils and macrophages²⁷⁰. Given its importance, vaccine design against GAS has been centered on this protein. However, the type of protein expressed by different clinical isolates varies significantly, and there is significant antigenic diversity in the N-terminal domain of the protein which happens to also generate an adaptive immune response (it has high immunogenicity)²³². This region, therefore, is known as hypervariable domain and is used in serotyping strains. Strain typing is performed using PCR in a method called *emm*-typing Specific immunity can be generated against an infecting *emm* type through the production of antibodies targeting its hypervariable domain. This

concept, based on older historical research, is referred to as type-specific immune response²⁷¹. A consequence of a strain-specific response is that it would possibly not result in a cross-strain reactive response against the other serotypes. With more than 200 different *emm* types²⁷², mounting a broad protective immune response remains challenging. More recent vaccine clinical trials have shown that different *emm* types can elicit opsonic antibodies that cross-react with non-vaccine serotypes²⁷³. Similarly, De Neergaard et al demonstrated that infecting strains from diverse *emm* types can raise cross-reactive opsonic antibodies against other dissimilar *emm* types²⁷⁴. Thus, in both infection and vaccine settings, it appears that cross-reactive, non-type-specific opsonic antibodies can be generated against diverse *emm* types. To better understand how monoclonal antibodies can be used as therapeutics targeting the M protein and how engineering can enhance these mAbs we will focus on the adaptive immune response to various M protein epitopes, its role in severe disease, and recent advances in monoclonal antibody development for this critical target.

STRUCTURE & FUNCTION OF THE M PROTEIN

The various *emm* types can be classified in different ways based on function, sequence, and structural architecture. One such classification is the *emm* pattern classification, which looks at sequence repeats in the overall protein. So far, there exists 5 patterns: A, B, C, D and E^{269} . Of these, clinical isolates belonging to *emm* pattern A-C tend to cause pharyngeal infections, while D strains are more prominent in cutaneous infection, which illustrates that this classification system has good clinical relevance²⁷⁵. It is worth noting that apart from sequence variety which influences the humoral adaptive response, not all M proteins have the same effects on the host due to different structural differences. We will not discuss these differences; instead, we will focus on discussing the function and structure of *emm*1, which belongs to the A-C *emm* pattern. The focus on emm1 (M1 protein) is twofold, first it is the leading *emmty*pe responsible for invasive GAS disease worldwide²⁷⁶. It has been estimated that M1 and M3 expressing strains are responsible for 50% of all invasive disease²⁷⁷. Secondly, and most importantly, the focus of paper II is primarily on M1 expressing strains.

Like other emmtypes, *emm1* expresses repeated motifs below the hypervariable region (named A, B, C, D and E repeats respectively). In the case of *emm1*, it has two B-repeat motifs and downstream of it (closer to the cell-wall) it has three C-repeats²⁶⁹. Each B repeat consists of 25 amino acids that are repeated 4 times, while each C repeat has 35 amino acids that are repeated 2 times. Not all *emmty*pes contain

all these repeats, but the C-repeats are present in all *emmt*ypes. In the N-terminal domain of the M1 protein at the B1-B2 repeats, the bacteria can bind human fibringen and fibronectin²⁷⁸. Fibronectin binding by M protein has been previously linked to adhesion and invasion in epithelial cells, important for colonization and bacterial spread in tissues²⁷⁹. Fibrinogen binding to the M1 protein can lead to a complex structure which activates monocytes and neutrophils through activation of Beta-2 integrins²³³. Upon neutrophil activation by the M1-fibrinogen complex (which cannot happen by these proteins individually) heparin-binding protein is released by the cells which induce vasodilation of blood vessels, leading to vascular leakage and the patient can become septic (hypotension with organ-failure)^{233,280}. The M1 protein has the ability of also binding human albumin at its C-terminal domain, which is believed to stabilize the coiled-coil structure. More interestingly binding of both fibrinogen and albumin to the N-terminal domain and C-terminal domain has been shown to inhibit the opsonic activity of antibodies binding to the B and C repeats between these domains. Antibodies binding to the hypervariable region did not suffer from this issue, suggesting that these serum proteins sterically block the binding of the B and C-repeat antibodies (Figure 13E)²⁸¹.

It is worth noting that other *emm*types can reduce complement activation by binding to negative complement regulators such as C4BP and Factor H, leading to less killing by complement opsonization²⁶⁹. Interestingly, M1 protein does not have this ability. Moreover, downstream of the B2 repeat is the S-region of the M1 protein, which can bind human IgG Fc at a micromolar affinity²⁸⁰. The M-protein bound IgGs can then be effectively cleaved by IdeS and their Fc-glycans hydrolyzed by EndoS which are secreted from the bacterial surface. Non-M protein specific antibodies can thus be rendered less efficient by the synergistic activity of M protein, IdeS, EndoS and other proteases (such as speB). Interestingly, in a recent study by Happonen et al²⁸², the authors noted that, in their MS-based approach of analyzing proteomic network of GAS-human serum/saliva interactions, IgG3 antibodies against M protein are dominantly responsible for opsonization of the bacteria. They also found that IdeS secretion by GAS is an efficient counter for this due to more susceptible cleavage of this subclass in the hinge domain by the protease. Thus there seems to be a delicate dance between human IgG, M protein and other GAS virulence factors such as IdeS.

DISCOVERY OF THE FIRST OPSONIC HUMAN MONOCLONAL ANTIBODY AGAINST THE M PROTEIN

Given the lack of efficacy of IVIG in improving survival rates in NSTI infections caused by *GAS*, researchers are exploring new therapeutic strategies. One promising avenue involves targeting the M protein, a key virulence factor and an important target for antibody-mediated opsonophagocytosis. In a study by Bahnan et al.¹⁷⁰, the investigators isolated IgG+ B-cells (CD19+/CD3-) reactive to the M1 protein using fluorescence-activated cell sorting (FACS) (see **Chapter 3** for details). These B-cells were obtained from a healthy convalescent donor who had successfully cleared a *GAS*-induced tonsillitis infection. However, the infecting strain and *emm* type were not identified. From these B-cells, the authors generated 10 monoclonal antibodies (mAbs), four of which exhibited strong reactivity to the M1 protein when tested using live bacteria expressing M1 protein (compared to a Δ M1 strain). These antibodies were designated Ab25, Ab26, Ab32, and Ab49.

Interestingly, one mAb clone, Ab25, demonstrated unique characteristics that set it apart from the others. Using cross-link mass spectrometry to analyze the epitopes targeted by these antibodies, it was found that Ab49 bound specifically to the B2-repeat region of the M1 protein. In contrast, Ab25 exhibited a dual-binding mode: it bound to the same epitope as Ab49 in the B2-repeat region but also targeted an additional epitope in the C-repeat region. This dual-binding mechanism, referred to as dual-Fab cis-binding, enabled Ab25 to bind two distinct epitopes on the same antigen. It is a natural bi-specific antibody in other words. This unique binding property translated into functional differences between the antibodies. While Ab49 could not mediate opsonophagocytic of heat-killed bacteria, Ab25 effectively promoted this process. The enhanced opsonic activity of Ab25 was attributed either to its bi-specific nature or to its ability to target the lower epitope in the C-repeat region, which Ab49 does not bind. Remarkably, Ab25 demonstrated potent opsonic activity that exceeded IVIG by several-fold: 10 μ g/mL of Ab25 outperformed 1 mg/mL of IVIG in functional ADCP assays.

The protective potential of Ab25 was further demonstrated in a murine skininfection model in the same study. In this model, mice were prophylactically treated with either PBS (control), IVIG (10 mg/mouse), or Ab25 (0.25 mg/mouse) prior to intraperitoneal challenge with a high inoculum of a hypervirulent M1-expressing strain (*AP1*). The authors assessed bacterial spread to distant organs and quantified bacterial loads to evaluate treatment efficacy. In the PBS group, all mice exhibited high bacterial loads in the spleen, kidneys, and liver (~100,000-300.000 CFU/g), indicating that their immune systems were unable to contain the infection. IVIG provided partial protection, preventing bacterial dissemination in 30–40% of mice (roughly 4.000-20.000 CFU/g); however, most subjects in this group had bacterial loads comparable to those in the PBS group. In contrast, Ab25 provided superior protection: 50-70% of mice treated with Ab25 showed no detectable bacteria in their organs, and those with some dissemination exhibited significantly lower bacterial loads compared to PBS or IVIG-treated groups. Notably, this protective effect was achieved at a 40-fold lower dose than IVIG (2.5% of the IVIG dose). These results highlight Ab25's potential as a preclinical candidate for further development as a therapeutic agent for NSTI caused by *GAS*. Another promising feature of Ab25 is its specificity: it does not cross-react with human tissues and demonstrated cross-reactivity with all 13 *emm* types tested - despite significant sequence dissimilarities among these strains. This broad reactivity underscores its potential utility against diverse *GAS* strains. The pioneering work by Bahnan et al. has laid critical groundwork for advancing monoclonal antibody research targeting M protein. Paper II of this thesis builds upon this foundation and explores related avenues in greater detail.

Author comment on the chapter:

Streptococcus pyogenes imposes a significant disease burden, particularly in terms of the impact on life and quality of life during invasive infections. Even in non-fatal cases, patients often experience severe sequelae, including organ failure and amputation. New treatments are needed for this disease. Interestingly, analysis of patient outcomes suggests that the presence of endogenous M-protein-specific antibodies may protect against severe disease, potentially preventing its occurrence (making severe cases the tip of the iceberg, with many cases being managed by treatment and the patient's immune system). If this rationale holds true, the adjunctive use of M-protein-specific monoclonal antibodies (mAbs) could offer a promising new therapeutic approach for treating severe necrotizing soft tissue infections (NSTI) caused by Group A Streptococcus (GAS). However, can such therapeutics be enhanced for better effects through antibody engineering? This question is the primary focus of Paper II in this thesis and will be explored in greater detail.

CHAPTER VI SARS-COV-2 - A CASE STUDY OF WHEN MODERN MEDICINE ROSE UP TO THE CHALLENGE

Introduction

At the end of 2019 and the beginning of 2020, reports were circulating that hospitals in China were seeing strange new cases of pneumonia²⁸³. In the region of Wuhan, cases were rapidly mounting. It was later discovered that a new virus, designated Severe Acute Respiratory Syndrome Coronavirus 2 (SARS-CoV-2), was the causative agent, and the disease was named Coronavirus Disease 2019 (COVID-19)²⁸⁴. This virus belongs to the coronavirus family, which is a known and common disease-causing virus. Common cold-viruses belong to this group, such as OC-43, NL-63 and HKU-1, which cause mild colds in humans by infecting the upperrespiratory tract. Coronaviruses can also infect other animals such as pangolins, camels, and bats, and through zoonotic transfer, they can spill over to humans²⁸⁴. As a matter of fact, in this decade, this has occurred at least two times prior to 2020, in the form of MERS (which came from camels)²⁸⁵ and the SARS outbreak (emerged from bats)286, which luckily never reached pandemic potential. This has been suggested to be due to patients dying from the disease or being largely severely ill combined with relatively low infectivity of these viral strains (compared to measles for instance)²⁸⁴. However, what would happen if they would have been more infectious and made the host critically ill at the same time? The answer, regrettably, we got in the form of "the COVID-19 pandemic, which has been estimated to have caused up to 7 million deaths as of March 2025, according to the WHO²⁸⁷. Furthermore, if one analyzes the number of excess deaths/mortality (the increase in number of deaths during this time period compared to the expected number of deaths as seen prior to the pandemic), the cumulative figure is estimated to be more than 25 million. Thus, it is most likely that there is a significant underestimation of total deaths caused by COVID-19 (due to underreporting of deaths). The origin of SARS-CoV-2 is a politically debated question as well as scientifically, with an animal-origin theory being one and the other is that it is an engineered virus created in a lab which, due to an accident, leaked (lab-leak theory)²⁸⁸. Irrespective of the origin, this virus has been highly successful in infecting human hosts leading to millions of hospitalizations, deaths and post-infection sequelae²⁸⁹. In this chapter we will briefly discuss the clinical manifestation, its virulence proteins, with a focus on the spike antigen, about the adaptive immune response and how monoclonal antibodies have been used to treat

this pathogen. We will emphasize the role of non-neutralizing Fc-functions in immune protection, of which all four papers in this thesis are focusing on.

OVID-19: FROM A CLINICIANS POINT OF VIEW

It is worth noting that, with new viral variants and as humoral immunity has been generated post-vaccination and infection, the clinical picture has been altered. However, in the beginning of the pandemic during the first year, patients who got infected were hospitalized to a much greater degree due to higher virulence of the virus combined with lack of preexisting immunity. SARS-CoV-2 utilizes a protein called Spike, which enables it to enter host cells expressing human angiotensin converting enzyme 2 receptor (hACE2R) (Figure 14A-B)¹⁵⁸. hACE2R is expressed mostly in cells coating the epithelial line of the upper and lower respiratory tract, which allows for high infectivity of SARS-CoV-2 in the respiratory tract²⁹⁰. The clinical picture was thus dominated by symptoms from this area. While most patients remain asymptomatic or have mild disease in the form of fever, malaise, cough, dyspnea, confusion and myalgia. It was estimated early in the pandemic that 20% of infected become more severely ill with diffuse wide-spread infection in the lungs, pneumonia, with CT-scans showing changes which are called ground-glass (due to how it appears)^{291–293}. Of these 20%, roughly a quarter needs oxygen substitution due to severe pneumonia, and extreme cases progress to something called acute respiratory distress syndrome (ARDS, Figure 14C). In one study²⁹¹, more than 50% of the patients with ARDS died due to the disease, in a cohort of patients from the Wuhan region when infected with the original strain in 2020. ARDS is defined as a hypoxic state (insufficient oxygen-carbon dioxide exchange in the alveoli) with bilateral infiltrates on CT scan (due to increased permeability of the blood vessels in the lungs). The risk of death in ARDS patients was associated with increasing age, male gender, comorbidities such as cardiovascular disease, chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD) and metabolic syndrome (diabetes, obese. hypertension)²⁹⁴. Initially, treatment options were few, and patients were given oxygen and in some cases corticosteroid treatment which improved survival rates when patients had ARDS. Antiviral therapy in the form of Remdesivir, was also employed based on known in vitro activity against MERS, as well as a Malaria drug called Chloroquine ²⁹⁵. Other treatment options were plasma therapy, where the idea was that passive transfer of IgGs (where some would be directed against the spike virulence protein) from survivors would improve clinical outcome of oxygenrequiring patients²⁹⁶. However, in all these cases, clinical trials did not display a clear

benefit except for possibly Remdesivir, which improved time to clinical improvement compared to control (not statistically significant) in a highly cited RCT²⁹⁷.

Hope was lit in the form of monoclonal antibody therapeutics against the viral pathogen²⁹⁶. Using the techniques of monoclonal antibody discovery discussed in **Chapter 3**, researchers and companies could quickly generate high-affinity antibodies against the spike protein which neutralized the virus's ability to infect host cells. In 2021, U.S. Food and Drug Administration (FDA)(FDA) approved the use of three monoclonal antibody treatments, in the form of three treatments²⁹⁶:

- 1. Bamlanivimab (LY-CoV555) and Etesevimab (LY-CoV016) by Eli-lilly
- 2. Casirivimab (REGN10987) and imdevimab (REGN10933) By Regeneron
- 3. SotrovimAb by Vir Biotechnology and GlaxoSmithKline

These antibody treatments all showed reduction in the form of hospitalization and/or death, reduction of viral titers and milder symptoms compared to randomized controls for patients with mild-severe COVID. As an example, in the phase 3 randomized clinical trial assessing Bamlanivimab and Etesevimab, 10 patients out of 517 in the control group died while zero cases of death out of the 518 mAb treated group in addition to lower viral titers (measured at day 7)²⁹⁸.

It is worth mentioning that COVID-19 is not a strict respiratory pathogen, it has been shown that it can infect all types of organs in the human body, including the brain, heart, kidney, liver and spleen, when analyzing tissues from deceased patients²⁹¹. As a matter of fact, spike protein itself has been shown to deposit itself in various organs (bone, meninges and brain), with the clinical relevance of this remaining unclear, and will most likely be elucidated in the future. Importantly, COVID-19 has been associated with a broad-range of chronic symptoms which have occurred a few weeks post SARS-CoV-2 infection which are not attributed to any other disease- this is known as Long COVID²⁸⁹. Interestingly, acute COVID-19 infections have been associated with a hyperinflammatory immune response affecting multiple organs, known as Multisystem inflammatory syndrome in children (MIS-C)²⁹⁹. This hyperinflammatory state is distinct from the immune response in acute COVID-19 disease (severe disease) in adults in addition to other known hyperinflammatory conditions post-infection in children such as Kawasaki's disease (a form of vasculitis). Thus, although treatment for acute COVID-19 and prophylaxis by vaccination is crucial, several patients have complicated sequelae from infections such as in MIS-C and Long-Covid where much research is needed. This thesis focus is on the acute form of the disease cause by COVID-19 and subsequent sections will focus on the humoral adaptive response which leads to viral clearance and host protection, ending with recent advances made in understanding on how Fc-mediated functions are protective and what this means for the future of the field.



Figure 14. SARS-CoV-2 original strain caused lower respiratory disease. A. Illustration depicting the virion structure of SARS-CoV-2, with the spike protein highlighted. The top part of the spike protein, the S1 domain, contains the receptor-binding domain, which binds to the host ACE2 receptor (**B**). The model of the spike protein in (**B**) is generated based on crystal structures from published work³⁰⁰, with accession numbers highlighted in the figure. After binding to human ACE2 receptors, a membrane-bound protease cleaves the spike protein, leading to a conformational shift in which the S2 domain protrudes into the host membrane, facilitating viral entry via membrane fusion. **C** depicts a patient infected by the virus in the lungs, leading to inefficient gas exchange in the alveoli. Many patients experienced acute respiratory failure due to a combination of hyperinflammatory immune responses and a lack of viral control in the lungs, requiring respiratory support in the ICU in severe COVID-19 cases. A subset of oxygen-dependent patients developed a condition called acute respiratory distress syndrome, which is associated with high mortality. Created using BioRender.

THE IMMUNE RESPONSE- THE BODY FIGHTS BACK

As discussed in **Chapter 1**, the innate immune system contains effector cells which can independently detect and fight of intruding invaders through pattern recognition receptors (for phagocytosis for instance), complement activation, NK-cell mediated killing by infected cells (independent of antibodies) and mobilize a proinflammatory response. PPRs are particularly important for intracellular detection

of foreign DNA, through the STING pathway. Such is the case with initial SARS-CoV-2 infection. One of the first lines of defense are the alveolar macrophages in the lungs, which can digest foreign pathogens and secrete proinflammatory cytokines to recruit more effector cells in addition to activate antiviral defenses (through interferon-gamma secretion to neighboring cells)³⁰¹. However, it has been shown that SARS-CoV-2, like MERS-CoV and SARS-CoV-1, have several virulence factors such as ORF6 (an accessory protein)³⁰² which can downregulate expression of interferon-gamma induced genes by interfering with the intracellular STING-signaling pathway³⁰¹. Thus, as hospitals were flooded in the initial first wave of the pandemic, the lack of preexisting immunity could not be compensated by the innate immune system for many patients, especially elderly who had preexisting conditions. As a matter of fact, severe COVID-19 disease has been associated with a dysregulated hyperinflammatory phenotype with potent proinflammatory cytokines correlated with inflammatory cell death (infected cells)³⁰³. Too potent inflammatory response can inhibit the adaptive immune response leading to impaired production and generation of humoral antibody response, which has been observed in COVID-19 patients ³⁰¹. Thus the clinical outcome is highly dependent on innate immune response, particularly the balance in cytokine mobilization which can be influenced by host genetic factors, preexisting conditions and the pathogens virulence proteins.

While the innate immunity mobilizes against the virus, the adaptive immune response is being generated in the germinal centers of lymphoid organs as discussed in Chapter 1. The main protective immune response is generated by T-cells recognizing epitopes on the spike protein and polyclonal antibody response by Bcells against the same target. Development of anti-spike CD4+ and CD8+ T-cells has been linked to viral clearance and mild disease³⁰⁴, while lymphocytopenia in COVID-19 patients have poor clinical outcome²⁹², suggesting a crucial role for B and T-cells. In patients undergoing B-cell depleting therapy, CD8+ T-cell has been correlated with improved clinical outcome as well, potentially compensating for the lack of humoral immune response in these immunocompromised patients³⁰⁵. However it is worth noting that excessive CD8+ T-cell activation has also been linked to poor outcome³⁰⁶, which most likely reflects the high viral load in these patients where the immune system has failed to clear the infection ³⁰⁶. T-cell immune response is maintained to counter a second reinfection of SARS-CoV-2, suggesting a more durable response than the humoral one where titers drop after a few months post-infection or vaccination³⁰⁷.

CORRELATE OF PROTECTION- IMPORTANCE OF MEASURING THE "PROTECTIVE FUNCTION"

As discussed in **Chapter 1**, the humoral adaptive immune response is dependent on efficient T-cell help for somatic hypermutation, class-switching, antibody production by plasma cells and memory-formation³⁰⁸. The antibody response against SARS-CoV-2 has been shown to be intricately linked to protection in clinical trials when accessing vaccine efficacy but also post natural infection³⁰⁹. The correlation of protection has been linked to both neutralizing anti-spike titers and overall anti-spike titers³¹⁰. However, it is worth noting that using neutralizing titers of anti-spike antibodies could potentially mask other protective immune functions which these neutralizing antibodies can elicit³¹¹. As a matter of fact, antigen-binding antibodies can be neutralizing, and can be opsonic, and neutralizing antibodies can thus be both opsonic and neutralizing¹³⁰. Hence, when measuring neutralizing function in serum without measuring other antibody functions, the correlation of protection might be given too much weight to neutralizing function compared to ADCP, ADCC and other antibody based effector functions. More work is emerging showing that these functions^{130,303,312,313} are protective in humans and in animal models, which stresses the importance of using these metrics as well in a broader correlate of protection determinants.

THE **RBD** IS IMMUNODOMINANT FOR BOTH NEUTRALIZING AND NON-NEUTRALIZING ANTIBODIES

One of the key components of the immune response against SARS-CoV-2 is the generation of antibodies that prevent viral entry into host-cells. As discussed in Chapter 2, these neutralizing antibodies differ in their epitopes where some target the receptor-binding domain (RBD) and others target non-RBD sites (such as NTD and the S2-domain)¹⁵⁹. Interestingly, independent research groups have discovered that the germline-family of the V-gene (such as IGHV3-53) is a key determinant for neutralizing mechanism against the RBD domain, where little to no SHM was required to efficiently neutralize the wild-type virus³¹⁴. Similar findings have been shown to be the case for antibodies against the S2 domain, where germline mAbs (without SHM) could efficiently neutralize a diverse set of Betacoronavirus (SARS, MERS, SARS-CoV-2)⁸⁷. However, with the emergence of SARS-CoV-2 mutants such as Omicron, which contained 15 new mutations in the RBD at epitopes important for neutralization, many neutralizing antibodies lost their function³¹⁵. Similarly, many clinically approved antibodies were rendered obsolete by the emerging sub variants from Omicron. Interestingly, these epitopes that were affected by mutations did not impact the T-cell response³¹⁶, which proved to be more durable than the B-cell

response against these variants³¹⁷. It was later shown that the viral evolution was driven towards increasing its affinity to the human ACE2 receptor³¹⁸ while also evading the humoral immune response³¹⁹. Consequently, with the advent of mRNA technology for vaccine design, the vaccine boosters employed during the later parts of the pandemic could be tailored to the dominating strain circulating³²⁰. However, due to the presence of preexisting memory B cells, booster vaccinations did not significantly elevate neutralizing antibody titers against the updated spike protein due to a phenomenon known as original antigenic \sin^{321} . Thus, with the emergence of new mutations in the spike protein, and due to preexisting immunity against the previous infecting strain and vaccination, the humoral immune response is more limited in generating new neutralizing antibodies against novel spike variants³¹⁹. Additionally, with each new variant, the efficacy of neutralizing antibody titers has declined, while viral infectivity has increased³²². Notably though, the newer variants post-Omicron have higher tropism for the upper-respiratory tract, reduced fusogenicity (promotion of host cells fusing together leading to tissue damage), resulting in more cold-like symptoms rather than pneumonia-type disease as with the WT strain ³²². It is also worth noting that, while neutralizing response is lower than against WT strain, T-cell response remains robust³¹⁶ and other non-neutralizing antibody responses have been shown to mediate protection in humans³⁰³. The evidence for these Fc-mediated functions will be discussed in the next section.


Figure 15. Non-neutralizing effector functions correlate with increased survival in the clinic and in animal models. A Illustration showing that clinical outcomes correlate with the Fc functionality of the polyclonal IgG response to the spike protein, where strong antibody-dependent cellular cytotoxicity (ADCC) and antibody-dependent cellular phagocytosis (ADCP) functions are associated with survival. **B** Plasma transfer therapy studies indicate that convalescent plasma with stronger ADCP and ADCC functions—despite having the same neutralizing titers—provides better protection against lethal infection in K18-hACE2 mice. **C** Similarly, Fc-enhancing mutations in neutralizing antibodies correlate with improved survival in K18-hACE2 murine models.Created using BioRender. **Note:** Adapted with major modifications from an original figure by Izadi and Nordenfelt published in *Trends in Immunology*¹³⁰.

PROTECTIVE NON-NEUTRALIZING FC FUNCTIONS: THE OVERLOOKED MECHANISM IN SARS-COV-2 IMMUNITY

As the mutations accumulated in the spike RBD and NTD, sites where almost all neutralizing antibodies targets, serum neutralizing titers dropped markedly³²³. For example, in a population that had received three vaccine doses based on the WT strain, neutralization of the XBB variant was 71-fold lower compared to the original strain³¹⁹. However, it was noted that the polyclonal antibody response could still maintain Fc-mediated functions such as ADCC and ADCP, meaning that most of the antibody functions were maintained despite a significant drop in neutralizing ability³²⁴. These antibody responses were generated in both natural and vaccine-induced immunity. The clinical relevance of these functions has been elucidated in an excellent study by Zohar et al³⁰³, where they analyzed IgG response from

survivors and non-survivors. In cases where the clinical outcome was positive, the anti-spike IgG response correlated with strong FcR-binding and function. Interestingly, non-survivors had a markedly worse Fc-functional output in their antispike response (Figure 15A). Neutralization titers did not differ among the groups, suggesting that for viral control and clearance (after infection has taken place) Fcfunctions are crucial for survival. This study was supported by Yu et al³²⁵, where they observation that, in vaccinated rhesus macaques, reduction in viral load in the lower-respiratory tract correlated more strongly with ADCP and ADCD function by RBD-antibodies compared to neutralizing titers. These findings suggested that both Fab and Fc-function are essential for viral control. These studies have been further supported by in vivo data from animal work where neutralizing monoclonal antibodies with enhanced Fc-function (by GAALIE, GASDALIE mutations) protect much better than the WT mAb in K18-hACE2 and golden-hamster models. This was discussed in Chapter 4 in detail (see study by Winkler and Yamin et al, Figure 15B)^{157,326}. Interestingly, in those studies, the Fc-enhanced antibodies protected better in a therapeutic context, further reinforcing that Fc-function is crucial for viral control post-infection while neutralizing ability is perhaps more important for prophylaxis. However, as we discussed above, neutralizing antibodies can mediate both Fab and Fc-function, and thus measuring only neutralizing titers can possibly omit the protective correlation of their Fc-function. Non-neutralizing Fc-functions have also been shown to be important in passive-plasma transfer studies, where plasma with greater Fc-functionality offered greater protection than those with lower in animal models (Figure 15C)³¹³. Finally, in a study led by Bahnan et al¹⁷¹, the first instance of a non-neutralizing antibody, targeting the NTD domain, was shown to protect K18-hACE2 mice in a comparable fashion as a potent RBDneutralizing antibody in a therapeutic model. These studies have together demonstrated that Fc-function is important for protection against emerging Betacoronavirus, and vaccine design and therapeutic monoclonal antibody development would benefit by taking this into account. Several independent studies³²⁷⁻³²⁹, in addition to Paper I of this thesis³³⁰, have demonstrated that nonneutralizing antibodies are highly protective in animal models against original WT strain. In Studies I-IV of this thesis, we aim to address this issue, with promising results in understanding how to generate an optimal Fc-functional response.

Author Comments on the Chapter: Towards Broadly Betacoronavirus-Protective mAbs?

The SARS-CoV-2 pandemic effectively demonstrated how modern medicine can rapidly adapt to emerging pathogens. In the early stages, no vaccines, therapeutics, or strong pre-existing immunity were available. By isolating B cells from survivors. researchers successfully generated protective monoclonal antibodies (mAbs) with a primary focus on virus neutralization. However, the high mutation rate of the spike protein has proven challenging, rendering all previously approved mAbs obsolete. Although two new mAb therapeutics have recently received approval, their ability to target conserved, mutation-resistant epitopes remains uncertain SARS-CoV-2 is just one of many Betacoronaviruses capable of causing severe disease in humans. Given the high probability of another pandemic in the next 10 to 30 years, the development of broadly protective mAbs is imperative. However, conserved neutralizing epitopes across Betacoronaviruses such as SARS, MERS, and HKU1 are scarce, making this a significant challenge. Recent studies, including Bahnan et al., suggest that non-neutralizing epitopes can also confer protection through Fcmediated mechanisms. This raises a crucial question: should future therapeutic strategies prioritize broadly protective non-neutralizing pan-Betacoronavirus mAbs, rather than focusing solely on neutralization While neutralizing antibodies have historically been the primary focus of antiviral mAb development, the emerging evidence for Fc-function-mediated protection warrants further exploration. A shift in strategy—emphasizing non-neutralizing yet functionally protective mAbs could provide a more robust, long-term defense against future Betacoronavirus outbreaks.

"By failing to prepare, you are preparing to fail." - Benjamin Franklin

CHAPTER VII PRESENT INVESTIGATION

AIM

Originally, this thesis focused on monoclonal antibodies targeting bacterial pathogens, with particular emphasis on *Streptococcus pyogenes*. However, with the emergence of SARS-CoV-2, which caused the COVID-19 pandemic, the focus shifted to Betacoronaviruses. SARS-CoV-2 presented a unique opportunity to study the host antibody response to this novel virus specifically, the protective functions of these antibodies and how they can be enhanced through Fc-engineering. The overall aim of this thesis was to elucidate the factors that make an antibody efficient at mediating immune functions, particularly Fc-mediated phagocytosis.

Given the distinct features of human IgG subclasses, we began by engineering the constant domain of IgG1 to that of IgG2-4 (Paper II). Additionally, due to challenges in the production and development of IgG3 such as aggregation and the existence of multiple allotypes its potential for clinical use has largely been overlooked. Therefore, one objective of this thesis was to investigate the Fc-mediated functionality of IgG3 in the context of both SARS-CoV-2 and *Streptococcus pyogenes* infections.

The unexpected importance of non-neutralizing SARS-CoV-2 monoclonal antibodies for immune protection led to further questions about whether they maintain efficacy against highly mutated SARS-CoV-2 variants. This formed the basis for the aim of Paper III. Finally, the creation of a hybrid IgG1-IgG3 antibody in Paper II, combined with the importance of Fc-function, prompted us to explore whether a potent opsonic monoclonal antibody with broad Betacoronavirus reactivity could be generated. This was the goal of Paper IV.



Figure 16. Overall aim of respective Papers (I-IV). Pathogen and monoclonal antibody is highlighted for each paper, with the research aim highlighted below in text. For Paper IV, the purpose was to discover a broadly binding S2-mAb, and therefore no specific mAb was outlined. Created using biorender.

Taken together, the four papers in this thesis explore how to generate a potent opsonic monoclonal antibody against two distinct pathogens while investigating the key factors that make an antibody functional. These studies complement and extend one another. The specific aims of each paper are as follows:

Paper I: Investigate whether subclass-switching IgG1 monoclonal antibodies targeting the spike protein can improve or reduce Fc-mediated phagocytosis and complement activation. Additionally, evaluate the protective role of these monoclonal antibodies in animal models against this novel threat.

Paper II: Generate all four IgG subclasses of Ab25, the first protective monoclonal antibody against the M protein of *Streptococcus pyogenes*. The goal was to assess whether we could create a more potent version of this promising preclinical candidate by starting with the original subclasses and subsequently performing further engineering.

Paper III: Based on findings from Paper I, where non-neutralizing anti-NTD and anti-RBD monoclonal antibodies were protective against lethal SARS-CoV-2

infection in animal models, we aimed to evaluate the durability of these antibodies against rapidly mutating spike protein epitopes that rendered clinically approved neutralizing monoclonal antibodies obsolete. Additionally, we explored the role of non-neutralizing antibodies in conferring protection against the Wuhan strain, as seen in Paper I.

Paper IV: Building on the findings of Papers I-III, we aimed to generate a potent opsonic antibody targeting several Betacoronaviruses to determine whether such antibodies could serve as future therapeutics in the event of new pandemics.

In summary, the aim of this thesis evolved as new information was acquired. The four studies build upon one another, contributing to our understanding of how to generate effective monoclonal antibodies against two distinct pathogens while aiming to explore what key factors make an antibody functional.

GENERAL METHODOLOGICAL CONSIDERATIONS

MONOCLONAL ANTIBODY PRODUCTION

In this thesis, monoclonal antibodies were widely used. There are several considerations in terms of method of production (cell-line, purification) and cloning strategies for engineering. The monoclonal antibodies used in paper I-IV were all produced in house by the methods described in Chapter 3. The plasmids that were generated were transfected in a human derived cell-line called Human embryonic kidney cells 293T (HEK293)³³¹. These cells have been widely used in industrial settings in addition to academic research. The benefit of using a mammalian cell line system, and a human at that, is that it would more likely produce posttranslational modifications comparable to the existing ones in the human donor (that the mAb was derived from)³³². A competition to HEK293 cells is the CHO cell-line which is also widely used. However, these cells are derived from hamsters (chinese hamster ovarian cells) and could thus be less suitable for human monoclonal antibody expression, due to possible alterations in the post-translational modifications compared to those in the human donor³³³. Furthermore, previous work by Bahnan et al^{170,171}, used the HEK293T and Expi293 cells, and to make the data comparable across studies, similar cell-lines had to be used. These two considerations resulted in the production of the engineered mAbs in the HEK293T cell line and later Expi293 cells (for in vivo large scale production).

CLONING METHODS

The generation of Fc-engineered monoclonal antibodies in this thesis focused on modifying large segments of the antibody's constant domain, rather than altering glycans in the CH2 region or introducing point mutations. As a result, glycan-modifying enzymes and cloning strategies for point mutations were not suitable. While restriction digestion could have been an alternative given the availability of enzymes that can cut constant domain sequences at desired sites to facilitate sequence insertion, the chosen method was HIFI-DNA assembly (or Gibson assembly)^{334,335}. This approach involves designing primers that amplify the sequence of interest with overhangs complementary to the vector. Enzymes in the HIFI-DNA assembly kit then anneal these complementary fragments. The advantage of this method lies in its simplicity, as primers can be tailored to target specific gene segments, enabling the creation of hybrid IgG constructs in Paper II. Once the construct is generated, the same method can be used to insert the variable domain into the newly engineered constant domain, allowing for the generation of additional Fc-engineered clones, as demonstrated in Papers I and II.

THP1-CELLS AND PAN-METHOD TO STUDY PHAGOCYTOSIS

In this thesis, the monoclonal antibodies against *Streptococcus pyogenes* and SARS-CoV-2 were characterized based on their ability to promote phagocytosis. A cell-line called THP-1³³⁶ was used as a standardized cell-line to assess this function, for several reasons. One, this cell-line is easy to culture and exhibits acceptable batch to batch variability and can be used for several weeks. Secondly, THP-1 cells express human Fc-gamma receptors and have been widely used for assessment of antibody functionality in terms of ADCP^{337,338}. Thirdly, previous work in the lab had characterized monoclonal antibodies used in this thesis by using THP-1 cells, and to make the data comparable we opted to use these cells as well^{170,171,274,339}. However, it is crucial to also include the human donor-variability, and to address this we isolated human neutrophils and monocytes from healthy donors to complement the THP1-data (Paper I-II). Although we saw greater variability between the different donors using primary cells, we did not see any differences in results or trends when comparing between THP-1 data and primary cells.

A great deal of effort has been devoted to by Dr Neergaard in the lab in developing a robust and reliable assay to assess phagocytosis. This method, called Persistent-associated normalization (PAN)³³⁹, utilizes a flow-cytometer as the detection tool to characterize how each cell is engaging the pathogen, or in the case of SARS-CoV-2, streptavidin beads coated with spike protein. By staining the prey (bacteria/beads)

with a pH sensitive dye and a pH-stable dye, the interaction between cells and preys can easily be characterized (once the prey is internalized in the cell in the phagolysosome the lower pH will activate the pH-sensitive dye). Furthermore, by considering the ratio between the prey and phagocyte, a factor called multiplicity of prey (MOP), the experiments can be more easily standardized and compared across experiments³⁴⁰. Flow-cytometry is itself a powerful tool to characterize many cells (in the order of thousands of cells) in a short period of time, as compared to traditional microscopy methods. Alternative assays for functional outcome would be opsonophagocytic killing assays³⁴¹, but those have been historically difficult to reproduce in the case of GAS and only study the outcome of the phagocytosis and not the interaction itself, as in the PAN method (where you can classify cells in internalizing prey, surface-bound prey or non-associating with prey). The PANmethod^{339,340} has been instrumental in producing reproducible results in terms of differences between monoclonal antibodies, for both primary cells and THP-1 based experiments.

AFFINITY MEASUREMENTS

Affinity measurements were mostly done by using Surface-plasmon resonance which is the golden-standard to determine the molecular affinity between a drug and its ligand, especially in the antibody field³⁴². Similarly, using ELISA is widely employed to calculate affinity. In paper I, III-IV this was done. In paper I, we used three methods (ELISA, SPR and flow-based assay) to analyze the binding of our IgG3 engineered mAbs against the spike protein, and compared the results to our IgG1 versions. This was done to observe if any trend was consistently seen by us when using different modalities. For paper II, when analyzing the affinity to M1 protein, only a flow-based assay was used because M protein is known to alter its structure depending on its attachment to the bacterial wall, temperature and other factors²⁶⁹. Thus studying it in its native expression on live bacteria provides the most relevant contextual data.

ANIMAL MODELS

In the beginning of the COVID-19 pandemic, several novel animal models were created to study the pathogenesis of the disease but also to assess potential therapeutic benefit of drugs such as neutralizing monoclonal antibodies. One of the most widely employed was the K18-hACE2 murine model, which, upon challenge of a sufficient inoculation of live virus, could mimic severe disease in COVID-19³⁴³.

While the golden syrian-hamster model³⁴⁴ is also a suitable candidate, the K18-hACE2 model is suitable for mimicking severe disease. However, for monoclonal antibodies, using non-humanized animal models, concerning the Fc-receptor expression, makes it difficult to assess the benefit of different human subclass-versions of mAbs. Although, if the model can capture the overall benefit of the non-neutralizing antibody response, questions regarding the biological importance of these functions for immune defense can be addressed. In paper I and III this was the main objective of the animal experiments using the K18-hACE model with a virulent SARS-CoV-2 strain in paper I (Wuhan) and a mutated variant (JN.1).

On a similar note, for Streptococcal challenge models BALB/6 mice were used to create a model for severe streptococcal disease using the virulent strain AP1. The infection route has been shown to be crucial for host-pathogen interactions, where subcutaneous administration has shown to upregulate critical virulence factors in the form of IdeS and EndoS (discussed in **Chapter 5**)²⁶⁷. Hence, the model considers these critical virulence factors which would occur in a real NSTI infection. However, the model suffers from the use of non-humanized murine animals in terms of Fc-expression, which limits the transferability of the findings to some degree. Animal models have now been created in the last decade which express human Fc-receptors on murine phagocytes, or even express human phagocytes (human PBMC engrafted mice) with human Fc-receptors to address this^{162,345}. The clinical transferability of these models are also not understood, and there is a challenge in comparing murine animal models to a human setting regardless. Nevertheless, at the time of these studies they were not widely available nor affordable, but future work could benefit from their use.

ETHICAL CONSIDERATIONS

There are two clear ethical aspects which had to be considered for the projects in this thesis. Firstly, when characterizing the monoclonal antibodies in this work, we utilized human neutrophils and monocytes which were purified from human blood from healthy donors. These donors had been given written and oral consent before participating. It is important that the procedure is as risk-free and pain-free as possible and that the use of these cells are used in the right indication. Furthermore, these ethical considerations need to be approved by a local ethical committee. For our experiments we had ethical approval granted by the regional Swedish ethical review authority in Lund (Etikprovningsnamnden Lund, 2015/01801). Similarly for animal experiments, ethical approval had to be granted, where approval was given for the streptococcal animal experiments (Paper II) by the local Malmö/Lund Institutional Animal care and Use Committee (ethical permit number 03681-2019). As for the COVID-19 experiments, ethical approval had been granted by the Regional animal experimental ethics committee in Stockholm (16765-2020). It is important to consider, what was previously the 3Rs (Replace, reduce and refine), the 5 Rs³⁴⁶ (replace, reduce, refine, reuse, and rehabilitate) when designing the animal experiments which we tried to do. The considerations that we particularly focused on is that we only perform these experiments when needed, have as few animals as possible but enough to see a clinically relevant and statistically powered effect (that is not have too few animals and must redo the experiment). In the streptococcal model, the animal experiments were short, only 30 hours, since we could acquire enough results from the murine organs (looking at bacterial load) rather than continuing the experiment until all mice died naturally (survival-curves), and needlessly prolonging their suffering. Thus ethical considerations did have a large impact on the way the animal experiments were designed and implemented.

RESULTS

PAPER I

Subclass-switched anti-spike IgG3 oligoclonal cocktails strongly enhance Fc-mediated opsonization



Figure 17. Overview of the main results in Paper I. A.Non-neutralizing RBD mAb Ab81 and nonneutralizing anti-NTD mAb Ab94 strongly increase survival in K18-hACE2 mice when challenged with a lethal inoculum of Wuhan virus (100.000 PFU). **B** Changing subclass from IgG1 to IgG3, in 7 out of 8 mabs, potently increased Fc-mediated phagocytosis by several-fold, and cocktail use of IgG3 mAbs had the highest ADCP and ADNP function. **C** Altering the IgG constant domain influenced the binding properties of two unique clones- challenging the notion of constant domain and variable domain independence. Created using biorender.

Given SARS-CoV-2's impact on society in terms of hospitalization and death tools, it became crucial to study which features of the immune response result in protection against death and severe disease. The results of such a research can help generate new therapeutics and prophylaxis in terms of vaccines that can elicit such a response. Monoclonal antibodies was one key therapeutic for acute disease but also prophylaxis for immunocompromised patients. Thus studying the protective

immune response of monoclonal antibodies became a promising starting point to understand how we can develop better therapeutics for this disease and for future outbreaks of the Betacoronavirus family, and possibly other viral pathogens such as influenza. Almost all focus on monoclonal antibodies centered around the spike protein antigen, and of those antibodies almost all tested in animal models have been neutralizing antibodies, either against the RBD or NTD site. In a study by Bahnan et al¹⁷¹, the authors showed that mice treated with either a neutralizing RBD or a non-neutralizing NTD mAb (called Ab94) maintained body weight and improved survival compared to the negative control. This study, published in January 2022, highlighted the first case were non-neutralizing Fc-functions of a monoclonal antibody being protective against severe disease in animal models. This finding was the starting point for Paper I.

Given IgG3 subclass status in the literature as being proinflammatory with IgG1, compared to IgG2 and IgG4, engineering from the original IgG1 subclass to it became a natural starting point to examine how potentially protective Fc-function can be modulated for improved therapeutic efficacy. We engineered 8 monoclonal antibodies (Ab11, 36, 57, 59, 66, 77, 81 and 94) from IgG1 to IgG3 then assessed their binding to the spike antigen or their respective epitopes (RBD or NTD) and thereafter analyzed their Fc-mediated function by using the PAN-assay³³⁹ with THP-1 cells. Interestingly, when changing the subclass for two clones (Ab11 and Ab57) we observed a significant alteration of binding avidity to the spike protein. These results suggested that changing the constant domain of an antibody can influence the binding properties governed by the variable domain- challenging the dogma that these domains are fully independent (as discussed in Chapter 2). These findings were verified with three independent assays (ELISA, Cytoflex based assay and SPR) done by 3 independent scientists suggesting it is not dependent on a technical issue. Furthermore, when comparing the 8 IgG1 versions with the newly engineered IgG3 versions, 7 out of 8 IgG3 mAbs vastly outperformed their original counterparts in mediating Fc-mediated phagocytosis by THP-1 cells. Ab94 IgG3 stood out as the best candidate closely followed by an RBD mAb Ab81 IgG3. Interestingly, when using the mAbs in a cocktail mix, at the same dose, the cocktail IgG3 mAbs generated the strongest Fc-mediated response exceeding even the best single mAb (Ab94 IgG3). This was also seen for Neutrophil mediated phagocytosis and complement activation. The findings were verified with neutrophils in a microscopy-based assay as well, suggesting this is a consistent phenotype of the IgG3 mAbs. Finally, the protective benefit of non-neutralizing antibodies were assessed in an *in vivo* experiment with K18-hACE2 murine model with authentic Wuhan virus. While most experiments use a dose of 1000-10.000 PFU of the virus^{157,326,329}, we used 100.000 as to see if the mAbs could improve survival. While

100% of mice in the control group died by day 6, the non-neutralizing IgG1 and IgG3 group showed improved survival and one group (Ab94 IgG1 treated mice) had more than 66% survivors at day 10 (end of the experiment). In addition, the first reported protective non-neutralizing RBD mAb (Ab81 IgG3) was reported in this study (33% survival at day 10 vs 0% survival at day 6 for control). These results strongly suggest that non-neutralizing antibodies are protective against severe disease and that these functions can be enhanced by IgG3 engineering, however the comparison between human subclasses in a non-humanized murine model limits the transferability in a human setting.

PAPER II





Figure 18. Overview of results in paper II. A. Generation of all 4 human IgG subclasses of Ab25. IgG3 variant had markedly reduced binding to M protein expressing bacteria while also having several-fold higher ADCP ability. **B** Molecular dynamics simulations revealed that IgG3 version has much greater movement in its Fc domain in 3D space relative to the antigen- compared to original IgG1. Attributed to its 62 aa long hinge. **C** A hybrid IgG1-IgG3 mAb was created, called IgGh47, which had the CH1-3 of IgG1 but a 47 amino acid IgG3 hinge. This hybrid IgG, exhibited IgG1s phenotype in binding both slightly greater opsonic ability than that of IgG3. This antibody was the only protective mAb in preventing bacterial dissemination in a subcutaneous challenge model in mice- the sum of the parts is greater than the whole. **D** The potent phenotype of IgGh47 over IgG1 was transferable to other GAS strains belonging to clinical isolates expressing different emmtypes. Similarly, in **E**, IgGh47 potently increased ADCP for 3 unique anti-spike mAbs. Created using biorender.

As discussed in **Chapter 5**, severe GAS infections, such as NSTI, have a high mortality rate despite the adequate use of antibiotics as part of standard care (SOC). Adding monoclonal antibodies to the existing SOC could potentially reduce mortality. Bahnan et al¹⁷⁰. developed a broadly M protein-binding antibody with high affinity and strong opsonophagocytic function. This antibody significantly outperformed IVIG at just 1/40th of the dose (10 mg vs 0.4 mg) in protecting animals from systemic disease in an intraperitoneal infection model. However, this

antibody, called Ab25, was developed using the IgG1 backbone, and it was not clear whether this was the most potent opsonic subclass for this clone.

In Paper II, we generated all four IgG subclasses of this protective antibody and made several interesting observations. Starting with binding, we found that, as in Paper I, altering the constant domain of the antibody influenced the ability of the variable domain to bind to the M protein. While the IgG2 and IgG4 mAbs exhibited similar affinities to Ab25 IgG1, the IgG3 version showed a 13-fold lower affinity than IgG1 (28.3 nM vs. 2.2 nM). Surprisingly, however, the IgG3 mAb vastly outperformed IgG1 in opsonic ability when tested using THP-1 cells and primary neutrophils and monocytes. To understand the discrepancy between binding and function, the authors hypothesized that the increased hinge length of IgG3 could explain its enhanced efficacy despite its lower binding affinity. However, little research had been done to quantify the "improved flexibility" associated with a longer hinge (as discussed in Chapter 2). Therefore, we quantified the flexibility of IgG1 and IgG3 in relation to the Fc domain and its interaction with the M protein using molecular dynamics simulations. These simulations revealed a significant difference in how the Fc domain of IgG3 moves in 3D space compared to IgG1, occupying a much larger volume. This increased flexibility was theorized to facilitate a higher likelihood of interaction with Fc receptors (FcRs) and promote Fc-receptor clustering, which is important for immune activation and function. Additionally, the simulations showed that the interaction between IgG3 and M1 protein differed at the residue level from the interactions formed between IgG1 and M1. Different networks of hydrogen bonds and salt-bridges were formed by the two Fab domains that bind the M protein, suggesting that altering the constant domain does indeed influence antigen-binding properties, supporting the experimental data.

To test the hypothesis that increased 3D flexibility is crucial for phagocytosis, we generated hinge-modified versions of Ab25 IgG1 by replacing the 15-aa IgG1 hinge with IgG3 hinges of varying lengths (17, 32, 47, or 62 aa). We called these constructs IgGh17, IgGh32, IgGh47, and IgGh62. No differences in binding were observed for these constructs, suggesting that the hinge domain was not responsible for the decrease in antigen-binding ability of IgG3. However, increasing the hinge length correlated with improved opsonic ability, but only up to 47 amino acids, with the 62-aa version being inferior to the slightly shorter IgGh47. Notably, the IgGh47 version proved to be even more effective than the original IgG3 mAb.

In a subcutaneous infection model with mice, only the IgGh47 version of Ab25 protected against bacterial dissemination compared to the negative control, indicating that natural subclasses were less effective at clearing the infection than

this artificial IgG1-IgG3 hybrid version. The generalizability of this antibody backbone was further demonstrated by showing that its phenotype was conserved across multiple clinical isolates of GAS from diverse emm types.Finally, similar findings of IgGh47 superiority over IgG1 were observed in a SARS-CoV-2 antispike mAb setting. The RBD, NTD, and S2-binding mAbs (Ab11, 36, and 77) showed excellent opsonic function when expressed in this subclass. Ab36 was shown to be even more potent than DuomAb IgG3, the most potent opsonic cocktail consisting of IgG3 Ab94 and Ab81 from Paper I, which is protective against lethal Wuhan infection.

Thus, Paper II highlights not only a promising strategy for engineering a monoclonal antibody against *Streptococcus pyogenes* but also for targeting SARS-CoV-2 and possibly other pathogens. Hinge-engineering emerged as a promising approach, with antibody flexibility in 3D space playing a key role in efficient opsonic function. Furthermore, the findings provide stronger support for the notion that the constant domain can modulate the antigen-binding properties of the variable domain.

PAPER III

Protective Non-neutralizing anti–N-terminal Domain mAb Maintains Fc-mediated Function against SARS-COV-2 Variants up to BA.2.86-JN.1 with Superfluous In Vivo Protection against JN.1 Due to Attenuated Virulence



Figure 19. Overview of results from Paper III. A majority of neutralizing antibodies lost binding to the Omicron variant and its subsequent subvariants such as BA.2, BA.4, BA.5, XBB, BQ1.1, BA.2.86 and JN.1. Timeline is displayed to illustrate that Ab94 was generated against the WT strain in march 2020, while still maintaining its protective Fc-function against Omicron and the above mentioned subvariants. Unexpectedly, JN.1 has low disease manifestation, despite using what was a lethal dose of Wuhan inoculation (100.000 PFU, 100% mortality at day 5-6) in the K18-hACE2 murine model, where all mice had no loss of body weight or died. The control group experienced worse clinical symptoms compared to Ab94 treated mice, using a predetermined clinical scoring system. Created using biorender.

In paper I, we showed that non-neutralizing anti-NTD and anti-RBD mAbs, Ab94 and Ab81 respectively, protect against lethal Wuhan infection in K18-hACE2 mice³³⁰. However, with the emergence of Omicron and its subvariants, many neutralizing and non-neutralizing antibodies lost binding and therefore also Fab (neutralization) and Fc-function (as discussed in **Chapter 6**). Thus a key question arose: does the protective non-neutralizing antibody have any efficacy against the highly mutated antibodies?

Interestingly, we observed that all non-neutralizing antibodies used retained binding and Fc-function against the Omicron variant and subvariants such as BA.2, BA.4 and BA.5³⁴⁷. Furthermore, Omicron further mutated into XBB and the BQ1.1 variant at the end of 2022. Ab81 and Ab94 had both great opsonic function and binding to these variants. When encountering the even more heavily mutated BA.2.86 variant (relevant in end of 2023), Ab81 lost binding and function, while the NTD targeting Ab94 did not. BA.2.86 was quickly replaced by an off-shot variant called JN.1 which had one more mutation than BA.2.86 in the RBD, which enabled it to be more infectious, gaining dominance world-wide³²⁰. When assessing Ab94 against this variant in K18-hACE2 murine model at, what was a lethal dose of Wuhan virus (100.000 PFU), surprising results were observed. In terms of virulence, JN.1 was severely attenuated compared to Wuhan in the same animal model- no loss of mice or body weight was observed over the 10 day experiment. Viral titers in the lower respiratory tract were also low, even in the control group. However, when using a standardized clinical score system (based on symptoms), it became more clear that the Ab94 treated mice fared better than the negative control, suggesting at least some benefit to Fc-functions. This experiment was the first reported *in vivo* determinant of JN.1, which became an important variant throughout 2024 and its sub variants are circulating as of now in 2025 march. Although the benefit of monoclonal antibody treatment is difficult to assess now that the virulence of the virus has become significantly attenuated compared to Wuhan, the results from this study show that protective non-neutralizing antibodies, particularly against the NTD, retain strong binding and Fc-function to a greater degree than neutralizing ones- making them a potentially promising therapeutic strategy against mutated SARS-CoV-2 variants, and potentially emerging Betacoronaviruses.

PAPER IV

Hinge-engineered IgGh47 monoclonal antibodies exhibit ultrapotent Fc-mediated phagocytosis against SARS-CoV-2 and Betacoronaviruses through an unprecedented high-affinity binding to CD32 and CD16



Figure 21. Overview of results in Paper IV. A Ab36 binds to all tested betacoronaviruses, spanning different subgenres within the family. **B** Ab36 IgG1 does not elicit Fc-functions against most tested spike protein. For the few it does there is a moderate increase compared to control. Engineering Ab36 into the IgGh47 variant results in enhanced Fc-function. **C** FcR affinity is notably increased for the traditionally classified low-affinity IgG receptors CD16 and CD32. The graph shows KD values for Ab11 IgG1 vs IgGh47, but similar trends were observed for Ab36.

Building on the previous work in this thesis (Papers I–III), we aimed to generate a potent opsonic, non-neutralizing antibody with cross-reactivity against multiple Betacoronaviruses that cause severe disease, such as MERS and SARS⁸⁷. Our goal was to develop an opsonizing monoclonal antibody (mAb) with potentially protective non-neutralizing functions, serving as a proof of concept for a pan-Betacoronavirus treatment to enhance pandemic preparedness and combat emerging SARS-CoV-2 variants. We identified Ab36 as a broadly S2-binding mAb with specificity against multiple Betacoronaviruses, including HCoV-HKU1, HCoV-OC43, BtCov-HKU3, Pangolin-GX-5PL, MERS, and SARS-CoV-1. These spike proteins originate from diverse Betacoronaviruses that infect various species,

including bats, pangolins, and humans. Engineering the original IgG1 and IgG3 into the IgGh47 subclass produced a potent opsonic variant³⁴⁸. Ab36 IgGh47 enhanced ADCP significantly activity demonstrated against multiple Betacoronaviruses compared to its IgG1 counterpart, which elicited little to no Fcmediated response for most spike proteins. A similar effect was observed for the Ab11 clone. Notably, the enhanced ADCP activity extended to the mutated SARS-CoV-2 variant BA.2.86, suggesting that these antibodies target conserved epitopes on the spike protein. To investigate the mechanism underlying this improved ADCP, we analyzed Fc receptor (FcR) affinity for the IgG1 and IgGh47 versions of Ab11 and Ab36 using surface plasmon resonance (SPR). Interestingly, both IgGh47 variants exhibited strong nanomolar-range binding to the low-affinity FcRs CD16a/b and CD32a/b an effect not previously reported with hinge-engineered modifications^{195,208-211}. This work highlights an effective strategy for antibody development, where candidates are first selected based on epitope targeting and subsequently optimized through hinge engineering to enhance FcR affinity, resulting in a potent opsonic mAb. Hinge-engineering into IgGh47 potentially has broader applications in other therapeutic areas given the FcR affinity increase observed.

DISCUSSION AND FUTURE PERSPECTIVE

Monoclonal antibody therapeutics represent the fastest-growing form of medicine, with an estimated market value in the hundreds of billions of dollars^{349,350}. In clinical practice, these therapies have been widely utilized for indications in rheumatology, oncology, and infectious diseases 349,350. The desired effects of monoclonal antibodies vary depending on their application. For instance, in some cases, Fabmediated effects are critical, such as neutralization of a viral virulence factor, whereas in other scenarios, antibody-dependent cellular cytotoxicity (ADCC) targeting tumors is preferable³². Accordingly, antibody engineering strategies must be tailored to specific indications. Through careful clinical and preclinical research. we can identify which functions are most beneficial *in vivo*. For example, Rituximab depletes CD20+ cells through complement-dependent lysis and ADCC^{181,182}. Engineering strategies such as afucosylation, GASDALIE mutations, or hexamerpromoting mutations to enhance C1q activation can amplify these effects. Advances in antibody engineering now enable the customization of already highly specific antibody drugs for potentially greater therapeutic efficacy (once the mechanism of action is thoroughly understood).

CHALLENGES IN DEVELOPING ENGINEERED MONOCLONAL ANTIBODIES

Despite these advancements, generating engineered monoclonal antibodies (mAbs) with clinical efficacy remains challenging. Preclinical work must involve relevant animal models and disease manifestations that are transferable to human settings. Furthermore, robust but clinically relevant assays are essential for screening antibody candidates prior to advancing to clinical trials. For SARS-CoV-2 research, the K18-hACE2 murine model has proven reliable for mimicking severe COVID-19 disease³⁴³. Live-virus neutralization assays (and to some extent pseudovirus assays) have demonstrated correlation with protection observed in clinical trials for vaccines and monoclonal antibody candidates^{309,351}. However, measuring Fcmediated functions is more complex than assessing Fab-mediated neutralization, where the readout is straightforward (e.g., reduced infection or activity). Using Fcmediated phagocytosis of SARS-CoV-2 as an example: how could we determine whether the PAN-method or any other ADCP method correlates with in vivo function in humans? Ideally, antibody candidates should be screened using multiple complementary assays that assess various modalities. This approach was pursued in Paper I³³⁰, where Fc-mediated phagocytosis was measured using streptavidinconjugated spike protein beads as a model for virions. By employing flow cytometry (FACS) and microscopy to measure the internalization rate of human neutrophils,

we achieved consistent results across methods. However, while utilizing human neutrophils brings the assay closer to an in vivo setting, spike-protein microsphere beads differ significantly from real virions. Virions possess membranes with distinct properties such as density, weight, and diameter compared to microsphere beads. Moreover, translating *in vitro* and *ex vivo* experiments into efficacy within animal models like the K18-hACE2 murine model presents additional challenges. The murine immune system differs substantially from humans in terms of phagocyte Fc receptor (FcR) expression and types of FcRs present despite structural and functional similarities³⁵². This issue can been partially addressed by transferring human peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMCs) into irradiated mice or using humanized FcR mice (mice expressing human FcRs on murine phagocytes)^{162,345}. More detailed studies can be conducted by knocking out specific humanized receptors to examine individual receptor contributions. However, such reductionist approaches may overlook nuances and interactions between receptor activations. Furthermore, these animal models remain highly artificial, and their translational relevance is uncertain. Bridging the gap between in vitro, ex vivo, and in vivo experiments to human settings remains a significant challenge. This issue is crucial to consider when interpreting the translational relevance of results presented in this thesis.

INSIGHTS INTO ANTIBODY CONSTANT DOMAIN INFLUENCE ON ANTIGEN-BINDING PROPERTIES

As discussed in **Chapter 2**, it has long been believed that the constant domain of an antibody does not influence the binding properties of its variable domain. However, independent research groups have demonstrated that altering the subclass or class of an antibody can indeed significantly impact antigen binding¹⁰⁰. For SARS-CoV-2, this effect can be particularly dramatic, with a gain of function in terms of binding and neutralization when shifting from IgG1 to IgG3 or IgA^{104,198,199}, as seen with therapeutically approved monoclonal antibodies. This thesis builds upon these findings.

In Papers I and II^{330,348}, we observed that modifying the constant domain could either enhance or reduce binding affinity by several-fold. For instance, Ab25 IgG3 exhibited a 13-fold reduction in affinity compared to its IgG1 counterpart. Similarly, Ab57 and Ab11 showed affinity changes ranging from 10 to 100-fold, depending on the assay used in SARS-CoV-2 studies. Interestingly, Ab57 displayed higher affinity when expressed as IgG3, while Ab11 showed greater affinity as IgG1, despite their native subclasses being IgG1 and IgG3, respectively, in the human donor. These results suggest that the native subclass expressed by a B-cell receptor (BCR) may not always be optimal for antigen affinity. Modifying the constant domain could enhance BCR diversity alongside somatic hypermutation (SHM) and VDJ recombination processes.

Molecular dynamics (MD) simulations conducted on Ab25 IgG1 and IgG3 (Paper II) provide potential explanations for these experimental findings. Altering the constant domain modifies molecular interactions between the epitope and paratope by forming altered hydrogen bonds and salt bridges. These hypotheses could be tested experimentally by introducing mutations into key residues within the variable domain to observe their impact on antigen binding. Additionally, structural techniques such as crystallography or cryo-electron microscopy (Cryo-EM) could further elucidate these interactions at a molecular level. While MD simulations offer valuable insights into molecular mechanisms, it is important to recognize their limitations as models rather than direct representations of reality.

Exploring how constant domain switching influences antibody-antigen interactions remains an intriguing avenue for future research and is gaining traction, as evidenced by the increasing number of reviews on this topic. This thesis provides evidence that challenges the traditional dogma, which holds that variable domains function independently from constant domains.

IMPORTANCE OF NON-NEUTRALIZING ANTIBODY FUNCTION AGAINST DISEASE-CAUSING BETACORONAVIRUSES

At the beginning of the COVID-19 pandemic, much focus was placed on neutralizing functions to provide immunity against SARS-CoV-2. However, evidence quickly emerged showing that non-neutralizing functions were also important for protection, especially after the emergence of the Omicron variant, when neutralizing titers significantly decreased as discussed in **Chapter 6**. This thesis contributes to other observations, including Paper I, which presented the first instance of a non-neutralizing RBD monoclonal antibody (Ab81) protecting against lethal infection (100,000 PFU) of the virulent Wuhan strain³³⁰. Similarly, the observation that Ab94 (a non-neutralizing NTD mAb) was protective in terms of overall mortality in the same experiment confirmed previous findings where this mAb prevented weight loss, similar to a neutralizing antibody. Paper I also demonstrated how these protective non-neutralizing functions could be enhanced by using IgG3 cocktails, while the IgG1 versions exhibited only modest opsonic potential. However, the potent opsonic effect did not translate into increased survival in the K18-hACE2 murine model, which could be due to several factors.

First, the animal model does not have human phagocytes that express human Fc receptors, making it difficult to compare across species. Additionally, no experiments were conducted with murine phagocytes to allow for easier interpretation. Second, as previously discussed, the translational relevance of various assays in human or murine models has not been fully established, and promising *in vitro* and *ex vivo* results should be interpreted cautiously.

Nevertheless, monoclonal antibody development against SARS-CoV-2, and Betacoronaviruses in general, would likely benefit from Fc-engineering strategies to improve ADCP and ADCC. It is important to note that aberrant glycosylation patterns, which result in excessive ADCC and alternative complement activation, have been linked to severe COVID-19 in patients (which is discussed in this review³⁴⁷). This raises concerns about the proinflammatory effects of mAb therapeutics.

There are also developmental aspects to consider. For instance, the IgG3 subclass is known to have issues with aggregation, weaker thermal stability, and potentially greater susceptibility to hinge cleavage by proteases, which could affect its halflife⁹⁷. As discussed in Chapter 2, these issues can be addressed through point mutations, but it is not guaranteed that these mutations, either individually or together, will not affect the Fc functionality of the highly engineered IgG3 mutant. Interestingly, the hybrid IgGh47 seems to bypass many of these issues by only incorporating the hinge of IgG3. As shown in Papers II and IV, this hybrid subclass dramatically increased ADCP. Furthermore, Fc receptor affinity for various lowaffinity receptors (including the inhibitory CD32b) was significantly enhanced, suggesting that ADCC might also be improved with this subclass, although this was not explored further in this thesis. The hybrid IgGh47 exhibits a half-life comparable to IgG1 and higher than IgG3, as demonstrated by FcRn receptor affinity and serum concentration in the animal experiments in Paper II. However, aggregation assays and thermal stability analyses need to be conducted to better understand the feasibility of this subclass, along with toxicology studies.

Nevertheless, based on the work presented in Papers I-IV, using either IgG3 or IgGh47 appears to be a promising alternative to the widely used IgG1 subclass for developing both non-neutralizing and neutralizing monoclonal antibodies targeting SARS-CoV-2 and other disease-causing Betacoronaviruses. These subclasses could harness potent opsonic abilities for protective therapeutic efficacy in patients which are not immunocompromised in terms of lacking phagocytes and NK-cells.

A NEW TREATMENT STRATEGY FOR INVASIVE *STREPTOCOCCUS PYOGENES* INFECTIONS?

As outlined in the introduction, the central aim of this thesis is to explore how engineered monoclonal antibodies (mAbs) can improve opsonophagocytic function, specifically targeting *Streptococcus pyogenes* and other infectious pathogens. In this section, we discuss the potential of Ab25 as a promising therapeutic candidate and how its superior opsonophagocytic activity aligns with our research objectives.

Severe streptococcal diseases, particularly STSS (streptococcal toxic shock syndrome) and NSTI (necrotizing soft tissue infections), present significant challenges in treatment today as discussed in **Chapter 5**²⁴⁷. Mortality rates can reach up to 60%, and those who survive often experience high morbidity, with amputations being unfortunately common (20%). Furthermore, young, healthy (non-immunocompromised) patients with long life expectancies are also affected. This creates an incentive, both from a healthcare economics and moral perspective, to pursue research that could lead to increased survival and reduced morbidity.

Currently, the standard treatment consists of penicillin and adjunctive clindamycin. However, as noted, these treatments have limited success in reducing mortality, with high-dose intravenous immunoglobulin (IVIG) often being administered as a complementary therapy²⁵⁰. There is an alarming increase In clindamycin resistance, more than 300% increase according to CDC in the US during the year 2011-2018^{251,353,354}. While IVIG has *ex vivo* demonstrated toxin inhibition, its clinical impact is often negligible, likely due to weak opsonic activity and a lack of specificity^{249,250}. This is where Ab25, with its enhanced opsonophagocytic activity¹⁷⁰, shows potential to significantly outperform IVIG in promoting bacterial clearance, directly addressing the current treatment limitations in addition in an era where clindamycin resistance is growing.

As discussed in **Chapter 5**, the M protein is a key candidate for vaccine development because it triggers host humoral immunity, generating opsonic antibodies targeting both its hypervariable region and its conserved domain closer to the bacterial surface. However, the hypervariable region is highly strain-specific, and the M protein can inhibit phagocytosis by opsonic antibodies against the conserved domain through binding with albumin and fibrinogen²⁶⁹. Consequently, antibodies in IVIG that specifically target the M protein might not recognize the infecting strain. Even if they do, their action could be inhibited by the binding of host proteins. Additionally, the activities of EndoS and IdeS enzymes have been shown to reduce the opsonic effects of IVIG. A recent study by Toledo and Bratanis et al.²⁶⁷ demonstrated that mice treated with high-dose IVIG did not experience

reduced bacterial load when these enzymes were active. However, when IVIG was not inhibited by IdeS and EndoS (via IP inoculation instead of subcutaneous infection), IVIG did reduce bacterial colonization in various organs.

Today's standard treatment faces several challenges, primarily due to insufficient bacterial reduction leading to too high toxin production which damages the host . Unlike IVIG, which is a polyclonal antibody mixture with a broad spectrum but limited opsonic activity, Ab25 is a monoclonal antibody engineered specifically to enhance opsonophagocytosis. This focus allows Ab25 to achieve much greater efficacy per dose, as demonstrated in both subcutaneous and intraperitoneal challenge models, where it outperformed IVIG by a significant margin (at 2.5% of the dose). This highlights how engineered mAbs, specifically tailored to target bacterial antigens, hold promise for more effective treatments than current polyclonal therapies. Additionally, Ab25 offers broad-strain coverage, including major disease-causing strains such as M1, M5, M12, and M28, and does not cross-react with human tissues, thus eliminating concerns about autoreactive antibodies due to molecular mimicry.

These findings demonstrate that Ab25 significantly outperforms current adjunctive treatment options like IVIG in reducing bacterial load, supporting our hypothesis that engineered monoclonal antibodies with enhanced opsonophagocytic potential can address the limitations of traditional treatments. This result aligns with the key aim of this thesis to evaluate the therapeutic potential of monoclonal antibodies in severe bacterial infections. Furthermore, Ab25 is currently the only human monoclonal antibody developed against the M protein. Its distinct dual-Fab/bispecific binding patterns, may be a key factor contributing to its favorable cross-strain reactivity and enhanced opsonic function. As a result, the likelihood of generating a comparable antibody candidate remains to be determined but could possibly experience a similar binding phenotype. However, previous work on Ab25, combined with the findings in this thesis, improves our understanding of how to generate a potent opsonic anti-streptococcal monoclonal antibody.

While these findings have potential applications in other severe bacterial diseases, it is important to emphasize that each antigen-antibody interaction is unique. Therefore, the strategies used to engineer Ab25 should be carefully considered for each new pathogen, highlighting the need for tailored monoclonal antibody designs, as explored throughout this thesis. This focus ensures that our approach can be successfully applied to *Streptococcus pyogenes* while providing a framework for future research in other bacterial infections.

This thesis builds upon the promising antibody, with the IgGh47 version showing particularly strong protective effects *in vivo*. The protective efficacy of this subclass is attributed to its ability to promote phagocytosis of bacteria, surpassing the activity of both natural IgG1 and IgG3 subclasses of Ab25. Ab25 IgGh47 represents a promising candidate for further exploration in preclinical animal studies, as well to assess development ability aspects as discussed in previous sections. This thesis contributes to understanding how we might enhance the protective effects of monoclonal antibodies against *Streptococcus pyogenes*, while inadvertently identifying a promising candidate for future therapeutic use against severe disease. However, much more work is needed to translate these promising *in vitro* and *in vivo* findings from academic settings into tangible clinical outcomes that could theoretically save patients' lives, reduce risk of amputation and reduce the impact severe infection has on organ systems after hospital discharge.

CONCLUSION

This thesis investigated how modifications to the constant domain of monoclonal antibodies can influence their binding properties and Fc-mediated phagocytosis. It was demonstrated that the constant domain can modulate antigen binding in two independent biological systems, contributing to a growing body of literature that challenges the traditional view of antibody independence between the variable and constant domains (Paper I-II)^{330,348}. This work provided evidence that nonneutralizing Fc-functions not only provide protection against the original SARS-CoV-2 strain but also offer protection against highly mutated variants such as JN.1 (Paper III)³⁴⁷. These non-neutralizing antibodies, which retain their function against mutated strains for more than four years, represent a promising tool for combating future pandemics caused by beta-coronaviruses, where traditional neutralizing antibodies often lose efficacy (Paper III-IV). In the context of streptococcal disease, this thesis extends previous findings by demonstrating that monoclonal antibodies targeting the M protein show promise as novel therapeutics (Paper II). The engineered IgGh47 subclass, with its enhanced FcR affinity compared to the parent IgG1 and IgG3 (Paper IV), proves to be a potent tool for improving opsonic function, thus expanding the therapeutic potential of monoclonal antibodies in this area. In conclusion, this thesis underscores the therapeutic potential of Fcengineered monoclonal antibodies in enhancing opsonization, with significant applications for both SARS-CoV-2 and *Streptococcus pyogenes*. By improving FcR interactions through subclass engineering, these antibodies hold promise for advancing therapeutic strategies in the fight against these and potentially other infectious pathogens. Thus, Fc-engineering emerges as a crucial tool in the design of next-generation monoclonal antibody therapies.

The research executed in Paper I-IV reinforces the thesis title, "*Fc-Engineered Antibodies Against SARS-CoV-2 and Streptococcus pyogenes: Therapeutic Potential via Enhanced Opsonization*" by demonstrating how Fc-engineering can enhance the efficacy of monoclonal antibodies in potentially combating these critical pathogens with clinical application.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

Apart from being a fun learning experience, writing this thesis over the past six months has also been a fascinating exercise in self-reflection. Revisiting the original aims, methods, results, and conclusions of each paper and the collective effort behind them has made me realize something important: hard work can only get you so far. What has truly been a privilege is that I have, throughout the years, had the support of a strong academic family in the Nordenfelt lab. Their supervision, scientific guidance, and mental support have been invaluable. Combining a stimulating research environment with the love and presence of my friends and family has helped carry me through this eight-year journey, ever since I first stepped into Pontus' lab as a 20-year-old medical student. There are many people I wish to thank.

Pontus, my earliest memory of you is from when you were my PBL tutor. I asked a question about how neutrophils enter infected tissues from the bloodstream, and you immediately jumped up and started drawing on the whiteboard. Your passion for the topic was obvious; you really cared about teaching us, and your enthusiasm for science was contagious. At the time, I didn't realize that you had recently studied integrins in Tim Springer's lab. But I remember thinking: this person does not seem to not only be an amazing teacher, but someone I would want to learn science from. And from there, as they say, the rest is history.

Having gotten to know you over the years, I'm incredibly grateful I took the chance to reach out to you. You have played an integral role in my development not only as a scientist (and, in some ways, as a medical doctor), but most importantly as a human being. While I deeply appreciate the scientific knowledge I've gained under your mentorship, you've taught me so much more about what constitutes a good character, adopting different perspectives on life and how I should navigate many obstacles and chart my own path. You've consistently been a fantastic person to have around for support, and funny enough everyone I know seems to share this exact sentiment about you. Thus, it feels bittersweet to write these words, knowing that our time as PhD student and supervisor is coming to an end. But I have a feeling you'll still be waking up at 5 a.m. to find ten unread Slack messages waiting for you, perhaps in the not so distant future...

I also want to extend a heartfelt thank you to **Susanne** for always making us feel welcome in your lives and home. That warmth has meant so much to all of us. You've also been a true inspiration, showing us how one can combine a thriving

career with a happy marriage and family. I remember our time in psychiatry together which was fun- now both of you have been my supervisors at one point haha!

Mattias, I have always appreciated our interactions with you as my co-supervisor, where I could always catch you in the corridor or send you tons of e-mails when I needed help with understanding the complex literature on streptococcal enzymes, IgG subclasses or glycoengineering. This helped me early on more than I think you realize. I am happy for the institution that the right man for the right job got elected to be the prefect- it is in highly capable hands.

Magnus R, as a young medical student trying to navigate a path to combine research with clinic I was happy to discuss my plans and thoughts on career during the specialization course in infection medicine in my final semester and when I worked in the clinic with you and your colleagues. I learned a lot which helped me understand more how we could possibly devise new therapeutics for infectious disease, by having one foot in the clinic and the other in research. Thanks for being the chairman for my thesis- would not have wanted it any other way!

I also want to, in beforehand, thank Professor **Michael Dustin** who have agreed to be my thesis opponent – I am eagerly anticipating meeting you, on the 12^{th} of June! Similarly, grateful to the thesis committee in **Davide Angeletti**, John Semple and **Kristina Persson** for agreeing to grade my performance, also looking forward to the interesting conversations that will take place.

The Lab family The aunts and uncles

Wael, Oh man I do not know who put the brilliant idea in Pontus of pairing up two hyper-energized individuals in a 2 sqm office, but man am I grateful for that! Little did I know I would end up having a Lebanese brother from another mother. In you I did not only find a friend, but also someone I consider as family. I am truly grateful for your early guidance and coaching of me which resulted in an earlier scientific maturation. Your perspective and wisdom has helped me a lot throughout the years, and I am excited to continue engaging with you as your friend and soon as an equal heh. Also the hard work you (and the other authors) put in your own first-author papers as a post-doc in the lab really paved the way for the rest of us, and for that I am grateful. In you I did not only find a friend but also someone I today consider as family. Looking forward to even more fun times on the hiking trail with you and **Marta** where we engage in meaningful discussions on life, science and how to properly cook steak. **Martin and Berit,** I have always appreciated our coffee-sessions where we discuss general life, lab politics, scientific strategy or just me venting out about the mental toll of the never ending revisions. You guys have always, without me even asking, helped me out with everything and really made the difference in the publication of the papers, so I am very grateful for your generous help and team-work spirit. Pontus is lucky to have you guys as the backbone of the lab, given the nature of us PhD students coming and going, makes me not feel worried that there always will be someone there to keep things in order and teach a new generation of students.

Anita, I find it interesting that every time I catch you in the corridor I always leave with a smile on my face, especially the time when you told me about the "skitungen" story. Jokes aside, you are truly the best and I thank you for always helping me and everyone when needed!

I've got a theory: this whole 'sister-lab' setup might just be Pontus' clever excuse to spend more time with you, **Vinay**, and frankly, I am not surprised. Few people can match your energy-level! I will never forget when I felt stressed about the whole review process for the PNAS paper, and you told me to just appreciate the small wins and take it step by step, that helped a lot during the process.

The siblings

In the lab there have been many PhD students (and research engineers and postdocs) who has and have had the fortune of having Pontus as their supervisor. I have always felt welcomed and happy to be part of the group, which has allowed me to grow as a person and scientist. So many thanks to my past and current colleagues Vibha, Johannes, Kalle, Sanja, Louise and Arsema. I particularly want to thank Therese for beings so kind and guiding me early on in charting the MD-PhD path but also for developing the PAN-method which allowed us all to study phagocytosis in a standardized and reproducible way. Sebastian, or as I liked to call you, the sensei- out of respect because you taught me much of the basics of the lab complementing the teachings from Wael. Since you, Oscar, wrote incorrectly in your PhD thesis that you beat me at Super smash, I must be the humble person to correct you. It is evident to everyone but you that Kirby beats Toon-link 4 out of 5 times, and if you prefer a data-driven approach you can probably agree! Thank you for challenging me when I've bounced my thoughts off you during our after-work hangouts at JS – like you say, life is a kind of game, and it's all about focusing on XP, not the loot! And since you are inseparable, like Merry and Pippin, special thanks to **Tobias** for being a fantastic friend and always helping me when I thought I had some cool ideas to test experimentally. It has been a pleasure as well to help supervise **Defne**, **Louise** and **Arvid** ("my minions"), looking forward to see you guys develop further.

I want to thank the many clinicians and researchers who have helped me during my PhD studies, so many thanks to: Johan, Lars, Oonagh, Hamed, Yasaman, Eleni, Di, Lotta, Yoshuan, Magdalena, Mats, Michel, Malin, Per, Lars, Adam, Magnus P, Marcus, Khaled, Anki, Elizabet, Christian, Anna, Susanna, Alejandro, Arianne, Sounak, Maria, Robin, Fredrik and the remaining people at B14, D14 and in our sister lab.

Work is only one small part of life, and it is important to fill ones life with people who make you appreciate every moment of it. It can be so simple as playing board-games every week, playing football in a hot summer-night, going out for dinners, or even taking a 20 hour train straight to Paris without proper sleep! I am grateful for having so many fantastic people around me who have all brought me joy, thank you guys, for these fun times (and more to come): Antonio, Lisa, David, Arvid, Filip, Joel, Jakob, Hugo, Ludvig, Dustin, Ragna, Martin, Sahand, Gabriel, Erik, Matte, Anton, Eugen, Simon, Hanna, Igis, Joar, Edvin, Massoud and Linus.

When reflecting on the start of this journey, I realized the importance of having good teachers early on who could see the individual student for who they are, what drives them and what strengths and weaknesses they have. **Cecilia** was my science teacher, when I was 13, who awakened my interest for biochemistry and helped me cultivate this interest and transform me into a better student. Without her input and encouragement when I was young, I do not think I would have become that student that Pontus wanted to introduce to his lab. Similarly, special thanks to my high-school teachers **Lena** and **Anders**, built on the work establish by Cecilia – highlighting for me the importance of consistently having caring teachers. Speaking of encouragement, special thanks to the people working at **Danviks** for always cheering me on during my long weekend MD shifts during these 6 months of intense writing. Your positive support and energy motivated me even further at times when I felt I just wanted to quit.

To my family

I am grateful to my dear aunts and uncles (chale, dai and amo) who have all been like extra parents to me and given me excellent wisdom and guidance throughout my life.

My dear cousins, I am privileged that we have each other since in you I have support, love, and fun times rivaling that of my brother Arash! I am looking forward to when

we make the plans and organize family and relative gatherings. **Pegah**, the addition of Frank to the group is a blessing, and that kid is going to become a Nobel prize winner- I can see that! You motivated me to study hard and you set a good example for us younger cousins to follow. I am seeing you give Frank the outmost love and care so he can thrive. Anahita, I am truly happy that we spend so much time together now. Over the 27 years, being the same age, we have always been reflecting over everything together and having you in my life has helped a lot. Some things I have only been able to talk to you about over the years, a rare luxury I keep to the highest regard. Armin, Oh little brother, where to start with you. What a journey you and I have had the last year, with our late-night car-drives, midnight and morning gymworkouts, our deep talks about religion, morality, purpose of life and how to be the best at what you can be- I cant give justice to these moments in writing. You have been my number one cheerleader during this PhD thesis writing and I will never forget that. Seeing you grow now as a person, it truly makes my heart filled with joy. You will become a super-star in law, that I am sure of, but what makes me the most proud is the man you are becoming. Hey, you might even beat me at doing chin ups one day!

One can't speak of family without bringing up you guys: Aram and Jonas. Watching you two and Arash engage in a banter gives my abdominal muscles a run for their money in terms of lactic acid production. You two have consistently supported me throughout the years and keep doing that, and we are always there for each other in times of hardship and joy. I am also happy that Adam has joined the crew. Öz, the love and care you show for my brother is beautiful, and I am looking forward to us having more fun days ahead blasting sledgehammer. Thanks Aram, Jonas, Adam and Öz for being part of my and Arash family.

Arash, no one has given me the perfect mix of love, support, and motivation quite like you have, big bro. Early on, you were the one who saw my potential and pushed me to cultivate it. You've always had this determination to set me on my own path nudging me out of my comfort zone, whether that meant going to Kungsholmens gymnasium or taking the leap to move to Lund. Heck, you even introduced me to the gym. That summer of 2015, just the two of us grinding it out every day in that old, half-forgotten military gym in Solna breaking our bodies to sharpen our minds... that's a core memory for me. At the end of the day, I think everyone needs a role model who truly believes in them. Someone who helps you grow by giving you the kind of mental support that makes risk feel like opportunity. That's what you've been to me. I'm looking forward to both our next chapters. Hopefully one day, we'll join forces. Our individual fires are strong, no doubt, but together? We'd light up something even bigger.

Writing the final pages of this thesis brings a heavy heart. It reminds me painfully that the one person I most wish I could show this book to is no longer here. Losing my father, **Salah**, at the age of ten was a traumatic experience that shaped me more than I often care to admit. They say time heals all wounds, but as I write this passage, it becomes clear to me that time doesn't heal so much as it teaches us how to move forward. The pain and sorrow never truly go away. And that's okay because it means the people we've lost meant the world to us. In their memory, we carry on, doing our best to live with kindness, strength, and purpose. I don't believe it's pure coincidence that I ended up so much like my father in my passion for science. These thoughts brings to mind a scene from a children's movie, *The Lion King*, where the protagonist realizes that his deceased father lives on, inside him- and that no one is ever truly gone.

Den sista personen jag vill tacka är min mamma. Det finns ingen människa på denna jord som jag älskar mer än dig. Du har stöttat mig genom hela livet och tog på dig en ännu större roll när pappa gick bort. Utan dig vet jag inte vilken man jag hade blivit idag. Din mentala styrka, kärleksfulla personlighet och moraliska kompass är något jag aldrig fullt ut kan uppnå, men som jag försöker efterlikna så gott jag kan. När jag var yngre ville jag bli mer som pappa. Nu, som vuxen, inser jag att jag den personen jag vill ta efter är du. Tack för att du är den bästa människan på jorden – jag och Arash är lyckligt lottade som får ha dig i våra liv. Som du sa till mig nyligen: livet blir enklare om man fokuserar på det man har, i stället för det man har förlorat eller det som ligger utanför ens kontroll. Kloka ord jag bär med mig in i nästa kapitel när jag inte vet vart livet kommer ta mig.

REFERENCES

- 1. Kaufmann SHE. Remembering Emil von Behring: from Tetanus Treatment to Antibody Cooperation with Phagocytes. mBio. 2017;8(1):10.1128/mbio.00117-17.
- 2. Afshar M, Gallo RL. Innate immune defense system of the skin. Vet Dermatol. 2013;24(1):32-e9.
- Chaplin DD. 1. Overview of the immune response. J Allergy Clin Immunol. 2003;111(2):S442– 59.
- 4. Shteinberg M, Haq IJ, Polineni D, Davies JC. Cystic fibrosis. Lancet. 2021;397(10290):2195-211.
- 5. Yoshida T, Beck LA, Benedetto AD. Skin barrier defects in atopic dermatitis: From old idea to new opportunity. Allergol Int. 2022;71(1):3–13.
- 6. Kao CY, Sheu BS, Wu JJ. Helicobacter pylori infection: An overview of bacterial virulence factors and pathogenesis. Biomed J. 2016;39(1):14–23.
- 7. Takeuchi O, Akira S. Pattern Recognition Receptors and Inflammation. Cell. 2010;140(6):805-20.
- Pauwels AM, Trost M, Beyaert R, Hoffmann E. Patterns, Receptors, and Signals: Regulation of Phagosome Maturation. Trends Immunol. 2017;38(6):407–22.
- Mogensen TH. Pathogen Recognition and Inflammatory Signaling in Innate Immune Defenses. Clin Microbiol Rev. 2009;22(2):240–73.
- Zheng M, Karki R, Williams EP, Yang D, Fitzpatrick E, Vogel P, et al. TLR2 senses the SARS-CoV-2 envelope protein to produce inflammatory cytokines. Nat Immunol. 2021;22(7):829–38.
- 11. Jones EY, Fugger L, Strominger JL, Siebold C. MHC class II proteins and disease: a structural perspective. Nat Rev Immunol. 2006;6(4):271–82.
- Davies LC, Jenkins SJ, Allen JE, Taylor PR. Tissue-resident macrophages. Nat Immunol. 2013;14(10):986–95.
- Burn GL, Foti A, Marsman G, Patel DF, Zychlinsky A. The Neutrophil. Immunity. 2021;54(7):1377–91.
- 14. Springer TA. Traffic signals for lymphocyte recirculation and leukocyte emigration: The multistep paradigm. Cell. 1994;76(2):301–14.
- 15. Nordenfelt P, Tapper H. Phagosome dynamics during phagocytosis by neutrophils. J Leukoc Biol. 2011;90(2):271–84.
- Borregaard N, Sørensen OE, Theilgaard-Mönch K. Neutrophil granules: a library of innate immunity proteins. Trends Immunol. 2007;28(8):340–5.
- 17. Rawat K, Syeda S, Shrivastava A. Neutrophil-derived granule cargoes: paving the way for tumor growth and progression. Cancer Metastasis Rev. 2021;40(1):221–44.
- Lacy P. Mechanisms of Degranulation in Neutrophils. Allergy, Asthma Clin Immunol. 2006;2(3):98.
- 19. Nguyen GT, Green ER, Mecsas J. Neutrophils to the ROScue: Mechanisms of NADPH Oxidase Activation and Bacterial Resistance. Front Cell Infect Microbiol. 2017;7:373.
- Westman J, Grinstein S. Determinants of Phagosomal pH During Host-Pathogen Interactions. Front Cell Dev Biol. 2021;8:624958.
- Middleton EA, He XY, Denorme F, Campbell RA, Ng D, Salvatore SP, et al. Neutrophil extracellular traps contribute to immunothrombosis in COVID-19 acute respiratory distress syndrome. Blood. 2020;136(10):1169–79.
- 22. Ng H, Havervall S, Rosell A, Aguilera K, Parv K, Meijenfeldt FA von, et al. Circulating Markers of Neutrophil Extracellular Traps Are of Prognostic Value in Patients With COVID-19. Arter, Thromb, Vasc Biol. 2021;41(2):988–94.
- Zuo Y, Yalavarthi S, Shi H, Gockman K, Zuo M, Madison JA, et al. Neutrophil extracellular traps in COVID-19. JCI Insight. 2020;5(11).
- 24. Dash SP, Gupta S, Sarangi PP. Monocytes and macrophages: Origin, homing, differentiation, and functionality during inflammation. Heliyon. 2024;10(8):e29686.
- Takahashi K, Yamamura F, Naito M. Differentiation, Maturation, and Proliferation of Macrophages in the Mouse Yolk Sac: A Light-Microscopic, Enzyme-Cytochemical, Immunohistochemical, and Ultrastructural Study. J Leukoc Biol. 1989;45(2):87–96.
- Italiani P, Boraschi D. From Monocytes to M1/M2 Macrophages: Phenotypical vs. Functional Differentiation. Front Immunol. 2014;5:514.
- 27. Chen S, Saeed AFUH, Liu Q, Jiang Q, Xu H, Xiao GG, et al. Macrophages in immunoregulation and therapeutics. Signal Transduct Target Ther. 2023;8(1):207.
- Björkström NK, Strunz B, Ljunggren HG. Natural killer cells in antiviral immunity. Nat Rev Immunol. 2022;22(2):112–23.
- Quatrini L, Chiesa MD, Sivori S, Mingari MC, Pende D, Moretta L. Human NK cells, their receptors and function. Eur J Immunol. 2021;51(7):1566–79.
- Cerwenka A, Lanier LL. Natural killer cell memory in infection, inflammation and cancer. Nat Rev Immunol. 2016;16(2):112–23.
- Ljunggren HG, Kärre K. In search of the 'missing self': MHC molecules and NK cell recognition. Immunol Today. 1990;11(7):237–44.
- Ochoa MC, Minute L, Rodriguez I, Garasa S, Perez-Ruiz E, Inogés S, et al. Antibody-dependent cell cytotoxicity: immunotherapy strategies enhancing effector NK cells. Immunol Cell Biol. 2017;95(4):347–55.
- 33. Fauriat C, Long EO, Ljunggren HG, Bryceson YT. Regulation of human NK-cell cytokine and chemokine production by target cell recognition. Blood. 2010;115(11):2167–76.
- Cabeza-Cabrerizo M, Cardoso A, Minutti CM, Costa MP da, Sousa CR e. Dendritic Cells Revisited. Annu Rev Immunol. 2021;39(1):131–66.
- 35. Houde M, Bertholet S, Gagnon E, Brunet S, Goyette G, Laplante A, et al. Phagosomes are competent organelles for antigen cross-presentation. Nature. 2003;425(6956):402–6.
- Joffre OP, Segura E, Savina A, Amigorena S. Cross-presentation by dendritic cells. Nat Rev Immunol. 2012;12(8):557–69.
- 37. Syeda MZ, Hong T, Huang C, Huang W, Mu Q. B cell memory: from generation to reactivation: a multipronged defense wall against pathogens. Cell Death Discov. 2024;10(1):117.
- 38. Shah K, Al-Haidari A, Sun J, Kazi JU. T cell receptor (TCR) signaling in health and disease. Signal Transduct Target Ther. 2021;6(1):412.
- Chen ST, Oliveira TY, Gazumyan A, Cipolla M, Nussenzweig MC. B cell receptor signaling in germinal centers prolongs survival and primes B cells for selection. Immunity. 2023;56(3):547-561.e7.
- 40. Kumar BV, Connors TJ, Farber DL. Human T Cell Development, Localization, and Function throughout Life. Immunity. 2018;48(2):202–13.
- 41. Miller JFAP. IMMUNOLOGICAL FUNCTION OF THE THYMUS. Lancet. 1961;278(7205):748–9.
- 42. Yoshikai Y, Clark SP, Taylor S, Sohn U, Wilson BI, Minden MD, et al. Organization and sequences of the variable, joining and constant region genes of the human T-cell receptor αchain. Nature. 1985;316(6031):837–40.

- 43. Lythe G, Callard RE, Hoare RL, Molina-París C. How many TCR clonotypes does a body maintain? J Theor Biol. 2016;389:214–24.
- 44. Oettinger MA, Schatz DG, Gorka C, Baltimore D. RAG-1 and RAG-2, Adjacent Genes That Synergistically Activate V(D)J Recombination. Science. 1990;248(4962):1517–23.
- Schatz DG, Oettinger MA, Baltimore D. The V(D)J recombination activating gene, RAG-1. Cell. 1989;59(6):1035–48.
- 46. Hughes MM, Yassai M, Sedy JR, Wehrly TD, Huang C, Kanagawa O, et al. T cell receptor CDR3 loop length repertoire is determined primarily by features of the V(D)J recombination reaction. Eur J Immunol. 2003;33(6):1568–75.
- Turner SJ, Doherty PC, McCluskey J, Rossjohn J. Structural determinants of T-cell receptor bias in immunity. Nat Rev Immunol. 2006;6(12):883–94.
- 48. Gittelman RM, Lavezzo E, Snyder TM, Zahid HJ, Carty CL, Elyanow R, et al. Longitudinal analysis of T-cell receptor repertoires reveals shared patterns of antigen-specific response to SARS-CoV-2 infection. JCI Insight. 2022;7(10):e151849.
- 49. Carlson CS, Emerson RO, Sherwood AM, Desmarais C, Chung MW, Parsons JM, et al. Using synthetic templates to design an unbiased multiplex PCR assay. Nat Commun. 2013;4(1):2680.
- 50. Call ME, Pyrdol J, Wiedmann M, Wucherpfennig KW. The Organizing Principle in the Formation of the T Cell Receptor-CD3 Complex. Cell. 2002;111(7):967–79.
- Samelson LE, Patel MD, Weissman AM, Harford JB, Klausner RD. Antigen activation of murine T cells induces tyrosine phosphorylation of a polypeptide associated with the T cell antigen receptor. Cell. 1986;46(7):1083–90.
- Monks CRF, Freiberg BA, Kupfer H, Sciaky N, Kupfer A. Three-dimensional segregation of supramolecular activation clusters in T cells. Nature. 1998;395(6697):82–6.
- Grakoui A, Bromley SK, Sumen C, Davis MM, Shaw AS, Allen PM, et al. The Immunological Synapse: A Molecular Machine Controlling T Cell Activation. Science. 1999;285(5425):221–7.
- 54. Akkaya M, Kwak K, Pierce SK. B cell memory: building two walls of protection against pathogens. Nat Rev Immunol. 2020;20(4):229–38.
- Maul RW, Gearhart PJ. Chapter six AID and Somatic Hypermutation. Adv Immunol. 2010;105:159–91.
- 56. Wang W, Gulden PH, Pierce RA, Shabanowitz J, Man ST, Hunt DF, et al. A naturally processed peptide presented by HLA-A*0201 is expressed at low abundance and recognized by an alloreactive CD8+ cytotoxic T cell with apparent high affinity. J Immunol (Baltim, Md : 1950). 1997;158(12):5797–804.
- 57. Springer TA, Dustin ML. Integrin inside-out signaling and the immunological synapse. Curr Opin Cell Biol. 2012;24(1):107–15.
- 58. Dustin ML, Springer TA. T-cell receptor cross-linking transiently stimulates adhesiveness through LFA-1. Nature. 1989;341(6243):619–24.
- 59. Dustin ML. The Immunological Synapse. Cancer Immunol Res. 2014;2(11):1023-33.
- 60. Dustin ML. Cell adhesion molecules and actin cytoskeleton at immune synapses and kinapses. Curr Opin Cell Biol. 2007;19(5):529–33.
- 61. Yokosuka T, Kobayashi W, Sakata-Sogawa K, Takamatsu M, Hashimoto-Tane A, Dustin ML, et al. Spatiotemporal Regulation of T Cell Costimulation by TCR-CD28 Microclusters and Protein Kinase C θ Translocation. Immunity. 2008;29(4):589–601.
- 62. Hartman NC, Nye JA, Groves JT. Cluster size regulates protein sorting in the immunological synapse. Proc Natl Acad Sci. 2009;106(31):12729–34.
- 63. Bromley SK, Iaboni A, Davis SJ, Whitty A, Green JM, Shaw AS, et al. The immunological synapse and CD28-CD80 interactions. Nat Immunol. 2001;2(12):1159–66.

- Johnson KG, Bromley SK, Dustin ML, Thomas ML. A supramolecular basis for CD45 tyrosine phosphatase regulation in sustained T cell activation. Proc Natl Acad Sci. 2000;97(18):10138– 43.
- 65. Sun L, Su Y, Jiao A, Wang X, Zhang B. T cells in health and disease. Signal Transduct Target Ther. 2023;8(1):235.
- 66. Yang Q, Bell JJ, Bhandoola A. T-cell lineage determination. Immunol Rev. 2010;238(1):12-22.
- 67. Cyster JG, Allen CDC. B Cell Responses: Cell Interaction Dynamics and Decisions. Cell. 2019;177(3):524–40.
- Elhanati Y, Sethna Z, Marcou Q, Callan CG, Mora T, Walczak AM. Inferring processes underlying B-cell repertoire diversity. Philos Trans R Soc B: Biol Sci. 2015;370(1676):20140243.
- 69. Halverson R, Torres RM, Pelanda R. Receptor editing is the main mechanism of B cell tolerance toward membrane antigens. Nat Immunol. 2004;5(6):645–50.
- 70. Nemazee D. Mechanisms of central tolerance for B cells. Nat Rev Immunol. 2017;17(5):281-94.
- Soldan SS, Lieberman PM. Epstein–Barr virus and multiple sclerosis. Nat Rev Microbiol. 2023;21(1):51–64.
- Robinson WH, Steinman L. Epstein-Barr virus and multiple sclerosis. Science. 2022;375(6578):264–5.
- Heesters BA, Myers RC, Carroll MC. Follicular dendritic cells: dynamic antigen libraries. Nat Rev Immunol. 2014;14(7):495–504.
- 74. Poel CE van der, Bajic G, Macaulay CW, Broek T van den, Ellson CD, Bouma G, et al. Follicular Dendritic Cells Modulate Germinal Center B Cell Diversity through FcγRIIB. Cell Rep. 2019;29(9):2745-2755.e4.
- 75. Kranich J, Krautler NJ. How Follicular Dendritic Cells Shape the B-Cell Antigenome. Front Immunol. 2016;7:225.
- 76. Heesters BA, Chatterjee P, Kim YA, Gonzalez SF, Kuligowski MP, Kirchhausen T, et al. Endocytosis and Recycling of Immune Complexes by Follicular Dendritic Cells Enhances B Cell Antigen Binding and Activation. Immunity. 2013;38(6):1164–75.
- 77. Degn SE, Tolar P. Towards a unifying model for B-cell receptor triggering. Nat Rev Immunol. 2025;25(2):77–91.
- 78. Kwak K, Quizon N, Sohn H, Saniee A, Manzella-Lapeira J, Holla P, et al. Intrinsic properties of human germinal center B cells set antigen affinity thresholds. Sci Immunol. 2018;3(29).
- Cherukuri A, Cheng PC, Sohn HW, Pierce SK. The CD19/CD21 Complex Functions to Prolong B Cell Antigen Receptor Signaling from Lipid Rafts. Immunity. 2001;14(2):169–79.
- Tolar P. Cytoskeletal control of B cell responses to antigens. Nat Rev Immunol. 2017;17(10):621–34.
- Abbott RK, Lee JH, Menis S, Skog P, Rossi M, Ota T, et al. Precursor Frequency and Affinity Determine B Cell Competitive Fitness in Germinal Centers, Tested with Germline-Targeting HIV Vaccine Immunogens. Immunity. 2018;48(1):133-146.e6.
- Spillane KM, Tolar P. B cell antigen extraction is regulated by physical properties of antigenpresenting cells. J Cell Biol. 2017;216(1):217–30.
- Ise W, Inoue T, McLachlan JB, Kometani K, Kubo M, Okada T, et al. Memory B cells contribute to rapid Bcl6 expression by memory follicular helper T cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci. 2014;111(32):11792–7.
- Natkanski E, Lee WY, Mistry B, Casal A, Molloy JE, Tolar P. B Cells Use Mechanical Energy to Discriminate Antigen Affinities. Science. 2013;340(6140):1587–90.

- Yuseff MI, Reversat A, Lankar D, Diaz J, Fanget I, Pierobon P, et al. Polarized Secretion of Lysosomes at the B Cell Synapse Couples Antigen Extraction to Processing and Presentation. Immunity. 2011;35(3):361–74.
- 86. Toboso-Navasa A, Gunawan A, Morlino G, Nakagawa R, Taddei A, Damry D, et al. Restriction of memory B cell differentiation at the germinal center B cell positive selection stage. J Exp Med. 2020;217(7):e20191933.
- 87. Dacon C, Peng L, Lin TH, Tucker C, Lee CCD, Cong Y, et al. Rare, convergent antibodies targeting the stem helix broadly neutralize diverse betacoronaviruses. Cell Host Microbe. 2023;31(1):97-111.e12.
- Roco JA, Mesin L, Binder SC, Nefzger C, Gonzalez-Figueroa P, Canete PF, et al. Class-Switch Recombination Occurs Infrequently in Germinal Centers. Immunity. 2019;51(2):337-350.e7.
- Konforte D, Simard N, Paige CJ. IL-21: An Executor of B Cell Fate. J Immunol. 2009;182(4):1781–7.
- Chaudhuri J, Alt FW. Class-switch recombination: interplay of transcription, DNA deamination and DNA repair. Nat Rev Immunol. 2004;4(7):541–52.
- 91. Chen Z, Wang JH. How the Signaling Crosstalk of B Cell Receptor (BCR) and Co-Receptors Regulates Antibody Class Switch Recombination: A New Perspective of Checkpoints of BCR Signaling. Front Immunol. 2021;12:663443.
- Odegard VH, Schatz DG. Targeting of somatic hypermutation. Nat Rev Immunol. 2006;6(8):573–83.
- 93. Methot SP, Noia JMD. Chapter Two Molecular Mechanisms of Somatic Hypermutation and Class Switch Recombination. Adv Immunol. 2017;133:37–87.
- Inoue T, Baba Y, Kurosaki T. BCR signaling in germinal center B cell selection. Trends Immunol. 2024;45(9):693–704.
- 95. Han S, Hathcock K, Zheng B, Kepler TB, Hodes R, Kelsoe G. Cellular interaction in germinal centers. Roles of CD40 ligand and B7-2 in established germinal centers. J Immunol (Baltim, Md : 1950). 1995;155(2):556–67.
- 96. Kurosaki T, Kometani K, Ise W. Memory B cells. Nat Rev Immunol. 2015;15(3):149-59.
- 97. Vidarsson G, Dekkers G, Rispens T. IgG Subclasses and Allotypes: From Structure to Effector Functions. Front Immunol. 2014;5:520.
- 98. Tonegawa S. Somatic generation of antibody diversity. Nature. 1983;302(5909):575-81.
- Crowley AR, Mehlenbacher MR, Sajadi MM, DeVico AL, Lewis GK, Ackerman ME. Evidence of variable human Fcγ receptor-Fc affinities across differentially-complexed IgG. mAbs. 2023;15(1):2231128.
- 100. Yu X, Zhang H, Zhou T, Pan K, Raza SHA, Shen X, et al. A non-classical view of antibody properties: Allosteric effect between variable and constant regions. Biotechnol Adv. 2025;78:108482.
- 101. Oda M, Kozono H, Morii H, Azuma T. Evidence of allosteric conformational changes in the antibody constant region upon antigen binding. Int Immunol. 2003;15(3):417–26.
- 102. Sagawa T, Oda M, Morii H, Takizawa H, Kozono H, Azuma T. Conformational changes in the antibody constant domains upon hapten-binding. Mol Immunol. 2005;42(1):9–18.
- Roux KH, Strelets L, Michaelsen TE. Flexibility of human IgG subclasses. J Immunol. 1997;159(7):3372–82.
- 104. Bolton MJ, Santos JJS, Arevalo CP, Griesman T, Watson M, Li SH, et al. IgG3 subclass antibodies recognize antigenically drifted influenza viruses and SARS-CoV-2 variants through efficient bivalent binding. Proc Natl Acad Sci. 2023;120(35):e2216521120.

- 105. Stapleton NM, Andersen JT, Stemerding AM, Bjarnarson SP, Verheul RC, Gerritsen J, et al. Competition for FcRn-mediated transport gives rise to short half-life of human IgG3 and offers therapeutic potential. Nat Commun. 2011;2(1):599.
- 106. Tan ZC, Lux A, Biburger M, Varghese P, Lees S, Nimmerjahn F, et al. Mixed IgG Fc immune complexes exhibit blended binding profiles and refine FcR affinity estimates. Cell Rep. 2023;42(7):112734.
- 107. Vidarsson G, Dekkers G, Rispens T. IgG Subclasses and Allotypes: From Structure to Effector Functions. Front Immunol. 2014;5:520.
- 108. Jarmoskaite I, AlSadhan I, Vaidyanathan PP, Herschlag D. How to measure and evaluate binding affinities. eLife. 2020;9:e57264.
- 109. Bruhns P, Iannascoli B, England P, Mancardi DA, Fernandez N, Jorieux S, et al. Specificity and affinity of human Fcγ receptors and their polymorphic variants for human IgG subclasses. Blood. 2009;113(16):3716–25.
- 110. Sanders LA, Feldman RG, Voorhorst-Ogink MM, Haas M de, Rijkers GT, Capel PJ, et al. Human immunoglobulin G (IgG) Fc receptor IIA (CD32) polymorphism and IgG2-mediated bacterial phagocytosis by neutrophils. Infect Immun. 1995;63(1):73–81.
- Rosales C. Fcγ Receptor Heterogeneity in Leukocyte Functional Responses. Front Immunol. 2017;8:280.
- 112. Oostindie SC, Lazar GA, Schuurman J, Parren PWHI. Avidity in antibody effector functions and biotherapeutic drug design. Nat Rev Drug Discov. 2022;21(10):715–35.
- 113. Kiyoshi M, Caaveiro JMM, Tada M, Tamura H, Tanaka T, Terao Y, et al. Assessing the Heterogeneity of the Fc-Glycan of a Therapeutic Antibody Using an engineered FcγReceptor IIIa-Immobilized Column. Sci Rep. 2018;8(1):3955.
- 114. Woof JM, Burton DR. Human antibody–Fc receptor interactions illuminated by crystal structures. Nat Rev Immunol. 2004;4(2):89–99.
- 115. Lu J, Chu J, Zou Z, Hamacher NB, Rixon MW, Sun PD. Structure of FcγRI in complex with Fc reveals the importance of glycan recognition for high-affinity IgG binding. Proc Natl Acad Sci. 2015;112(3):833–8.
- 116. Radaev S, Sun PD. Recognition of IgG by Fcγ Receptor THE ROLE OF Fc GLYCOSYLATION AND THE BINDING OF PEPTIDE INHIBITORS*. J Biol Chem. 2001;276(19):16478–83.
- 117. Pawel-Rammingen U von, Johansson BP, Björck L. IdeS, a novel streptococcal cysteine proteinase with unique specificity for immunoglobulin G. EMBO J. 2002;21(7):1607–15.
- 118. Frick IM, Happonen L, Wrighton S, Nordenfelt P, Björck L. IdeS, a secreted proteinase of Streptococcus pyogenes, is bound to a nuclease at the bacterial surface where it inactivates opsonizing IgG antibodies. J Biol Chem. 2023;299(11):105345.
- 119. Niedergang F, Bartolo VD, Alcover A. Comparative Anatomy of Phagocytic and Immunological Synapses. Front Immunol. 2016;7:18.
- 120. Sobota A, Strzelecka-Kiliszek A, Gładkowska E, Yoshida K, Mrozińska K, Kwiatkowska K. Binding of IgG-Opsonized Particles to FcγR Is an Active Stage of Phagocytosis That Involves Receptor Clustering and Phosphorylation. J Immunol. 2005;175(7):4450–7.
- 121. Kern N, Dong R, Douglas SM, Vale RD, Morrissey MA. Tight nanoscale clustering of Fcγ receptors using DNA origami promotes phagocytosis. eLife. 2021;10:e68311.
- 122. Goodridge HS, Underhill DM, Touret N. Mechanisms of Fc Receptor and Dectin-1 Activation for Phagocytosis. Traffic. 2012;13(8):1062–71.
- 123. Bond A, Fiaz S, Rollins K, Nario JEQ, Snyder ET, Atkins DJ, et al. Prior Fc receptor activation primes macrophages for increased sensitivity to IgG via long-term and short-term mechanisms. Dev Cell. 2024;59(21):2882-2896.e7.

- 124. Lin J, Kurilova S, Scott BL, Bosworth E, Iverson BE, Bailey EM, et al. TIRF imaging of Fc gamma receptor microclusters dynamics and signaling on macrophages during frustrated phagocytosis. BMC Immunol. 2016;17(1):5.
- 125. Freeman SA, Goyette J, Furuya W, Woods EC, Bertozzi CR, Bergmeier W, et al. Integrins Form an Expanding Diffusional Barrier that Coordinates Phagocytosis. Cell. 2016;164(1– 2):128–40.
- 126. Jones SL, Knaus UG, Bokoch GM, Brown EJ. Two Signaling Mechanisms for Activation of αMβ2 Avidity in Polymorphonuclear Neutrophils*. J Biol Chem. 1998;273(17):10556–66.
- 127. Jaumouillé V, Farkash Y, Jaqaman K, Das R, Lowell CA, Grinstein S. Actin Cytoskeleton Reorganization by Syk Regulates Fcγ Receptor Responsiveness by Increasing Its Lateral Mobility and Clustering. Dev Cell. 2014;29(5):534–46.
- 128. Bakalar MH, Joffe AM, Schmid EM, Son S, Podolski M, Fletcher DA. Size-Dependent Segregation Controls Macrophage Phagocytosis of Antibody-Opsonized Targets. Cell. 2018;174(1):131-142.e13.
- 129. Kupfer A. Signaling in the Immunological Synapse: Defining the Optimal Size. Immunity. 2006;25(1):11–3.
- Izadi A, Nordenfelt P. Protective non-neutralizing SARS-CoV-2 monoclonal antibodies. Trends Immunol. 2024;45(8):609–24.
- 131. Rak GD, Mace EM, Banerjee PP, Svitkina T, Orange JS. Natural Killer Cell Lytic Granule Secretion Occurs through a Pervasive Actin Network at the Immune Synapse. PLoS Biol. 2011;9(9):e1001151.
- 132. Sanborn KB, Mace EM, Rak GD, Difeo A, Martignetti JA, Pecci A, et al. Phosphorylation of the myosin IIA tailpiece regulates single myosin IIA molecule association with lytic granules to promote NK-cell cytotoxicity. Blood. 2011;118(22):5862–71.
- 133. Taeye SW de, Bentlage AEH, Mebius MM, Meesters JI, Lissenberg-Thunnissen S, Falck D, et al. FcγR Binding and ADCC Activity of Human IgG Allotypes. Front Immunol. 2020;11:740.
- 134. Nigro CL, Macagno M, Sangiolo D, Bertolaccini L, Aglietta M, Merlano MC. NK-mediated antibody-dependent cell-mediated cytotoxicity in solid tumors: biological evidence and clinical perspectives. Ann Transl Med. 2019;7(5):105–105.
- 135. Zahavi D, AlDeghaither D, O'Connell A, Weiner LM. Enhancing antibody-dependent cellmediated cytotoxicity: a strategy for improving antibody-based immunotherapy. Antib Ther. 2018;1(1):7–12.
- 136. Oskam N, Damelang T, Streutker M, Heer PO de, Nouta J, Koeleman C, et al. Factors affecting IgG4-mediated complement activation. Front Immunol. 2023;14:1087532.
- 137. Pandey JP. Consideration of C1q and FcRn binding to allotypically disparate IgG3 could aid in engineering more efficacious anti-SARS-CoV-2 mAbs. Proc Natl Acad Sci. 2023;120(22):e2306078120.
- 138. Diebolder CA, Beurskens FJ, Jong RN de, Koning RI, Strumane K, Lindorfer MA, et al. Complement Is Activated by IgG Hexamers Assembled at the Cell Surface. Science. 2014;343(6176):1260–3.
- 139. Frischauf N, Strasser J, Borg EGF, Labrijn AF, Beurskens FJ, Preiner J. Complement activation by IgG subclasses is governed by their ability to oligomerize upon antigen binding. Proc Natl Acad Sci. 2024;121(44):e2406192121.
- 140. Abendstein L, Dijkstra DJ, Tjokrodirijo RTN, Veelen PA van, Trouw LA, Hensbergen PJ, et al. Complement is activated by elevated IgG3 hexameric platforms and deposits C4b onto distinct antibody domains. Nat Commun. 2023;14(1):4027.
- 141. Merle NS, Church SE, Fremeaux-Bacchi V, Roumenina LT. Complement System Part I Molecular Mechanisms of Activation and Regulation. Front Immunol. 2015;6:262.

- 142. Merle NS, Noe R, Halbwachs-Mecarelli L, Fremeaux-Bacchi V, Roumenina LT. Complement System Part II: Role in Immunity. Front Immunol. 2015;6:257.
- 143. Li XX, Fung JN, Clark RJ, Lee JD, Woodruff TM. Cell-intrinsic C5a synergizes with Dectin-1 in macrophages to mediate fungal killing. Proc Natl Acad Sci. 2024;121(5):e2314627121.
- 144. Laabei M, Ermert D. Catch Me if You Can: Streptococcus pyogenes Complement Evasion Strategies. J Innate Immun. 2018;11(1):3–12.
- 145. Rhodes DA, Isenberg DA. TRIM21 and the Function of Antibodies inside Cells. Trends Immunol. 2017;38(12):916–26.
- 146. Mallery DL, McEwan WA, Bidgood SR, Towers GJ, Johnson CM, James LC. Antibodies mediate intracellular immunity through tripartite motif-containing 21 (TRIM21). Proc Natl Acad Sci. 2010;107(46):19985–90.
- 147. Watkinson RE, McEwan WA, Tam JCH, Vaysburd M, James LC. TRIM21 Promotes cGAS and RIG-I Sensing of Viral Genomes during Infection by Antibody-Opsonized Virus. PLoS Pathog. 2015;11(10):e1005253.
- 148. Gimpel AK, Maccataio A, Unterweger H, Sokolova MV, Schett G, Steffen U. IgA Complexes Induce Neutrophil Extracellular Trap Formation More Potently Than IgG Complexes. Front Immunol. 2022;12:761816.
- 149. Perdomo J, Leung HHL. Immune Thrombosis: Exploring the Significance of Immune Complexes and NETosis. Biology. 2023;12(10):1332.
- 150. Skendros P, Mitsios A, Chrysanthopoulou A, Mastellos DC, Metallidis S, Rafailidis P, et al. Complement and tissue factor-enriched neutrophil extracellular traps are key drivers in COVID-19 immunothrombosis. J Clin Investig. 2020;130(11):6151–7.
- 151. Stacey HD, Golubeva D, Posca A, Ang JC, Novakowski KE, Zahoor MA, et al. IgA potentiates NETosis in response to viral infection. Proc Natl Acad Sci. 2021;118(27):e2101497118.
- 152. Mitsi E, Roche AM, Reiné J, Zangari T, Owugha JT, Pennington SH, et al. Agglutination by anti-capsular polysaccharide antibody is associated with protection against experimental human pneumococcal carriage. Mucosal Immunol. 2017;10(2):385–94.
- 153. Kessel KPM van, Bestebroer J, Strijp JAG van. Neutrophil-Mediated Phagocytosis of Staphylococcus aureus. Front Immunol. 2014;5:467.
- 154. Dalia AB, Weiser JN. Minimization of Bacterial Size Allows for Complement Evasion and Is Overcome by the Agglutinating Effect of Antibody. Cell Host Microbe. 2011;10(5):486–96.
- 155. Liu M, Gan H, Liang Z, Liu L, Liu Q, Mai Y, et al. Review of therapeutic mechanisms and applications based on SARS-CoV-2 neutralizing antibodies. Front Microbiol. 2023;14:1122868.
- 156. REPORT OF The Lancet Special Commission ON THE RELATIVE STRENGTHS OF DIPHTHERIA ANTITOXIC SERUMS. Lancet. 1896;148(3803):182–95.
- 157. Yamin R, Jones AT, Hoffmann HH, Schäfer A, Kao KS, Francis RL, et al. Fc-engineered antibody therapeutics with improved anti-SARS-CoV-2 efficacy. Nature. 2021;599(7885):465– 70.
- 158. Jackson CB, Farzan M, Chen B, Choe H. Mechanisms of SARS-CoV-2 entry into cells. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol. 2022;23(1):3–20.
- 159. Chen Y, Zhao X, Zhou H, Zhu H, Jiang S, Wang P. Broadly neutralizing antibodies to SARS-CoV-2 and other human coronaviruses. Nat Rev Immunol. 2023;23(3):189–99.
- 160. Beck A, Wurch T, Bailly C, Corvaia N. Strategies and challenges for the next generation of therapeutic antibodies. Nat Rev Immunol. 2010;10(5):345–52.
- KÖHLER G, MILSTEIN C. Continuous cultures of fused cells secreting antibody of predefined specificity. Nature. 1975;256(5517):495–7.

- 162. MORILLON YM, SABZEVARI A, SCHLOM J, GREINER JW. The Development of Nextgeneration PBMC Humanized Mice for Preclinical Investigation of Cancer Immunotherapeutic Agents. Anticancer Res. 2020;40(10):5329–41.
- 163. Reichert JM. Marketed therapeutic antibodies compendium. mAbs. 2012;4(3):413-5.
- 164. Overdijk MB, Verploegen S, Buijsse AO, Vink T, Leusen JHW, Bleeker WK, et al. Crosstalk between Human IgG Isotypes and Murine Effector Cells. J Immunol. 2012;189(7):3430–8.
- 165. Winter G, Harris WJ. Humanized antibodies. Immunol Today. 1993;14(6):243-6.
- 166. Pedrioli A, Oxenius A. Single B cell technologies for monoclonal antibody discovery. Trends Immunol. 2021;42(12):1143–58.
- Wrammert J, Smith K, Miller J, Langley WA, Kokko K, Larsen C, et al. Rapid cloning of highaffinity human monoclonal antibodies against influenza virus. Nature. 2008;453(7195):667–71.
- 168. McKinnon KM. Flow Cytometry: An Overview. Curr Protoc Immunol. 2018;120(1):5.1.1-5.1.11.
- 169. Longo PA, Kavran JM, Kim MS, Leahy DJ. Chapter Eighteen Transient Mammalian Cell Transfection with Polyethylenimine (PEI). Methods Enzym. 2013;529:227–40.
- 170. Bahnan W, Happonen L, Khakzad H, Ahnlide VK, Neergaard T de, Wrighton S, et al. A human monoclonal antibody bivalently binding two different epitopes in streptococcal M protein mediates immune function. EMBO Mol Med. 2023;15(2):EMMM202216208.
- 171. Bahnan W, Wrighton S, Sundwall M, Bläckberg A, Larsson O, Höglund U, et al. Spike-Dependent Opsonization Indicates Both Dose-Dependent Inhibition of Phagocytosis and That Non-Neutralizing Antibodies Can Confer Protection to SARS-CoV-2. Front Immunol. 2022;12:808932.
- 172. Moreno-Vicente J, Willoughby JE, Taylor MC, Booth SG, English VL, Williams EL, et al. Fcnull anti-PD-1 monoclonal antibodies deliver optimal checkpoint blockade in diverse immune environments. J Immunother Cancer. 2022;10(1):e003735.
- 173. Goebeler ME, Stuhler G, Bargou R. Bispecific and multispecific antibodies in oncology: opportunities and challenges. Nat Rev Clin Oncol. 2024;21(7):539–60.
- 174. Li Z, Li S, Zhang G, Peng W, Chang Z, Zhang X, et al. An engineered bispecific human monoclonal antibody against SARS-CoV-2. Nat Immunol. 2022;23(3):423–30.
- 175. Xu L, Pegu A, Rao E, Doria-Rose N, Beninga J, McKee K, et al. Trispecific broadly neutralizing HIV antibodies mediate potent SHIV protection in macaques. Science. 2017;358(6359):85–90.
- 176. Tian Z, Liu M, Zhang Y, Wang X. Bispecific T cell engagers: an emerging therapy for management of hematologic malignancies. J Hematol Oncol. 2021;14(1):75.
- 177. Yu J, Song Y, Tian W. How to select IgG subclasses in developing anti-tumor therapeutic antibodies. J Hematol Oncol. 2020;13(1):45.
- 178. Huan T, Guan B, Li H, Tu X, Zhang C, Tang B. Principles and current clinical landscape of NK cell engaging bispecific antibody against cancer. Hum Vaccines Immunother. 2023;19(2):2256904.
- 179. Yu X, Orr CM, Chan HTC, James S, Penfold CA, Kim J, et al. Reducing affinity as a strategy to boost immunomodulatory antibody agonism. Nature. 2023;614(7948):539–47.
- 180. Okazaki A, Shoji-Hosaka E, Nakamura K, Wakitani M, Uchida K, Kakita S, et al. Fucose Depletion from Human IgG1 Oligosaccharide Enhances Binding Enthalpy and Association Rate Between IgG1 and FcγRIIIa. J Mol Biol. 2004;336(5):1239–49.
- 181. Niwa R, Hatanaka S, Shoji-Hosaka E, Sakurada M, Kobayashi Y, Uehara A, et al. Enhancement of the Antibody-Dependent Cellular Cytotoxicity of Low-Fucose IgG1 Is Independent of FcγRIIIa Functional Polymorphism. Clin Cancer Res. 2004;10(18):6248–55.

- 182. Shibata-Koyama M, Iida S, Misaka H, Mori K, Yano K, Shitara K, et al. Nonfucosylated rituximab potentiates human neutrophil phagocytosis through its high binding for FcγRIIIb and MHC class II expression on the phagocytotic neutrophils. Exp Hematol. 2009;37(3):309–21.
- 183. Herter S, Birk MC, Klein C, Gerdes C, Umana P, Bacac M. Glycoengineering of Therapeutic Antibodies Enhances Monocyte/Macrophage-Mediated Phagocytosis and Cytotoxicity. J Immunol. 2014;192(5):2252–60.
- 184. Ogura M, Ishida T, Hatake K, Taniwaki M, Ando K, Tobinai K, et al. Multicenter Phase II Study of Mogamulizumab (KW-0761), a Defucosylated Anti-CC Chemokine Receptor 4 Antibody, in Patients With Relapsed Peripheral T-Cell Lymphoma and Cutaneous T-Cell Lymphoma. J Clin Oncol. 2014;32(11):1157–63.
- 185. Saban NC, Yalin A, Landsberger T, Salomon R, Alva A, Feferman T, et al. Fc glycoengineering of a PD-L1 antibody harnesses Fcγ receptors for increased antitumor efficacy. Sci Immunol. 2023;8(81):eadd8005.
- 186. Walker MR, Lund J, Thompson KM, Jefferis R. Aglycosylation of human IgG1 and IgG3 monoclonal antibodies can eliminate recognition by human cells expressing FcγRI and/or FcγRII receptors. Biochem J. 1989;259(2):347–53.
- 187. Bolt S, Routledge E, Lloyd I, Chatenoud L, Pope H, Gorman SD, et al. The generation of a humanized, non-mitogenic CD3 monoclonal antibody which retains in vitro immunosuppressive properties. Eur J Immunol. 1993;23(2):403–11.
- 188. Collin M, Olsén A. EndoS, a novel secreted protein from Streptococcus pyogenes with endoglycosidase activity on human IgG. EMBO J. 2001;20(12):3046–55.
- 189. Sastre DE, Bournazos S, Du J, Boder EJ, Edgar JE, Azzam T, et al. Potent efficacy of an IgGspecific endoglycosidase against IgG-mediated pathologies. Cell. 2024;187(24):6994-7007.e12.
- 190. Dodev TS, Karagiannis P, Gilbert AE, Josephs DH, Bowen H, James LK, et al. A tool kit for rapid cloning and expression of recombinant antibodies. Sci Rep. 2014;4(1):5885.
- 191. Moyo-Gwete T, Scheepers C, Makhado Z, Kgagudi P, Mzindle NB, Ziki R, et al. Enhanced neutralization potency of an identical HIV neutralizing antibody expressed as different isotypes is achieved through genetically distinct mechanisms. Sci Rep. 2022;12(1):16473.
- 192. Richardson SI, Lambson BE, Crowley AR, Bashirova A, Scheepers C, Garrett N, et al. IgG3 enhances neutralization potency and Fc effector function of an HIV V2-specific broadly neutralizing antibody. PLoS Pathog. 2019;15(12):e1008064.
- 193. Braster R, Grewal S, Visser R, Einarsdottir HK, Egmond M van, Vidarsson G, et al. Human IgG3 with extended half-life does not improve Fc-gamma receptor-mediated cancer antibody therapies in mice. PLoS ONE. 2017;12(5):e0177736.
- 194. Raff HV, Bradley C, Brady W, Donaldson K, Lipsich L, Maloney G, et al. Comparison of Functional Activities between IgG1 and IgM Class-Switched Human Monoclonal Antibodies Reactive with Group B Streptococci or Escherichia coli K1. J Infect Dis. 1991;163(2):346–54.
- 195. Giuntini S, Granoff DM, Beernink PT, Ihle O, Bratlie D, Michaelsen TE. Human IgG1, IgG3, and IgG3 Hinge-Truncated Mutants Show Different Protection Capabilities against Meningococci Depending on the Target Antigen and Epitope Specificity. Clin Vaccine Immunol. 2016;23(8):698–706.
- 196. Marcotte H, Cao Y, Zuo F, Simonelli L, Sammartino JC, Pedotti M, et al. Conversion of monoclonal IgG to dimeric and secretory IgA restores neutralizing ability and prevents infection of Omicron lineages. Proc Natl Acad Sci. 2024;121(3):e2315354120.
- 197. Wang Z, Lorenzi JCC, Muecksch F, Finkin S, Viant C, Gaebler C, et al. Enhanced SARS-CoV-2 neutralization by dimeric IgA. Sci Transl Med. 2021;13(577):eabf1555.
- 198. Kallolimath S, Sun L, Palt R, Stiasny K, Mayrhofer P, Gruber C, et al. Highly active engineered IgG3 antibodies against SARS-CoV-2. Proc Natl Acad Sci. 2021;118(42):e2107249118.

- 199. Zuo F, Cao Y, Sun R, Wang Q, Simonelli L, Du L, et al. Ultrapotent IgA dimeric antibodies neutralize emerging Omicron variants. J Virol. 2024;99(1):e01740-24.
- 200. Shields RL, Namenuk AK, Hong K, Meng YG, Rae J, Briggs J, et al. High Resolution Mapping of the Binding Site on Human IgG1 for FcγRI, FcγRII, FcγRII, and FcRn and Design of IgG1 Variants with Improved Binding to the FcγR*. J Biol Chem. 2001;276(9):6591–604.
- 201. Smith P, DiLillo DJ, Bournazos S, Li F, Ravetch JV. Mouse model recapitulating human Fcγ receptor structural and functional diversity. Proc Natl Acad Sci. 2012;109(16):6181–6.
- 202. Damelang T, Brinkhaus M, Osch TLJ van, Schuurman J, Labrijn AF, Rispens T, et al. Impact of structural modifications of IgG antibodies on effector functions. Front Immunol. 2024;14:1304365.
- 203. Bournazos S, Klein F, Pietzsch J, Seaman MS, Nussenzweig MC, Ravetch JV. Broadly Neutralizing Anti-HIV-1 Antibodies Require Fc Effector Functions for In Vivo Activity. Cell. 2014;158(6):1243–53.
- 204. Weitzenfeld P, Bournazos S, Ravetch JV. Antibodies targeting sialyl Lewis A mediate tumor clearance through distinct effector pathways. J Clin Investig. 2019;129(9):3952–62.
- 205. Bournazos S, Corti D, Virgin HW, Ravetch JV. Fc-optimized antibodies elicit CD8 immunity to viral respiratory infection. Nature. 2020;588(7838):485–90.
- 206. Wilkinson I, Anderson S, Fry J, Julien LA, Neville D, Qureshi O, et al. Fc-engineered antibodies with immune effector functions completely abolished. PLoS ONE. 2021;16(12):e0260954.
- 207. Saunders KO. Conceptual Approaches to Modulating Antibody Effector Functions and Circulation Half-Life. Front Immunol. 2019;10:1296.
- 208. Chu TH, Patz EF, Ackerman ME. Coming together at the hinges: Therapeutic prospects of IgG3. mAbs. 2021;13(1):1882028.
- 209. Chu TH, Crowley AR, Backes I, Chang C, Tay M, Broge T, et al. Hinge length contributes to the phagocytic activity of HIV-specific IgG1 and IgG3 antibodies. PLoS Pathog. 2020;16(2):e1008083.
- 210. Foss S, Jonsson A, Bottermann M, Watkinson R, Lode HE, McAdam MB, et al. Potent TRIM21 and complement-dependent intracellular antiviral immunity requires the IgG3 hinge. Sci Immunol. 2022;7(70):eabj1640.
- 211. Schriek AI, Falck D, Wuhrer M, Kootstra NA, Gils MJ van, Taeye SW de. Functional comparison of Fc-engineering strategies to improve anti-HIV-1 antibody effector functions. Antivir Res. 2024;231:106015.
- 212. Kampen MD van, Wilt LHAMKD, Egmond ML van, Reinders-Blankert P, Bremer ETJ van den, Wang G, et al. Biophysical Characterization and Stability of Modified IgG1 Antibodies with Different Hexamerization Propensities. J Pharm Sci. 2022;111(6):1587–98.
- 213. Ovcinnikovs V, Dijkman K, Zom GG, Beurskens FJ, Trouw LA. Enhancing complement activation by therapeutic anti-tumor antibodies: Mechanisms, strategies, and engineering approaches. Semin Immunol. 2025;77:101922.
- 214. Oskam N, Heer PO de, Derksen NIL, Kruithof S, Taeye SW de, Vidarsson G, et al. At Critically Low Antigen Densities, IgM Hexamers Outcompete Both IgM Pentamers and IgG1 for Human Complement Deposition and Complement-Dependent Cytotoxicity. J Immunol. 2022;209(1):16–25.
- Zhang W, Wang H, Feng N, Li Y, Gu J, Wang Z. Developability assessment at early-stage discovery to enable development of antibody-derived therapeutics. Antib Ther. 2022;6(1):13– 29.
- 216. Bailly M, Mieczkowski C, Juan V, Metwally E, Tomazela D, Baker J, et al. Predicting Antibody Developability Profiles Through Early Stage Discovery Screening. mAbs. 2020;12(1):1743053.

- 217. Saito S, Namisaki H, Hiraishi K, Takahashi N, Iida S. A stable engineered human IgG3 antibody with decreased aggregation during antibody expression and low pH stress. Protein Sci. 2019;28(5):900–9.
- 218. Dall'Acqua WF, Kiener PA, Wu H. Properties of Human IgG1s Engineered for Enhanced Binding to the Neonatal Fc Receptor (FcRn)*. J Biol Chem. 2006;281(33):23514–24.
- 219. Zhu Q, McLellan JS, Kallewaard NL, Ulbrandt ND, Palaszynski S, Zhang J, et al. A highly potent extended half-life antibody as a potential RSV vaccine surrogate for all infants. Sci Transl Med. 2017;9(388).
- 220. Zalevsky J, Chamberlain AK, Horton HM, Karki S, Leung IWL, Sproule TJ, et al. Enhanced antibody half-life improves in vivo activity. Nat Biotechnol. 2010;28(2):157–9.
- 221. Mackness BC, Jaworski JA, Boudanova E, Park A, Valente D, Mauriac C, et al. Antibody Fc engineering for enhanced neonatal Fc receptor binding and prolonged circulation half-life. mAbs. 2019;11(7):1276–88.
- 222. Madhi SA, Simões EAF, Acevedo A, Pizarro JMN, Shepard JS, Railkar RA, et al. A Phase 1b/2a Trial of a Half-life Extended Respiratory Syncytial Virus Neutralizing Antibody, Clesrovimab, in Healthy Preterm and Full-term Infants. J Infect Dis. 2024;231(3):e478–87.
- 223. Phuah JY, Maas BM, Tang A, Zhang Y, Caro L, Railkar RA, et al. Quantification of clesrovimab, an investigational, half-life extended, anti-respiratory syncytial virus protein F human monoclonal antibody in the nasal epithelial lining fluid of healthy adults. Biomed Pharmacother. 2023;169:115851.
- 224. Corti D, Purcell LA, Snell G, Veesler D. Tackling COVID-19 with neutralizing monoclonal antibodies. Cell. 2021;184(12):3086–108.
- Whitworth JM. Lancefield group F and related streptococci. J Méd Microbiol. 1990;33(3):135– 51.
- 226. Carapetis JR, Steer AC, Mulholland EK, Weber M. The global burden of group A streptococcal diseases. Lancet Infect Dis. 2005;5(11):685–94.
- 227. Nelson GE, Pondo T, Toews KA, Farley MM, Lindegren ML, Lynfield R, et al. Epidemiology of Invasive Group A Streptococcal Infections in the United States, 2005–2012. Rev Infect Dis. 2016;63(4):478–86.
- 228. Anderson J, Imran S, Frost HR, Azzopardi KI, Jalali S, Novakovic B, et al. Immune signature of acute pharyngitis in a Streptococcus pyogenes human challenge trial. Nat Commun. 2022;13(1):769.
- 229. Reglinski M, Sriskandan S. The contribution of group A streptococcal virulence determinants to the pathogenesis of sepsis. Virulence. 2014;5(1):127–36.
- 230. Bergsten H, Nizet V. The intricate pathogenicity of Group A Streptococcus: A comprehensive update. Virulence. 2024;15(1):2412745.
- 231. Lamagni TL, Neal S, Keshishian C, Powell D, Potz N, Pebody RG, et al. Predictors of Death after Severe Streptococcus pyogenes Infection - Volume 15, Number 8—August 2009 -Emerging Infectious Diseases journal - CDC. Emerg Infect Dis. 2009;15(8):1304–7.
- 232. Fischetti VA. Streptococcal M protein: molecular design and biological behavior. Clin Microbiol Rev. 1989;2(3):285–314.
- 233. Herwald H, Cramer H, Mörgelin M, Russell W, Sollenberg U, Norrby-Teglund A, et al. M Protein, a Classical Bacterial Virulence Determinant, Forms Complexes with Fibrinogen that Induce Vascular Leakage. Cell. 2004;116(3):367–79.
- 234. Oliver J, Wadu EM, Pierse N, Moreland NJ, Williamson DA, Baker MG. Group A Streptococcus pharyngitis and pharyngeal carriage: A meta-analysis. PLoS Neglected Trop Dis. 2018;12(3):e0006335.

- 235. Tanz RR, Ranniger EJ, Rippe JL, Dietz RL, Oktem CL, Lowmiller CL, et al. Highly Sensitive Molecular Assay for Group A Streptococci Over-Identifies Carriers and May Impact Outpatient Antimicrobial Stewardship. Pediatr Infect Dis J. 2019;Publish Ahead of Print(NA;):NA;
- 236. Spinks A, Glasziou PP, Mar CBD. Antibiotics for treatment of sore throat in children and adults. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2021;2021(12):CD000023.
- 237. Movert E, Bolarin JS, Valfridsson C, Velarde J, Skrede S, Nekludov M, et al. Interplay between human STING genotype and bacterial NADase activity regulates inter-individual disease variability. Nat Commun. 2023;14(1):4008.
- 238. Gratz N, Hartweger H, Matt U, Kratochvill F, Janos M, Sigel S, et al. Type I Interferon Production Induced by Streptococcus pyogenes-Derived Nucleic Acids Is Required for Host Protection. PLoS Pathog. 2011;7(5):e1001345.
- 239. Bastiat-Sempe B, Love JF, Lomayesva N, Wessels MR. Streptolysin O and NAD-Glycohydrolase Prevent Phagolysosome Acidification and Promote Group A Streptococcus Survival in Macrophages. mBio. 2014;5(5):10.1128/mbio.01690-14.
- 240. Caparon MG, Stephens DS, Olsén A, Scott JR. Role of M protein in adherence of group A streptococci. Infect Immun. 1991;59(5):1811–7.
- 241. Madsen MB, Skrede S, Perner A, Arnell P, Nekludov M, Bruun T, et al. Patient's characteristics and outcomes in necrotising soft-tissue infections: results from a Scandinavian, multicentre, prospective cohort study. Intensiv Care Med. 2019;45(9):1241–51.
- 242. Thänert R, Itzek A, Hoßmann J, Hamisch D, Madsen MB, Hyldegaard O, et al. Molecular profiling of tissue biopsies reveals unique signatures associated with streptococcal necrotizing soft tissue infections. Nat Commun. 2019;10(1):3846.
- 243. Andersson AE, Egerod I, Knudsen VE, Fagerdahl AM. Signs, symptoms and diagnosis of necrotizing fasciitis experienced by survivors and family: a qualitative Nordic multi-center study. BMC Infect Dis. 2018;18(1):429.
- 244. Tsuge I, Matsui M, Yamanaka H, Katsube M, Sakamoto M, Morimoto N. Group G Streptococcal Necrotizing Soft Tissue Infection: A Pitfall of Rapid Antigen Detection Test for Group A. Eplasty. 2022;22:e7.
- 245. Urbina T, Madsen MB, Prost N de. Understanding necrotizing soft tissue infections in the intensive care unit. Intensiv Care Med. 2020;46(9):1739–42.
- 246. Bonne SL, Kadri SS. Evaluation and Management of Necrotizing Soft Tissue Infections. Infect Dis Clin North Am. 2017;31(3):497–511.
- 247. Misiakos EP, Bagias G, Patapis P, Sotiropoulos D, Kanavidis P, Machairas A. Current Concepts in the Management of Necrotizing Fasciitis. Front Surg. 2014;1:36.
- 248. Smieja M. Current Indications for the Use of Clindamycin: A Critical Review. Can J Infect Dis Méd Microbiol. 1998;9(1):22–8.
- 249. Bergsten H, Madsen MB, Bergey F, Hyldegaard O, Skrede S, Arnell P, et al. Correlation Between Immunoglobulin Dose Administered and Plasma Neutralization of Streptococcal Superantigens in Patients With Necrotizing Soft Tissue Infections. Clin Infect Dis. 2020;71(7):1772–5.
- 250. Madsen MB, Hjortrup PB, Hansen MB, Lange T, Norrby-Teglund A, Hyldegaard O, et al. Immunoglobulin G for patients with necrotising soft tissue infection (INSTINCT): a randomised, blinded, placebo-controlled trial. Intensiv Care Med. 2017;43(11):1585–93.
- 251. Gregory CJ, Okaro JO, Reingold A, Chai S, Herlihy R, Petit S, et al. Invasive Group A Streptococcal Infections in 10 US States. JAMA. 2025;333(17).
- 252. Timmer AM, Timmer JC, Pence MA, Hsu LC, Ghochani M, Frey TG, et al. Streptolysin O Promotes Group A Streptococcus Immune Evasion by Accelerated Macrophage Apoptosis*. J Biol Chem. 2009;284(2):862–71.

- 253. Tsai WJ, Lai YH, Shi YA, Hammel M, Duff AP, Whitten AE, et al. Structural basis underlying the synergism of NADase and SLO during group A Streptococcus infection. Commun Biol. 2023;6(1):124.
- 254. Magassa N, Chandrasekaran S, Caparon MG. Streptococcus pyogenes cytolysin-mediated translocation does not require pore formation by streptolysin O. EMBO Rep. 2010;11(5):400–5.
- 255. Bryant AE, Bayer CR, Chen RYZ, Guth PH, Wallace RJ, Stevens DL. Vascular Dysfunction and Ischemic Destruction of Tissue in Streptococcus pyogenes Infection: The Role of Streptolysin O–Induced Platelet/Neutrophil Complexes. J Infect Dis. 2005;192(6):1014–22.
- 256. Tang D, Khakzad H, Hjortswang E, Malmström L, Ekström S, Happonen L, et al. Streptolysin O accelerates the conversion of plasminogen to plasmin. Nat Commun. 2024;15(1):10212.
- 257. Pinho-Ribeiro FA, Baddal B, Haarsma R, O'Seaghdha M, Yang NJ, Blake KJ, et al. Blocking Neuronal Signaling to Immune Cells Treats Streptococcal Invasive Infection. Cell. 2018;173(5):1083-1097.e22.
- 258. Davies FJ, Olme C, Lynskey NN, Turner CE, Sriskandan S. Streptococcal superantigen-induced expansion of human tonsil T cells leads to altered T follicular helper cell phenotype, B cell death and reduced immunoglobulin release. Clin Exp Immunol. 2019;197(1):83–94.
- 259. Kasper KJ, Zeppa JJ, Wakabayashi AT, Xu SX, Mazzuca DM, Welch I, et al. Bacterial Superantigens Promote Acute Nasopharyngeal Infection by Streptococcus pyogenes in a Human MHC Class II-Dependent Manner. PLoS Pathog. 2014;10(5):e1004155.
- 260. Reglinski M, Sriskandan S, Turner CE. Identification of two new core chromosome-encoded superantigens in Streptococcus pyogenes; speQ and speR. J Infect. 2019;78(5):358–63.
- 261. Kotb M, Norrby-Teglund A, McGeer A, El-Sherbini H, Dorak MT, Khurshid A, et al. An immunogenetic and molecular basis for differences in outcomes of invasive group A streptococcal infections. Nat Med. 2002;8(12):1398–404.
- 262. Sundberg EJ, Li H, Llera AS, McCormick JK, Tormo J, Schlievert PM, et al. Structures of Two Streptococcal Superantigens Bound to TCR β Chains Reveal Diversity in the Architecture of T Cell Signaling Complexes. Structure. 2002;10(5):687–99.
- 263. Kline JB, Collins CM. Analysis of the superantigenic activity of mutant and allelic forms of streptococcal pyrogenic exotoxin A. Infect Immun. 1996;64(3):861–9.
- 264. Emgård J, Bergsten H, McCormick JK, Barrantes I, Skrede S, Sandberg JK, et al. MAIT Cells Are Major Contributors to the Cytokine Response in Group A Streptococcal Toxic Shock Syndrome. Proc Natl Acad Sci. 2019;116(51):25923–31.
- 265. Åkesson P, Moritz L, Truedsson M, Christensson B, Pawel-Rammingen U von. IdeS, a Highly Specific Immunoglobulin G (IgG)-Cleaving Enzyme from Streptococcus pyogenes, Is Inhibited by Specific IgG Antibodies Generated during Infection. Infect Immun. 2006;74(1):497–503.
- 266. Naegeli A, Bratanis E, Karlsson C, Shannon O, Kalluru R, Linder A, et al. Streptococcus pyogenes evades adaptive immunity through specific IgG glycan hydrolysis. J Exp Med. 2019;216(7):1615–29.
- 267. Toledo AG, Bratanis E, Velásquez E, Chowdhury S, Olofsson B, Sorrentino JT, et al. Pathogendriven degradation of endogenous and therapeutic antibodies during streptococcal infections. Nat Commun. 2023;14(1):6693.
- 268. Karlsson CAQ, Järnum S, Winstedt L, Kjellman C, Björck L, Linder A, et al. Streptococcus pyogenes Infection and the Human Proteome with a Special Focus on the Immunoglobulin Gcleaving Enzyme IdeS*. Mol Cell Proteom. 2018;17(6):1097–111.
- Smeesters PR, McMillan DJ, Sriprakash KS. The streptococcal M protein: a highly versatile molecule. Trends Microbiol. 2010;18(6):275–82.
- 270. Cunningham MW. Pathogenesis of Group A Streptococcal Infections. Clin Microbiol Rev. 2000;13(3):470–511.

- 271. Denny FW, Perry WD, Wannamaker LW. Type-Specific Streptococcal Antibody1. J Clin Investig. 1957;36(7):1092–100.
- 272. McMillan DJ, Drèze P -A., Vu T, Bessen DE, Guglielmini J, Steer AC, et al. Updated model of group A Streptococcus M proteins based on a comprehensive worldwide study. Clin Microbiol Infect. 2013;19(5):E222–9.
- 273. Dale JB, Penfound TA, Chiang EY, Walton WJ. New 30-valent M protein-based vaccine evokes cross-opsonic antibodies against non-vaccine serotypes of group A streptococci. Vaccine. 2011;29(46):8175–8.
- 274. Neergaard T de, Bläckberg A, Ivarsson H, Thomasson S, Ahnlide VK, Chowdhury S, et al. Invasive Streptococcal Infection Can Lead to the Generation of Cross-Strain Opsonic Antibodies. Microbiol Spectr. 2022;10(6):e02486-22.
- 275. Davis MM. Molecular Genetics of the T Cell-Receptor Beta Chain. Annu Rev Immunol. 1985;3(1):537–60.
- 276. Steer AC, Law I, Matatolu L, Beall BW, Carapetis JR. Global emm type distribution of group A streptococci: systematic review and implications for vaccine development. Lancet Infect Dis. 2009;9(10):611–6.
- 277. Stevens DL. Invasive streptococcal infections. J Infect Chemother. 2001;7(2):69-80.
- Åkesson P, Schmidt KH, Cooney J, Björck L. M1 protein and protein H: IgGFc- and albuminbinding streptococcal surface proteins encoded by adjacent genes. Biochem J. 1994;300(3):877– 86.
- 279. Cue D, Dombek PE, Lam H, Cleary PP. Streptococcus pyogenes Serotype M1 Encodes Multiple Pathways for Entry into Human Epithelial Cells. Infect Immun. 1998;66(10):4593– 601.
- 280. Macheboeuf P, Buffalo C, Fu C yu, Zinkernagel AS, Cole JN, Johnson JE, et al. Streptococcal M1 protein constructs a pathological host fibrinogen network. Nature. 2011;472(7341):64–8.
- 281. Sandin C, Carlsson F, Lindahl G. Binding of human plasma proteins to Streptococcus pyogenes M protein determines the location of opsonic and non-opsonic epitopes. Mol Microbiol. 2006;59(1):20–30.
- 282. Happonen L, Hauri S, Birkedal GS, Karlsson C, Neergaard T de, Khakzad H, et al. A quantitative Streptococcus pyogenes-human protein-protein interaction map reveals localization of opsonizing antibodies. Nat Commun. 2019;10(1):2727.
- 283. Chan JFW, Yuan S, Kok KH, To KKW, Chu H, Yang J, et al. A familial cluster of pneumonia associated with the 2019 novel coronavirus indicating person-to-person transmission: a study of a family cluster. Lancet. 2020;395(10223):514–23.
- 284. Hosseini ES, Kashani NR, Nikzad H, Azadbakht J, Bafrani HH, Kashani HH. The novel coronavirus Disease-2019 (COVID-19): Mechanism of action, detection and recent therapeutic strategies. Virology. 2020;551:1–9.
- 285. M. ZA, Sander van B, M. BT, D.M.E. OA, A.M. FR. Isolation of a Novel Coronavirus from a Man with Pneumonia in Saudi Arabia. N Engl J Med. 2012;367(19):1814–20.
- 286. (CDC) C for DC and P. Update: Outbreak of severe acute respiratory syndrome--worldwide, 2003. MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep. 2003;52(12):241–6, 248.
- 287. Msemburi W, Karlinsky A, Knutson V, Aleshin-Guendel S, Chatterji S, Wakefield J. The WHO estimates of excess mortality associated with the COVID-19 pandemic. Nature. 2023;613(7942):130–7.
- 288. Andersen KG, Rambaut A, Lipkin WI, Holmes EC, Garry RF. The proximal origin of SARS-CoV-2. Nat Med. 2020;26(4):450–2.
- Greenhalgh T, Sivan M, Perlowski A, Nikolich JŽ. Long COVID: a clinical update. Lancet. 2024;404(10453):707–24.

- 290. Xu H, Zhong L, Deng J, Peng J, Dan H, Zeng X, et al. High expression of ACE2 receptor of 2019-nCoV on the epithelial cells of oral mucosa. Int J Oral Sci. 2020;12(1):8.
- 291. Wu C, Chen X, Cai Y, Xia J, Zhou X, Xu S, et al. Risk Factors Associated With Acute Respiratory Distress Syndrome and Death in Patients With Coronavirus Disease 2019 Pneumonia in Wuhan, China. JAMA Intern Med. 2020;180(7):934–43.
- 292. Chen T, Wu D, Chen H, Yan W, Yang D, Chen G, et al. Clinical characteristics of 113 deceased patients with coronavirus disease 2019: retrospective study. BMJ. 2020;368:m1091.
- 293. Chen G, Wu D, Guo W, Cao Y, Huang D, Wang H, et al. Clinical and immunologic features in severe and moderate Coronavirus Disease 2019. J Clin Investig. 2020;130(5):2620–9.
- 294. Williamson EJ, Walker AJ, Bhaskaran K, Bacon S, Bates C, Morton CE, et al. Factors associated with COVID-19-related death using OpenSAFELY. Nature. 2020;584(7821):430–6.
- 295. Wang M, Cao R, Zhang L, Yang X, Liu J, Xu M, et al. Remdesivir and chloroquine effectively inhibit the recently emerged novel coronavirus (2019-nCoV) in vitro. Cell Res. 2020;30(3):269– 71.
- 296. Dong Y, Shamsuddin A, Campbell H, Theodoratou E. Current COVID-19 treatments: Rapid review of the literature. J Glob Heal. 2021;11:10003.
- 297. Wang Y, Zhang D, Du G, Du R, Zhao J, Jin Y, et al. Remdesivir in adults with severe COVID-19: a randomised, double-blind, placebo-controlled, multicentre trial. Lancet. 2020;395(10236):1569–78.
- 298. Miguez-Rey E, Choi D, Kim S, Yoon S, Săndulescu O. Monoclonal antibody therapies in the management of SARS-CoV-2 infection. Expert Opin Investig Drugs. 2022;31(1):41–58.
- 299. Rodriguez L, Pekkarinen PT, Lakshmikanth T, Tan Z, Consiglio CR, Pou C, et al. Systems-Level Immunomonitoring from Acute to Recovery Phase of Severe COVID-19. Cell Rep Med. 2020;1(5):100078.
- 300. Wrapp D, Wang N, Corbett KS, Goldsmith JA, Hsieh CL, Abiona O, et al. Cryo-EM structure of the 2019-nCoV spike in the prefusion conformation. Science. 2020;367(6483):1260–3.
- 301. Diamond MS, Kanneganti TD. Innate immunity: the first line of defense against SARS-CoV-2. Nat Immunol. 2022;23(2):165–76.
- 302. Schroeder S, Pott F, Niemeyer D, Veith T, Richter A, Muth D, et al. Interferon antagonism by SARS-CoV-2: a functional study using reverse genetics. Lancet Microbe. 2021;2(5):e210–8.
- 303. Zohar T, Loos C, Fischinger S, Atyeo C, Wang C, Slein MD, et al. Compromised Humoral Functional Evolution Tracks with SARS-CoV-2 Mortality. Cell. 2020;183(6):1508-1519.e12.
- 304. Notarbartolo S, Ranzani V, Bandera A, Gruarin P, Bevilacqua V, Putignano AR, et al. Integrated longitudinal immunophenotypic, transcriptional, and repertoire analyses delineate immune responses in patients with COVID-19. Sci Immunol. 2021;6(62).
- 305. Bange EM, Han NA, Wileyto P, Kim JY, Gouma S, Robinson J, et al. CD8+ T cells contribute to survival in patients with COVID-19 and hematologic cancer. Nat Med. 2021;27(7):1280–9.
- 306. Moss P. The T cell immune response against SARS-CoV-2. Nat Immunol. 2022;23(2):186-93.
- 307. Vardhana S, Baldo L, MoriceII WG, Wherry EJ. Understanding T-cell responses to COVID-19 is essential for informing public health strategies. Sci Immunol. 2022;7(71):eabo1303.
- 308. Reyes RA, Clarke K, Gonzales SJ, Cantwell AM, Garza R, Catano G, et al. SARS-CoV-2 spike-specific memory B cells express higher levels of T-bet and FcRL5 after non-severe COVID-19 as compared to severe disease. PLoS ONE. 2021;16(12):e0261656.
- 309. Gilbert PB, Donis RO, Koup RA, Fong Y, Plotkin SA, Follmann D. A Covid-19 Milestone Attained — A Correlate of Protection for Vaccines. N Engl J Med. 2022;387(24):2203–6.
- 310. Khoury DS, Cromer D, Reynaldi A, Schlub TE, Wheatley AK, Juno JA, et al. Neutralizing antibody levels are highly predictive of immune protection from symptomatic SARS-CoV-2 infection. Nat Med. 2021;27(7):1205–11.

- 311. Lu LL, Suscovich TJ, Fortune SM, Alter G. Beyond binding: antibody effector functions in infectious diseases. Nat Rev Immunol. 2018;18(1):46–61.
- 312. Li C, Yu J, Issa R, Wang L, Ning M, Yin S, et al. CoronaVac-induced antibodies that facilitate Fc-mediated neutrophil phagocytosis track with COVID-19 disease resolution. Emerg Microbes Infect. 2025;14(1):2434567.
- 313. Ullah I, Beaudoin-Bussières G, Symmes K, Cloutier M, Ducas E, Tauzin A, et al. The Fceffector function of COVID-19 convalescent plasma contributes to SARS-CoV-2 treatment efficacy in mice. Cell Rep Med. 2023;4(1):100893.
- 314. Yuan M, Liu H, Wu NC, Lee CCD, Zhu X, Zhao F, et al. Structural basis of a shared antibody response to SARS-CoV-2. Science. 2020;369(6507):1119–23.
- 315. Zhao Z, Zhou J, Tian M, Huang M, Liu S, Xie Y, et al. Omicron SARS-CoV-2 mutations stabilize spike up-RBD conformation and lead to a non-RBM-binding monoclonal antibody escape. Nat Commun. 2022;13(1):4958.
- 316. Keeton R, Tincho MB, Ngomti A, Baguma R, Benede N, Suzuki A, et al. T cell responses to SARS-CoV-2 spike cross-recognize Omicron. Nature. 2022;603(7901):488–92.
- 317. Müller TR, Gao Y, Wu J, Ribeiro O, Chen P, Bergman P, et al. Memory T cells effectively recognize the SARS-CoV-2 hypermutated BA.2.86 variant. Cell Host Microbe. 2024;32(2):156-161.e3.
- 318. Liu W, Huang Z, Xiao J, Wu Y, Xia N, Yuan Q. Evolution of the SARS-CoV-2 Omicron Variants: Genetic Impact on Viral Fitness. Viruses. 2024;16(2):184.
- 319. Wang Q, Iketani S, Li Z, Liu L, Guo Y, Huang Y, et al. Alarming antibody evasion properties of rising SARS-CoV-2 BQ and XBB subvariants. Cell. 2023;186(2):279-286.e8.
- 320. Uriu K, Kaku Y, Uwamino Y, Fujiwara H, Saito F, Consortium TG to PJ (G2P J, et al. Antiviral humoral immunity induced by JN.1 monovalent mRNA vaccines against SARS-CoV-2 omicron subvariants including JN.1, KP.3.1.1, and XEC. Lancet Infect Dis. 2025;25(2):e61.
- 321. Johnston TS, Li SH, Painter MM, Atkinson RK, Douek NR, Reeg DB, et al. Immunological imprinting shapes the specificity of human antibody responses against SARS-CoV-2 variants. Immunity. 2024;57(4):912-925.e4.
- 322. Carabelli AM, Peacock TP, Thorne LG, Harvey WT, Hughes J, Silva TI de, et al. SARS-CoV-2 variant biology: immune escape, transmission and fitness. Nat Rev Microbiol. 2023;21(3):162–77.
- 323. Greaney AJ, Starr TN, Gilchuk P, Zost SJ, Binshtein E, Loes AN, et al. Complete Mapping of Mutations to the SARS-CoV-2 Spike Receptor-Binding Domain that Escape Antibody Recognition. Cell Host Microbe. 2021;29(1):44-57.e9.
- 324. Kaplonek P, Fischinger S, Cizmeci D, Bartsch YC, Kang J, Burke JS, et al. mRNA-1273 vaccine-induced antibodies maintain Fc effector functions across SARS-CoV-2 variants of concern. Immunity. 2022;55(2):355-365.e4.
- 325. Yu J, Tostanoski LH, Peter L, Mercado NB, McMahan K, Mahrokhian SH, et al. DNA vaccine protection against SARS-CoV-2 in rhesus macaques. Science. 2020;369(6505):806–11.
- 326. Winkler ES, Gilchuk P, Yu J, Bailey AL, Chen RE, Chong Z, et al. Human neutralizing antibodies against SARS-CoV-2 require intact Fc effector functions for optimal therapeutic protection. Cell. 2021;184(7):1804-1820.e16.
- 327. Tan TJC, Verma AK, Odle A, Lei R, Meyerholz DK, Matreyek KA, et al. Evidence of antigenic drift in the fusion machinery core of SARS-CoV-2 spike. Proc Natl Acad Sci. 2024;121(15):e2317222121.
- 328. Clark JJ, Hoxie I, Adelsberg DC, Sapse IA, Andreata-Santos R, Yong JS, et al. Protective effect and molecular mechanisms of human non-neutralizing cross-reactive spike antibodies elicited by SARS-CoV-2 mRNA vaccination. Cell Rep. 2024;43(11):114922.

- 329. Pierre CN, Adams LE, Higgins JS, Anasti K, Goodman D, Mielke D, et al. Non-neutralizing SARS-CoV-2 N-terminal domain antibodies protect mice against severe disease using Fcmediated effector functions. PLOS Pathog. 2024;20(6):e1011569.
- 330. Izadi A, Hailu A, Godzwon M, Wrighton S, Olofsson B, Schmidt T, et al. Subclass-switched anti-spike IgG3 oligoclonal cocktails strongly enhance Fc-mediated opsonization. Proc Natl Acad Sci. 2023;120(15):e2217590120.
- 331. Graham FL, Smiley J, Russell WC, Nairn R. Characteristics of a Human Cell Line Transformed by DNA from Human Adenovirus Type 5. J Gen Virol. 1977;36(1):59–72.
- 332. Chin CL, Goh JB, Srinivasan H, Liu KI, Gowher A, Shanmugam R, et al. A human expression system based on HEK293 for the stable production of recombinant erythropoietin. Sci Rep. 2019;9(1):16768.
- 333. Baldi L, Hacker DL, Adam M, Wurm FM. Recombinant protein production by large-scale transient gene expression in mammalian cells: state of the art and future perspectives. Biotechnol Lett. 2007;29(5):677–84.
- 334. Clark DP, Pazdernik NJ, McGehee MR. Molecular Biology. 2019;(Plasmid 92 2017):199-239.
- 335. Guye P, Li Y, Wroblewska L, Duportet X, Weiss R. Rapid, modular and reliable construction of complex mammalian gene circuits. Nucleic Acids Res. 2013;41(16):e156–e156.
- 336. Tsuchiya S, Yamabe M, Yamaguchi Y, Kobayashi Y, Konno T, Tada K. Establishment and characterization of a human acute monocytic leukemia cell line (THP-1). Int J Cancer. 1980;26(2):171–6.
- 337. Ackerman ME, Moldt B, Wyatt RT, Dugast AS, McAndrew E, Tsoukas S, et al. A robust, highthroughput assay to determine the phagocytic activity of clinical antibody samples. J Immunol Methods. 2011;366(1–2):8–19.
- 338. Butler AL, Fallon JK, Alter G. A Sample-Sparing Multiplexed ADCP Assay. Front Immunol. 2019;10:1851.
- Neergaard T de, Sundwall M, Wrighton S, Nordenfelt P. High-Sensitivity Assessment of Phagocytosis by Persistent Association-Based Normalization. J Immunol. 2021;206(1):214–24.
- 340. Neergaard T de, Nordenfelt P. Bacterial Pathogenesis, Methods and Protocols. Methods Mol Biol. 2023;2674:221–34.
- 341. Jones S, Moreland NJ, Zancolli M, Raynes J, Loh JMS, Smeesters PR, et al. Development of an opsonophagocytic killing assay for group a streptococcus. Vaccine. 2018;36(26):3756–63.
- 342. Wittenberg NJ, Wootla B, Jordan LR, Denic A, Warrington AE, Oh SH, et al. Applications of SPR for the characterization of molecules important in the pathogenesis and treatment of neurodegenerative diseases. Expert Rev Neurother. 2014;14(4):449–63.
- 343. Dong W, Mead H, Tian L, Park JG, Garcia JI, Jaramillo S, et al. The K18-Human ACE2 Transgenic Mouse Model Recapitulates Non-severe and Severe COVID-19 in Response to an Infectious Dose of the SARS-CoV-2 Virus. J Virol. 2021;96(1):e00964-21.
- 344. Handley A, Ryan KA, Davies ER, Bewley KR, Carnell OT, Challis A, et al. SARS-CoV-2 Disease Severity in the Golden Syrian Hamster Model of Infection Is Related to the Volume of Intranasal Inoculum. Viruses. 2023;15(3):748.
- 345. Casey E, Bournazos S, Mo G, Mondello P, Tan KS, Ravetch JV, et al. A new mouse expressing human Fcγ receptors to better predict therapeutic efficacy of human anti-cancer antibodies. Leukemia. 2018;32(2):547–9.
- 346. Kumar AHS. Effectively communicating the 5R's (replace, reduce, refine, reuse, and rehabilitate) of research ethics, biomedical waste, personalized medicines and the rest. J Nat Sci, Biol, Med. 2012;3(1):1–2.

- 347. Izadi A, Godzwon M, Strand AS, Schmidt T, Georén SK, Drosten C, et al. Protective Nonneutralizing anti–N-terminal Domain mAb Maintains Fc-mediated Function against SARS-COV-2 Variants up to BA.2.86-JN.1 with Superfluous In Vivo Protection against JN.1 Due to Attenuated Virulence. J Immunol. 2024;213(5):678–89.
- 348. Izadi A, Karami Y, Bratanis E, Wrighton S, Khakzad H, Nyblom M, et al. The hingeengineered IgG1-IgG3 hybrid subclass IgGh47 potently enhances Fc-mediated function of antistreptococcal and SARS-CoV-2 antibodies. Nat Commun. 2024;15(1):3600.
- 349. Kaunitz JD. Development of Monoclonal Antibodies: The Dawn of mAb Rule. Dig Dis Sci. 2017;62(4):831–2.
- 350. Abd YE, Tabll A, Smolic R, Smolic M. Mini-review: The market growth of diagnostic and therapeutic monoclonal antibodies SARS CoV-2 as an example. Hum Antibodies. 2022;30(1):15–24.
- 351. Feng S, Phillips DJ, White T, Sayal H, Aley PK, Bibi S, et al. Correlates of protection against symptomatic and asymptomatic SARS-CoV-2 infection. Nat Med. 2021;27(11):2032–40.
- 352. Temming AR, Bentlage AEH, Taeye SW de, Bosman GP, Lissenberg-Thunnissen SN, Derksen NIL, et al. Cross-reactivity of mouse IgG subclasses to human Fc gamma receptors: Antibody deglycosylation only eliminates IgG2b binding. Mol Immunol. 2020;127:79–86.
- 353. Lapthorne S, McWade R, Scanlon N, Bhaoill SN, Page A, O'Donnell C, et al. Rising clindamycin resistance in group A Streptococcus in an Irish healthcare institution. Access Microbiol. 2024;6(6):000772.v4.
- 354. White BP, Siegrist EA. Increasing clindamycin resistance in group A streptococcus. Lancet Infect Dis. 2021;21(9):1208–9.

APPENDIX (PAPERS I-IV)